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D E &
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ETRHRE

GROUP RESULTS

Revenue of the Group for the current year of 2022/23 was
HK$365,761,000 (2021/22: HK$390,446,000) and the overall result was
a loss of HK$23,249,000 (2021/22: a profit of HK$30,274,000).

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

Although our revenue for the year under review was 6% less, the
operating result from our core garment business had improved to a
profit of HK$18,738,000 as compared to a loss of HK$13,064,000 in
the previous year. This was the result of cutting the losses incurred by
Lavender, our Bangladesh factory, and the reduction of our overhead
expenses.

However, our overall profit showed a loss of HK$23,249,000 which was
caused by the losses of our investment in Wuxi. This was announced in
our earlier profit warning and explained in the Management Discussion
and Analysis.

OUTLOOK

Due to economic and political uncertainties, consumer sentiment
especially in wearing apparel in all our major markets in Europe and
the U. S are not at its best. The management is of the opinion that the
coming year for our core garment business would remain challenging.
However we expect the losses from our Wuxi investment should be
significantly reduced which should bring improvement to our overall
results.

APPRECIATION

| would like, on behalf of the Board and shareholders, to express our
appreciation to the Company’s employees for their hard work and loyal
service to the Company during the past year.

By Order of the Board

Chan Wing Fui, Peter
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 June 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

— Y
EEENWED N
KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS = . ... . EERIME
2023 2022
Y —EF +/-
HK$’000 HK$’000 Change
W T o T or L
Performance Indicators KB
Revenue YA 365,761 390,446 -6%
Gross profit ESYil! 71,697 60,627 18%
Gross profit margin B R 20% 16% +4 pp
Profit/(loss) from operations AR (58) 18,738 (13,064) -243%
Operating margin K048 i ) R 5% -3% +8 pp
(Loss)/profit attributable to equity A 7 BERERE A N REAG
shareholders of the Company (Fs48) s ) (23,249) 30,665 -176%
Net profit margin i 1) % -6% +8% -14 pp
Earnings before interest, taxes, AR ~ BLIE - 785 &
depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) 14 51 1 19 22 I TEBITDA (15,368) 39,703 -139%
EBITDA margin EBITDAXR -4% +10% -14 pp
Return on total assets A R Il R -1.9% +2.4% -4.3 pp
Financial Health Indicators L5 N R
Cash and bank balances and bank B4 TR AT & ik B RATAE 3K
deposits 306,173 235,472 30%
Net current assets B B R 317,303 305,396 4%
Total assets WA A 1,193,421 1,297,318 -8%
Total liabilities A R 85,236 127,324 -33%
Shareholders’ equity J% HROHE 25 1,108,185 1,169,994 -5%
Return on shareholders’ equity Ji¥ ROHE £ 7] g o -21% +2.6% -4.7 pp
Current ratio (times) WER (fF) 6.7 4.3 56%
Shareholders’ Return Indicators JBE 3 o ¢ i
(Loss)/earnings per share — basic B (B8 /B — A ($0.11) $0.15 -173%
Dividend per share A 1B L $0.02 $0.02 0%
Dividend payout RS R N/A 13% N/A
Cash Flow and Capital Expenditure B4 i # K& % 4 3% i}
Cash generated from/(used in) BEEHIG () e
operations 71,165 (18,554) -484%
Capital expenditure — other assets EAR T - HAE 6,679 6,419 4%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWED

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 March 2023 was
HK$365,761,000 a decrease of 6% as compared with HK$390,446,000
of the year before. The operation profit for the year was HK$18,738,000
a significant improvement from the loss of HK$13,064,000 from the
previous year. However the losses of our Wuxi investment negatively
affected our overall performance to a loss of HK$23,249,000 (2021/22: a
profit of HK$30,274,000).

GARMENT BUSINESS

Yangtzekiang Garment Limited and Hong Kong Knitters Limited
are the two names that we use to operate our garment business.
We manufacture a wide variety of products that include men’s and
ladies’ shirts, trousers, shorts, polo shirts, T-shirts, jackets and knitted
outerwear, etc. Hong Kong is our Group’s headquarters that handles
our core garment businesses including manufacturing, trading and
sourcing. In addition to our fully owned factory in China (Panyu), we are
also working in partnership with many factories in Myanmar, Bangladesh,
Vietnam, Indonesia and Cambodia serving the needs of our customers
worldwide. Besides Panyu where we have factory, we also have office
in Hangzhou China. This office not only provides supports to our own
factory, but also monitors and collaborates with our subcontractors and
business partners around the area.

Although the Covid-19 pandemic has subsided, the other economic
and political instabilities like rising interest rates, soaring inflation rates,
increasing logistic costs, high energy prices, the US-China trade conflicts
as well as the Russia-Ukraine conflict continue to make our business
challenging. Our sales teams would continue to expand our client
bases and to explore into more manufacturing sources and products
development. Hopefully by doing so we could maintain our garment
business with a profitable margin.

Our China factory is operating under the name of Exquisite Knitters
(Guangzhou) Limited. Though a profit was being recorded for the year
under review, profit at a lesser extent is expected in the year to come.
We expect business orders will continue to decrease in the coming
year as business from the U.S. and other western countries are moving
manufacturing from China to other countries in Asia.

BEXH
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWED

OTHER BUSINESS

Wuxi No. 1 Cotton Investment Co., Ltd. in which we have a 49%
shareholding is a joint venture that owns several textiles related
companies in Wuxi, China (“Wuxi Group”). The core business of the
Wuxi Group is the production of medium range to high end yarns. The
Group ended the financial year 2022/23 with a substantial loss caused
by lower yarn selling prices, our cotton inventory bought at high price
level elevating our material costs, increase in operating and financial costs
and last but not least the market condition adversely affected by the
Russia-Ukraine conflict, U.S. and EU sanctions. All these negative factors
attributed to the poor results. In the year to come, the management
expected export market to remain weak while domestic demand would
gradually recover and yarn prices should improve. The management
expect the next financial year to improve over the huge losses this year.

A profit warning of our company has been announced earlier stated that
our overall losses this year was caused by the share of losses of our joint
ventures in Wuxi. Such share of losses of joint ventures has no effect on
the Group’s cash flow.

During the year under review, the Group’s operations continued to be
mainly financed by the internal resources.

As at 31 March 2023, the aggregated cash and cash equivalents and
bank deposits of the Group were approximately HK$306,173,000 (2022:
HK$235,472,000). As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the Group did not
have any short term and long term borrowings.

The Group adopts a prudent policy to hedge the fluctuation of foreign
exchange rates. As most of the Group’s sales, purchases, cash and
bank balances are denominated in Hong Kong dollars, United States
dollars, Euros, Pounds Sterling or Renminbi, the Group may enter into
forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge its committed future sales
denominated in the above foreign currencies against the exchange
rate fluctuation when the exposure is significant. As at 31 March 2023,
the Group has forward foreign exchange contracts hedging forecast
transactions with net fair value of HK$341,000 (liabilities) (2022:
HK$534,000 (assets)), recognised as derivative financial instruments.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWED

LAW AND REGULATIONS

Law and regulations in relation to workplace quality, product safety and
environmental performance may have a material effect on our Group’s
principal activities.

Workplace Quality

The Group believes that continued business success relies on the
full contribution and support of our employees. We are dedicated
to promoting equal opportunities for all of our employees in different
areas, including recruitment, compensation and benefits, training, staff
promotion, transfer, and dismissal. All employees are assessed based on
their ability, performance and contribution, irrespective of their nationality,
race, religion, gender, age or family status.

The Group is committed to the health, safety and welfare of our
employees. We pledge full compliance in all occupational health and
safety legislations and we have implemented an effective and safe
working environment for our employees.

The Group complied with labour or other relevant legislations. We did not
identify any material non-compliance or breach of legislation related to
workplace quality.

Product Safety

The Group places the highest importance on the welfare of its customers
globally, as well as on its broader societal and environmental impact. The
quality and safety of our products is a vital part of this.

All products are safe and fully adhere to international environmental and
safety standards. We did not identify any material non-compliance or
breach of legislation related to product safety.

Environmental Performance

The Group is committed to protecting and sustaining the environment
through reduced consumption of electrical power.

We are committed to upholding high environmental standards to fulfill
relevant requirements under applicable laws or ordinances during the
manufacturing and material disposal processes.

We did not identify any material non-compliance or breach of
relevant standards, rules and regulations on air and greenhouse gas
emission, discharges into water and land, generation of hazardous or
non-hazardous water, etc.

SOCIAL PERFORMANCE

The Group has long been committed to being a responsible corporate
citizen and actively supports various charitable organisations and causes.
We encourage staff to join our “YGM Volunteer Team” and participate
in various charitable activities to help people in need, demonstrating its
corporate social responsibility and promoting the caring culture in the
society.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWED

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
REPORT

An environmental, social and governance report will be published on
the website of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and the
Company’s website at the same time as the publication of the annual
report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Risks and uncertainties can affect the Group’s businesses, financial
conditions, operational results or growth prospects leading to a
divergence from expected or historical results. Key risk factors and
uncertainties affecting the Group are outlined below. In dealing with
these risk factors and uncertainties, the Group remains in touch with
our stakeholders with the aim of understanding and addressing their
concerns.

These factors are not exhaustive or comprehensive, and there may be
other risks in addition to those shown below which are not known to the
Group or which may not be material now but could become material in
the future.

Global Economy and Macro-economic Conditions

The principal business activities of the Group is the manufacture and sale
of garments and textiles to the customers in Europe, North America and
Mainland China. The industries in which the Group operates are affected
by the economic conditions, consumer spending, contagious disease
outbreaks and currency environment in these regions. Any combination
of these factors or continuing adverse economic conditions in these
regions may adversely affect the Group’s financial position, potential
income, asset value and liabilities.

The COVID-19 outbreak in 2020 has upended economies around
the world. The Group has taken a proactive approach to monitoring
changes in global economy and macro-economic conditions. Adequate
risk mitigation measures are in place and are constantly reviewed for
enhancement.

Currency Markets

The Group operates on a global basis and earns revenues, incurs costs
and make investments in a number of currencies. The Group’s financial
results are reported in Hong Kong dollars. The majority of reported
revenues are earned in non-Hong Kong currencies. Therefore the Hong
Kong dollar value of reported revenues, profits and cash flows may be
reduced as a result of unfavourable currency exchange rate movements.

The Group adopts a prudent policy to hedge the fluctuation of foreign
exchange rates. The details of the policy are set out in the paragraph of
“Liquidity and Financial Position”.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWED

Impact of Local, National and International Regulations

Local business risks specific to individual countries and cities where the
Group operates could have a material impact on its financing conditions,
operating results and growth prospects.

The Group is, and may increasingly become, exposed to different and
changing political, social, legal, tax, regulatory and listing requirements
at the local, national and international level. New policies or measures
by governments, whether fiscal, tax or regulatory, may pose a risk to the
returns delivered by the Group’s business and may delay or prevent the
commercial operation of an individual business, with a resulting loss in
revenue and profit.

The Group has taken a proactive approach to monitoring changes in
government policies and legislation. Adequate risk mitigation measures
are in place and are constantly reviewed for enhancement.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2023, none of the assets of the Group was pledged.

EMPLOYMENT AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2023, the Group, including its subsidiaries but excluding
its joint ventures, employed approximately 369 employees. Remuneration
packages are determined by reference to employees’ performance and
the prevailing salary levels in the market. In addition, the Group provides
year end double pay, provident fund scheme, medical insurance and
training to staff.

RELATIONSHIP WITH SUPPLIERS AND
SUBCONTRACTORS

Fair and Open Competition

The Group promotes fair and open competition that aims to develop
long-term relationships with suppliers and subcontractors based on
mutual trust.

Public Interest and Accountability

The procurement from suppliers or services providers is conducted in a
manner consistent with the highest ethical standards. This helps assure
high quality products at all times to gain the confidence of customers,
suppliers and the public.

Procurement Procedures

The subcontracting and the purchase of goods are based solely on need,
quality and price. This ensures compliance with procurement policies and
fosters positive and open competition.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWED

RELATIONSHIP WITH CUSTOMERS

Customer Services

The Group seeks to provide efficient and courteous customer service
to maintain customer satisfaction and co-operation. Customers have
access to information about the operation and development of the Group
through annual reports. The Group shall not make any misrepresentation,
exaggeration or overstatement.

Pricing Policies

The Group believes in the economic system of the free market, in which
price is determined by supply and demand. The Group also seeks to
provide customers with the highest quality products at fair prices which
allow the Group a reasonable profit in relation to the value provided.

IMPORTANT EVENT AFTER THE END OF THE
REPORTING PERIOD

There is no other important event affecting the Group which has occurred
since the end of the reporting period.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHRES

The directors submit herewith their annual report together with the
audited financial statements of Yangtzekiang Garment Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 31
March 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Group are the manufacture and sale of
garments and textiles, provision of processing services and rental of
properties. Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required
by schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance, including an indication of
likely future developments in the Group’s business and a discussion of
the principal risks and uncertainties facing the group, can be found in
the Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and Analysis set
out on page 3 and pages 4 to 10 of the Annual Report respectively. This
discussion forms part of this directors’ report.

The analysis of the principal activities and geographical locations of the
operations of the Group during the financial year are set out in note 10 to
the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital during the year
are set out in Note 26(c) to the financial statements.

DIVIDENDS

The Board resolved to recommend the payment of a final dividend of
HK2 cents (2022: HK2 cents) per ordinary share in respect of the year
ended 31 March 2023 at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company to be held on 22 September 2023. The aggregate final
dividend amounting to HK$4,135,000 (2022: HK$4,135,000), if approved
by the shareholders, is expected to be paid on or around 16 October
2023.

DISTRIBUTABILITY OF RESERVES

At 31 March 2023, the aggregate amount of reserves available for
distribution to equity shareholders of the Company, as calculated under
the provisions of section Part 6 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
was HK$261,208,000 (2022: HK$286,812,000). After the end of the
reporting period, the directors recommended the payment of a final
dividend of HK2 cents (2022: HK2 cents) in respect of the year ended 31
March 2023 (Note 26(b)).

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Charitable donations made by the Group during the year amounted to
HK$10,000 (2022: HK$11,000).

HEREFRHEERERIIEKARAA (AL
Al KHEWE AR (T4REH]) > BE-F =
FEZHA=FT—HILFEEZFRLEELRA -

A AR 2 SRR R R R AR K B A
o BRI TR A B o RIEF LA
el M LB BT B AE > A B % 55 3605 2 — 20 B
B oy B (G436 A 46 M 6 B R AR T RE B J 2 45 5
&ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%@@fﬁﬁﬁi%)ﬂ[‘ﬁ&ﬁﬁﬁﬁiz
ol am ) AT AR AR AE O R Ol k4R
iﬁﬂoﬁ TR T w B AT B o G
WA T ol 2 — R

A AR AR W B B 2 R SE I E TS AR
% 43 BT sk A ik B k10 -

ARFER ZFZSFEA S T BT
J R AR IR H&ﬁ/\@ti.uﬁdfﬁ%‘*ék
BEORCEHE AR EFEEZRBKRE
B B A BE2UE A (= AR 29l o A A

AL HEIR B R WAL > FHFTAUAE /54,135,000
JC(TE T AR 4135000#%75 2 A

R B TS N B BURIE H T
Wl A 2y Uk Gl

MROFECEZFEZHA=Z—H REEBAAK
BIEEEF A » AN B al BE o IR T A4S 48w I FE
OB G HE AL %E /261,208,000 00 (—&F —
286,812,000 70) - iNASH HE >
HERBHE_Z_=F=H=1+—HIFEX
)R 5L R B B2 Il (U T AR 29I
(B 3E26(b)) -

AREHFENZ ZEEB/H 10,0000 (—F
4 1 11,000 70) ©

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED £{L® &4 B4
ANNUAL REPORT 2023 £ 1

11



12

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEXEHES

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the Group’s sales and purchases
attributable to the major customers and suppliers respectively during the
financial year is as follows:

LEREP RO

T AR B B4R TR R B E R A A R A
A L RIEE TR

Percentage of the Group’s total

A A% 45 1 48 8
2023 2022
e S Ez
Sales Purchases Sales Purchases
a8 R IE & PRI
The largest customer BREF 15% 18%
Five largest customers in
aggregate HHEREF &R 43% 53%
The largest supplier o K L R 12% 9%
Five largest suppliers in
aggregate EEWNCY R 37% 29%

At no time during the year have the directors, their associates or any
shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of the directors
owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any interest in
these major customers and suppliers.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
report are:

Executive Directors
Chan Wing Fui, Peter
Chan Wing Kee

Chan Wing To

Chan Suk Man

Chan Wing Sun, Samuel
Chan Suk Ling, Shirley

Independent Non-executive Directors
Choi Ting Ki

So Stephen Hon Cheung

Li Guangming

A full list of the names of the directors of the Group’s subsidiaries can be
found in the Company’s website at www.ygm.com.hk under “Investor
Relation/Corporate Governance”.

Pursuant to Article 105 of the Articles of Association, at each annual
general meeting (“AGM”), one-third of the Directors for the time being
shall retire from office by rotation. Mr. Chan Wing Fui, Peter, Mr. Chan
Wing To and Mr.Choi Ting Ki will retire from the Board by rotation and,
being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the AGM.

The Company confirms that it has received from each of the independent
non-executive directors an annual confirmation of their respective
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“the
Stock Exchange”) (“the Listing Rules”) and the Company considers the
independent non-executive directors to be independent.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEERESE

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the directors who offered themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company has entered into
any service contract with the Company or any other member of the
Group which is not determinable by the relevant employer within one
year without payment of compensation, other than normal statutory
obligations.

INDEMNITY OF DIRECTORS

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in section 469 of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance) for the benefit of the directors of the
Company is currently in force and was in force throughout this year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Apart from the connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules as set out amongst other related party transactions in note 29
to the financial statements, no transaction, arrangement or contract of
significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party,
and in which a director of the Company had a material interest, subsisted
at the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

i

EEHRES

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

As at 31 March 20283, the interests and short positions of the
directors and their associates in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the “SFO”)) which were required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests and short positions which they are taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“the Model
Code”) and which were required to be entered in the register kept
by the Company under section 352 of the SFO were as follows:

W By e A

RoF=F=A=+—H > AXFAKH#E
5 R 2 B BN LR AR R BT T
N (FE S 2 RO R B (T8 25 1 ) 56
XVER 2 W) 2 Wty ~ A8 B i 1y [ {5 7
B A AR B IR 1 SEXVIER S5 7 K80~ b
T8 ) 3 S AT R 0 5 oy AR e T A ([ AR e
ST HI) 2 B & AR o m) g 2 T 2 HE
i SR (BLAE 18 45 AR % 5 AE O 0k 1 A
SE PR SR AR 2 fE a SOk > IfZH
O R MR 8 R R ) SR 3521 A B 2 B R
2t KR

Number of ordinary shares

W BB oy ¥ H

Personal Family Corporate Other

interests interests interests interests
Name of director WA (PN E- 9 5 HE 22 2 v B 2% Bl B 22
Chan Wing Fui, Peter o 7k 2 486,102 11,771,955 = ()
Chan Wing Kee It 7k AE 8,589,624 319,691 - (i) & (i)
Chan Wing To ok 7K JE 10,073,389 - - (i) & (ii)
Chan Wing Sun, Samuel PR Kk £ 8,707,734 250,000 3,604,415 ()
Chan Suk Man B B R L 3,438,466 = = (i) & (i)
Chan Suk Ling, Shirley S T34 6,456,042 524,000 = 0]
Choi Ting Ki BT B - - - -
So Stephen Hon Cheung JRE - - - -
Li Guangming 2t W - - - -
Notes: Mt &t

[0] 48,032,240 shares of the Company were held by Chan Family Investment
Corporation Ltd. (which is owned by Messrs Chan Wing Kee, Chan
Wing To, Chan Wing Sun, Samuel, Madam Chan Suk Man and Madam
Chan Suk Ling, Shirley and other members of the Chan Family) and its
subsidiaries.

(i) 2,388,500 shares of the Company were held by Super Team International
Limited which is indirectly owned by Messrs Chan Wing Kee, Chan Wing
To, Madam Chan Suk Man and other members of the Chan Family.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, none of the
directors or their associates, had, under Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO, nor were they taken to or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO, any interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) or any
interests which are required to be entered into the register kept by
the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or any interests
which are required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHRES

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Details of the equity-linked agreement subsisting at the end of the year
are set out in the section “Share option scheme” below.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “share option
scheme”) at the Annual General Meeting held on 18 September 2019, for
the purpose of providing incentives or rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the growth of the Group’s operations.

According to the share option scheme, the directors of the Company
are authorised, at their discretion, to invite any director (including
executive, non-executive or independent non-executive directors),
employee, customer, supplier, any person or entity that provides
research, development, other technological support to the Group, adviser
or consultant of the Group and the shareholder to take up options to
subscribe for shares of the Company. An offer of the grant of share
options may be accepted within 21 days from the date of offer. A nominal
consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the grant of an
option.

The share option scheme became effective on 18 September 2019 and
remains in force for 10 years from that date. The subscription price of
the options shall be a price determined by the directors, but shall not be
less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the
daily quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of the offer
of grant, which must be a business day; (i) the average of the closing
price of the shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets of the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the date of
the offer of grant; and (i) the nominal value of the shares. An option may
be exercised in accordance with the terms of the share option scheme at
any time during a period to be determined and notified by the directors to
each grantee, which period may commence on a day after the date upon
which the offer for the grant of options is made but shall end in any event
not later than 10 years from the date of grant of the option subject to the
provisions for early termination thereof. Unless otherwise determined by
the directors of the Company, there is no minimum period required for
the holding of an option before it can be exercised.

The total number of shares available for issue under the share option
scheme as at 31 March 2023 was 20,674,768 shares which represented
10% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of
adoption of the share option scheme. In respect of the maximum
entitlement of each participant under the share option scheme, the total
number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options
granted to each participant in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1%
of the issued share capital of the Company for the time being.

During the year, no share options were granted, exercised or cancelled
or lapsed under the share option scheme and no share options were
outstanding as at 31 March 2023.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEXEHES

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS

Other than the interests disclosed in the section “Directors’ Interests
In Shares” in respect of the directors, the following shareholder had
interests in 5% or more of the ordinary share of the Company in issue
as at 31 March 2023, according to the register of interests and short
positions required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the
SFO:

4 BB A B T b A - B A

MEFZ=F=A=+t—H BRAELE[ESF
Z JB A HE A | B B S 2 HE 4R Ah o AR 4B B IR R 1
5336 ML E A7 B 2 Mk 1 HE 4 e iR oA 8 ad T
o R AR T BB AT I BB 5% E A
it < R FC BRI

Number of Percentage of

ordinary ordinary shares

shares held in issue

Capacity BAEHBBE  HOBESEER

Name of shareholder JB 3R 44 W HE 2 PR H By ¥ H Bedr 4 e

Guangzhou Textiles Industry & M #i%k L& &%  Beneficial owner 17,806,000 8.61%
Trade Holdings Ltd. £ A BRA T HmEa A (note)
(Kt )

Note: The shares were directly held by Yue Xiu Textiles Co., Ltd., a 100% owned
subsidiary of Guangzhou Textiles Industry & Trade Holdings Ltd.

Save as disclosed above, no other interests required to be recorded in
the register kept under section 336 of the SFO have been notified to the
Company.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules are set out amongst related party transactions in note 29(a) to the
financial statements.

In the opinion of the independent non-executive directors, the connected
transactions were entered into by the Group:

()  inthe ordinary and usual course of its business;

(i)  conducted either on normal commercial terms (which expression will
be applied by reference to transactions of a similar nature and to be
made by similar entities) or where there is no available comparison,
on terms that are fair and reasonable so far as the independent
shareholders of the Company are concerned;

(i) in accordance with the terms of the agreements governing the
transactions; and

(iv) in accordance with the pricing policies of the Group, where
applicable.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHRES

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing
connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) Assurance Engagements Other
Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information and with
reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised) Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor
has issued his unqualified letter containing his findings and conclusions
in respect of the continuing connected transactions disclosed by the
Group in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. A copy of
the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock
Exchange.

There are no other connected transactions which are required to be
disclosed in this report in accordance with the requirements of Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

Particulars of the retirement schemes of the Group are set out in note 23
to the financial statements.

FIVE-YEAR SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 128 of the annual report.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the directors, as at the date of this report, there
is sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the Company’s issued
shares as required under the Listing Rules.

AUDITORS

KPMG retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A
resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG as auditors of the Company
is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

By Order of the Board

Chan Wing Fui, Peter
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 June 2023
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXERRSE

The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company is dedicated to
uphold a high corporate governance standard. The Board firmly believes
that the principles of transparency, accountability and independence are
essential for protecting the interests of the Company and maximizing
shareholder value.

The Company has complied with the code provisions in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “Code”) set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”) throughout the
financial year ended 31 March 2023.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is committed to act in good faith in the best interests of the
Company and its shareholders. The Board sets the Group’s overall
objectives and strategic directions, monitors and evaluates its operating
and financial performance. It also decides on matters relating to annual
and interim results, audited financial statements, notifiable transactions,
appointment and re-appointment of directors, major acquisitions and
disposals, material contracts, risk management, major financings and
borrowings, accounting and dividends policies. The Board delegates
day-to-day operations of the Company to the management of the Group
and also instructs the management to implement the Board’s decisions
and resolutions. In addition, the Board has also delegated various
responsibilities to the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the
Nomination Committee and the Risk Management Committee.

As at 31 March 2023, the Board comprises six executive directors and
three independent non-executive directors. Biographical details of the
directors as well as relationships between them are set out in the section
of “Directors and Management”.

The Company recognises that Board independence is important to
good corporate governance and Board effectiveness. The Company has
established mechanisms to ensure independent views and inputs are
available to the Board, and such mechanisms are viewed annually by the
Board, so as to ensure their effectiveness. Under the mechanisms:

— Three out of nine directors are independent non-executive
directors. The Company has met the requirements under Rule
3.10 of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least
three independent non-executive directors, one of whom has
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise. The Company has also complied
with Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules which requires the number of
independent non-executive directors representing at least one-third
of the board.

—  Each independent non-executive director has given the Company
an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules. The Nomination Committee has assessed the
independence of the independent non-executive directors. The
Board considers all the independent non-executive directors to be
independent.

— A director (including independent non-executive director) who has
a material interest in a contract or arrangement shall not vote or be
counted in the quorum on any Board resolution approving the same.

ARFAEFG ((EFF)) WSR2 4
EER - EHERE BV MEMEL =1
iR S R R AR 2 ] 22 A B B O R 2 A M
BERHEE -

MNEE FE=ZHF£=ZA=+—H1tMHBEEE
W AAFCHRAEFEBH G H TARAF
(T =2 fir 1) &5 BRI (T B ik A ) K14
STk 2z (A SF R (TF I ) 288 A 09 ~r Bl g
HLE -

G EO DLk A A RO R R AR T e
LW EEHRNR - EFGAAEETLERAE
Be S W Ty 1)~ B D Al L T B R B
MEFEERRZEEOFEEE P A
WEZMB®E  ATAMZLS  EHEERIE
R AL~ ERBUE LHE  EREA - EE
B ERMB R GRk RS BUR - #
G R URA G W L A WA R W
W R EHBRTEF T ZRF L RE - I
Sh > BHEGAMETHEETHESLLZEG - #H
MZEg RyZEGAAMEMES -

M_FEZ=ZF=EH=2+—H ERFgEEASL
HOEFL =B FPITEF - ERMAER
BERIRER T ERE REAR | -

AN R RAE SRR R EERRE
HIFMEE R EE - HHD O S LEH o LR
A BT AR S 1) ) S LR e R SRR A T
BT MEF R E R > LA
B e TERZ M T

- NEBEFTE-LZLEBIERTESR - &
SR A B W BB 1000 E Rk > BT
BV BIENTEST  ETAE LR
FEE N EEERE > A EEEN e
B I SRR - RAFJFC B L
TR A0AKRZ HE » EHERED =4
2B EBBSERATES -

— AL BT e R B.13
WL 4 0 A 2% ) AR LR L
P45 BB R B AT
TR E TV T BA N
ZEY BT

- REMREHEHHEAERERNESR (QHF
B FFRITER) AR EZFEHIE Y
R #E &5 PRk R B E Et AL E A -

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED £{LR &4 B4
ANNUAL REPORT 2023 £ 1



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXERRSE

— In assessing suitability of the Director candidates, the Board
will consider their profiles, including their character, experience,
qualifications and time commitment; the Board will also consider
to the Board’s overall composition and skill matrix as well as the
Company’s diversity policy.

—  The Board will review each Director’'s time commitment to the
Company’s business annually.

— The Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee are authorised by the Board to obtain
outside legal or other independent professional advice as necessary
to assist the respective committee.

—  The quality of deliberations at meetings of the Board are reviewed
during the annual evaluation of the Board’s performance.

The Board, Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination
Committee and Risk Management Committee had held 4,4, 1, 1 and 1
meetings respectively in the year under review.

The attendance at the Board and respective Board committees’ meetings
held in the year ended 31 March 2023 are as follows:
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Risk Annual
Audit Remuneration  Nomination Management General
Board  Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee =~ Committee Meeting
Jo A 2
#HE BBZRHA  EMZHE  RAZHE ZHE BRRHERG
Executive directors Wi

Chan Wing Fui, Peter Wik 4/4 N/A il 11 1/1 1/1
Chan Wing Kee Bk B 4/4 N/A 11 11 11 1/1
Chan Wing To Bk 4/4 N/A N/A N/A N/A 11
Chan Suk Man BIBROC 4/4 N/A N/A N/A i 11
Chan Wing Sun, Samuel Bk % 4/4 N/A N/A N/A N/A 11
Chan Suk Ling, Shirley SRR 4/4 N/A N/A N/A N/A 1/1

Independent non-executive Bor Pty o g

directors

Choi Ting Ki 23188 4/4 4/4 11 11 N/A 11
So Stephen Hon Cheung BEE 4/4 4/4 171 11 N/A 1
Li Guangming 5 4/4 4/4 il 1 N/A 1/1

The 2022 Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) was held on 23 September
2022. The directors’ attendance to the general meeting is listed out
as above. All the directors, including the Chairman of the Board, the
Chairman of each of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee,
Nomination Committee and Risk Management Committee and the
external auditor of the Company, attended the AGM to answer questions
raised by shareholders. Proceedings of annual general meeting are
reviewed from time to time to ensure that the Company follows good
corporate governance practices. Voting results were posted on the
Company’s and the Stock Exchange’s websites on the day of the AGM.

During the year under review, the Chairman of the Board had a meeting
with the independent non-executive directors without the presence of
executive directors.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE POLICY AND
DUTIES

The Board is committed to ensure that a good corporate governance
framework and practices are established within the Group. The Board is
responsible for performing the duties on corporate governance functions
as required under code provision A.2.1 of the Code which are set out
below:

(1) developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and making recommmendations to the Board;

(2) reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management;

(8) reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(4) developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and directors;
and

(5) reviewing the Company’s compliance with the Code and disclosure
in the Corporate Governance Report.

CHAIRMAN AND MANAGING DIRECTOR

The Chairman of the Board is Mr. Chan Wing Fui, Peter and the
Managing Director of the Company is Madam Chan Suk Man. The roles
of the Chairman of the Board and the Managing Director of the Company
are separated, with a clear division of responsibilities. The Chairman
of the Board is responsible for formulating corporate strategies and
overall business development planning. The Managing Director’s duty
is to oversee the execution of daily business activities. The division of
responsibilities at the Board level is to ensure a balance of power and
authority.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

According to code provision C.1.4 of the Code, all directors should
participate in continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to
the Board remains informed and relevant. The Company should be
responsible for arranging and funding suitable training, placing an
appropriate emphasis on the roles, functions and duties of the directors.
The Company provides tailored induction programme to new director
upon his appointment to equip him with the appropriate understanding
of the business and operations of the Group and to ensure that he is fully
aware of his responsibilities and obligations under the relevant law and
the Listing Rules.

During the year, the Company organized one in-house seminar to update
the Directors on the new amendments to the corporate governance code
and relevant Listing Rules. The Company circulates materials relating to
the legislative and regulatory environment to the directors on a regular
basis for their information. The Company also encourages Directors to
attend relevant seminars, conferences or forums to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills. During the year, all directors participated in
continuous professional development in compliance with code provision
C.1.4 of the Code.
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DIRECTORS’ INSURANCE

During the year, the Company has arranged for the renewal of an
insurance policy on directors’ and officers’ liability to ensure our directors
and senior management are protected from any liability arising from the
performance of their duties.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Risk Management
Committee, each with mandate to oversee particular aspects of the
affairs of the Company. Each of these four Board committees is set up
with written terms of reference. The Board committees are provided
with sufficient resources to discharge their duties and are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstance at the
expenses of the Company.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an Audit Committee with written terms of
reference. As at 31 March 2023, the Audit Committee comprises three
independent non-executive directors, namely Mr. Choi Ting Ki, Mr. So
Stephen Hon Cheung and Mr. Li Guangming. It is chaired by Mr. So
Stephen Hon Cheung. The members’ attendance to the Audit Committee
meeting is listed out on page 19.

The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for monitoring the integrity
of the Company’s financial statements, reviewing the Company’s
internal control system and its execution through the review of the work
undertaken by the internal and external auditors, evaluating financial
information and related disclosure, reviewing connected transactions and
considering the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of
staff of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function, and
their training programmes and budget.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Audit Committee has, inter
alia, reviewed and discussed with management and the external auditor
the interim and annual results with a view to ensuring that the Group’s
financial statements were prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong. The Audit Committee has
met with external auditor twice a year, in the absence of management,
to discuss any issues arising from the audit and any other matters the
auditor may wish to raise. The Audit Committee has also reviewed the
independence and quality of work of KPMG and has recommended to
the Board to re-appoint KPMG as auditor for the year ending 31 March
2024.

During the year, the Board has not taken any view that is different from
that of the Audit Committee nor rejected any recommendation presented
by the Audit Committee.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

As at 31 March 2023, the Remuneration Committee comprises two
executive directors, namely Mr. Chan Wing Fui, Peter and Mr. Chan
Wing Kee, and three independent non-executive directors, namely
Mr. Choi Ting Ki, Mr. So Stephen Hon Cheung and Mr. Li Guangming.
It was chaired by Mr. Li Guangming. The members’ attendance to the
Remuneration Committee meeting is listed out on page 19.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for ensuring formal
and transparent procedures for developing remuneration policies
and in overseeing remuneration packages of the directors. It makes
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual executive directors and senior management. It takes into
consideration factors such as salaries and compensation packages paid
by comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities of the
directors. It would also take into account whether the emoluments offered
are appropriate given the duties and performance of the respective
individuals concerned and whether such emoluments are competitive and
sufficiently attractive to retain such individuals.

Details of the directors’ emoluments are set out in note 6 to the financial
statements.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

As at 31 March 2023, the Nomination Committee comprises two
executive directors, namely Mr. Chan Wing Fui, Peter and Mr. Chan Wing
Kee, and three independent non-executive directors, namely Mr. Choi
Ting Ki, Mr. So Stephen Hon Cheung and Mr. Li Guangming. It is chaired
by Mr. Choi Ting Ki. The members’ attendance to the Nomination
Committee meeting is listed out on page 19.

The roles of the Nomination Committee are to review the structure,
size and composition of the Board, identify individuals suitably qualified
to become members of the Board, and assess the independence of
independent non-executive directors and make recommendations to the
Board on the appointment and re-election of directors and succession
planning for directors, in particular the chairman and the managing
director. The Nomination Committee will consider the suitability of the
candidate on the basis of his professional qualification, skills, experience
and background.

The Nomination Committee has adopted a Board Diversity Policy
(“Policy”) which sets out a policy of considering a number of factors
when deciding on appointments to the Board and the continuation of
those appointments, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and
industry and regional experience.

Measurable objectives have been set to implement the Board Diversity
Policy and selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives as stated in the above. By adopting such criteria, it also
facilitates the Company to develop a pipeline of candidates to the Board
to achieve gender diversity. The Board aims to have at least two director
of opposite gender, and the Company will take opportunities to increase
the ratio of female members over time when selecting and making
recommendations on eligible candidates for Board appointments. The
ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution (considering
factors like skills, knowledge and experience) that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board.

MoEF - =#=ZH=+—H FMZEEQ
3 W 4% AT B A A PR i &8 e AR R TR K A
Sk s UK =AW ERATESR - I ERE
A BRI A KRS A s N 2R E
A AR RS o B E B & a2 BB
RE19H -

B Z B o A R E S BRI AR
ME LB UREEEFNMeHS - &8
TN AT EE LR EREABMEAS M
ERGRHER > Eha% e E s A
ST B B B S BT AL A T BOMCAY R R R
EERRE -ZRERGEETREMENAA
BN LB R R BL B = A E - ARG
M A e T R sl R N e

EE UK S E YRR e A

RAZHA

RoFE=ZF=A=+—H L2 G
W2 VAT E > 4 0 T BR Ak 2 5T AR B B kA
Jerk s IR =AM ERATE SR - B4R EILE
A BRI SRR RO ek s N AR IR
A AR R o R4 T B Ea ek D R e
REE19H -

RAZEGATMAEF G0N AL
o MERHaEERITIEEEREOAL &
BB AT ER BN DA E R &AL
HEHEELUREF OLHR TR LERAL
) AR ER R R T RGN
RGN HIEEM - Hife - BB AT
FRAETEE

RAZEGCRMEFTME ZTBUR (15
W) o ZBURSIHEREZMLEFGMA LE
BZERER > 58— R HKGHFHEHSR
RPER - Al UL RBE R R ERERK
FEHE ~ Rk S AT 36 A0 b [ AL B -

C il 2 fl sk & B AR LT G 2 on L Ok
A Ht R 4% bt — 5 31 2 oAb 6 R 2 ik AR E
BN o BB BR T WIE R B AR AR
PH 8% g et A IRE > LE BRI Z el -
EHGWHBRED WL EEESE > AR
W > ERIEMMER BRI E S FLaRE
RG> BB 3 IR ] 38 0 e A B BY B A o do 6 H
HRENZRERATHEEGRMAZ TR 5
R 3R G e~ Rk K RS ) TR B E

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED £{LR &4 B4
ANNUAL REPORT 2023 £ 1



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXERRSE

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises nine
Directors, two of whom are female, and three of whom are independent
non-executive directors and independent of management, thereby
promoting critical review and control of the management process. The
Board is also characterised by significant diversity, whether considered
in terms of professional background, skills and gender. The Nomination
Committee will monitor the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy
and review the policy annually.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Board, via the Nomination
Committee, conducted an annual review of the implementation and
effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy and is satisfied that the Board
Diversity Policy has been properly implemented and is effective.

Workforce diversity

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had a total workforce of 369 employees
(including senior management), of which 27% (99) are males, and 73%
(270) are females.

While we believe our future employee recruitment should predominantly
be merit-based and do not consider it appropriate to set any target
gender ratio for our workforce, we recognise and embrace the benefits of
having a diverse workforce, and will continue to enhance the diversity of
our workforce, subject to availability of suitable candidates.

Nomination Policy

The Company has adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”)
which aims at setting out the process for the nomination of a candidate
for the Company’s directorship, in order to facilitate the constitution of the
Board with a balance of skills, knowledge, ability, experience and diversity
of perspectives that is appropriate to the requirements of the Company.

Based on the Nomination Policy, the Nomination Committee shall assess,
among other things, the following when considering whether a candidate
is suitably qualified to be appointed as a Director before making
recommendations to the Board:

e  character and integrity;

e  qualifications including professional qualifications, skills, knowledge
and experience and diversity aspects under the Board Diversity
Policy that are relevant to the Company’s business and corporate
strategy;

° requirement for the Board to have independent directors in
accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the candidate would
be considered independent;

e any potential contributions the candidate can bring to the Board in
terms of qualifications, skills, experience, independence and gender
diversity; and

e wilingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge duties
as a member of the Board and/or Board committee(s) of the
Company.
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The entire Board is ultimately responsible for the selection and
appointment or recommendation (as the case may be) of candidates
for the Company’s directorship, and accordingly, shall consider the
recommendations from the Nomination Committee and make a decision.

The nomination procedures to select and recommend candidates for the
Company’s directorship could be summarised as follows:

1. The Nomination Committee should, upon receipt of the proposal
on appointment of new director and the biographical information (or
relevant details) of the candidate, evaluate such candidate based on
the criteria as set out above to determine whether such candidate is
qualified for directorship.

2. If the process yields one or more desirable candidates, the
Nomination Committee should rank them by order of preference
based on the needs of the Company and reference check of each
candidate (where applicable).

3. The Nomination Committee should then recommend to the Board to
appoint the appropriate candidate for directorship, as applicable.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Nomination Committee
performed the following work:

()  reviewed the structure, size, composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) and diversity, and the Board Diversity
Policy of the Board;

(i) assessed the independence of INEDs;

(i) made recommendations to the Board on the appointment and
re-appointment of Director; and

(iv) reviewed the Nomination Policy of the Company.

RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

The Risk Management Committee comprises three executive directors,
namely Mr. Chan Wing Fui, Peter, Mr. Chan Wing Kee and Ms. Chan
Suk Man. It is chaired by Mr. Chan Wing Fui, Peter. The members’
attendance to the Risk Management Committee meeting is listed out on
page 19.

The purpose of the Committee is to oversee the overall design,
implementation and monitoring of the risk management and the internal
control systems of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Group”) and to advise the Board on the Group’s risk-related matters.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has established a Dividend Policy which was adopted by
the Board to set out the guidelines for the Board to determine (i) whether
dividends are to be declared and paid; and (i) the level of the dividend to
be paid to the shareholders. It is the policy to allow the shareholders to
participate in the Company’s profits whilst to retain adequate reserves for
future growth.

The Board shall consider the following factors before declaring or
recommending dividends:

()  financial results;

(i)  cash flow situation;

(i) business conditions and strategies;

(iv) future operations and earnings;

(v) capital requirements and expenditure plans;
(vi) interests of shareholders;

(vii) any restrictions on payment of dividends; and

(viii) any other factors that the Board may consider relevant.

The declaration and payment of dividends shall remain to be determined
at the sole discretion of the Board and subject to the Articles of
Association of the Company and all applicable laws and regulations.

The Board will continually review the Dividend Policy and reserves the
right in its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and/or modify
the Dividend Policy at any time. The Dividend Policy shall in no way
constitute a legally binding commitment by the Company that dividends
will be paid in any particular amount and/or in no way obligate the
Company to declare a dividend at any time or from time to time.
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EMOLUMENTS OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The senior management of the Group comprises 5 individuals. Details of
backgrounds and qualifications of each senior executive are set out in the
section of “Directors and Management”.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the emoluments of the senior
management of the Group fell within the following bands:
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Emoluments 4>
HK$0 to HK$ 1,000,000 0¥ 7t £1,000,0007 7o 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,001 % ot 222,000,000 7T 4
(S

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S
RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of financial
statements of the Group and ensure that the financial statements are
prepared in accordance with all relevant statutory requirements and
applicable accounting standards.

The statement of external auditors of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities of the financial statements is set out in the “Independent
Auditor’s Report” on pages 34 to 42.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the year, total auditors’ remuneration in relation to statutory audit
work of the Group amounted to HK$1,431,000 (2022: HK$1,444,000),
of which a sum of HK$1,400,000 (2022: HK$1,400,000) was paid or
payable to the Group’s principal auditors, KPMG.

The remunerations paid or payable to the Group’s principal auditor,
KPMG and its affiliated firms, for services rendered in statutory audit and
non-audit were HK$1,400,000 (2022: HK$1,400,000) and HK$268,000
(2022: HK$417,000) respectively. The non-audit services principally
comprise tax and internal control review services provided to the Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXERRSE

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a Securities Dealing Code regarding
director’s securities transactions on terms no less exacting than required
standard set out in the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) contained in Appendix 10
of the Listing Rules. All directors have confirmed, upon specific enquiry by
the Company, that they have complied with the required standard set out
in the Model Code and the Securities Dealing Code throughout the year
under review.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board has an overall responsibility for the risk management
framework, and for determining the significant risks it is willing to take in
achieving the Company’s objectives. Audit Committee is delegated with
overseeing the effectiveness of internal control and risk management,
while management is responsible for the design, implementation and
monitoring of such systems. The Risk Management Committee is
responsible for coordinating risk management activities, and to report at
least annually to the Board. However, the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the
risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and only provide reasonable
and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Our approach to manage risks involves identification and assessment of
principal risks (including, among others, material risks relating to ESG)
from the external and internal environments at different organisation
levels. The assessment considers the changes in nature and extent
of significant risks and the Group’s ability to respond to changes in
its business and the external environment. Action plans have been
developed and risk ownership has been assigned for each key
principal risk (including, among others, material risks relating to ESG).
The risk owners coordinate the mitigation measures to ensure proper
implementation of these action plans. The process is closely monitored
by the Risk Management Committee.

Taken into consideration the principal risks (including, among others,
material risks relating to ESG) and mitigation actions, the Board believes
that the Company has the ability to respond to any such changes in our
business and the external environment, and considers that the Group’s
risk management and internal control system was effective and adequate.

Regarding the disclosure of inside information, the Board had
implemented procedures and internal controls for handling and
dissemination of inside information so that potential inside information
can be promptly identified and escalated up for deciding whether an
announcement should be made in order to ensure compliance with
the continuous obligations under the Listing Rules and the statutory
obligation to disclose information under the SFO.

INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION

During the year under review, the Board has engaged an external
consultant to perform internal control review services. The external
consultant has assisted the Group to perform a review of the
effectiveness of internal controls system for certain selected processes.
The assessment results and proposed improvement opportunities were
discussed and agreed with Management and were reported to the Audit
Committee.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXERRSE

WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

In compliance with code provision D.2.6 of the Code, the Board has
adopted a whistleblowing policy. The policy provides formal channel and
procedures to facilitate the raising of matters of concern by employees
of the Group (the “Employees”) and those parties who deal with the
Group (e.g. customers and suppliers) (the “Third parties”, each a
“Whistleblower”), in confidence and anonymity. The procedures enable
the Whistleblower to report the possible improprieties in any matter
related to the Group directly addressed to relevant personnel.

ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY

In compliance with code provision D.2.7 of the Code, the Board had
adopted an anti-corruption policy. The policy sets out the guidelines to
prevent corruptive practices and raise employees’ awareness regarding
such matter, and sets out the expectations and appropriate procedures
of engaging third parties, and standards relating to anti-bribery and
anti-corruption.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is an employee of the Company and has
day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s affairs. The Company Secretary
is responsible for advising the Board through the Chairman and/or the
Vice Chairman on governance matters and also facilitates the induction
and professional development of directors. The Company Secretary
also keeps proper records of all Board and Committee meetings.
The biography of the Company Secretary is set out on page 33. The
Company Secretary has undertaken no less than 15 hours of professional
training during the year.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company regards the annual general meeting as an important
event as it provides an opportunity for direct communications between
its shareholders and the Board. At the Company’s 2022 annual general
meeting, the Chairman of the Board, the Chairman of each of the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee and Risk
Management Committee as well as the external auditor were present to
answer questions raised by shareholders.

The Company also maintains a website at www.ygm.com.hk which
enables the shareholders, investors and the general public to have
access to the information of the Company.

A shareholder communication policy reflecting the current practices
of the Company for communication with its shareholders is available
on the Company’s website. During the year under review, the Board
reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the policy including
steps taken at general meetings, the handling of enquiries received
from the shareholders, the dissemination of information in relation to the
Group, and the channels of communications between the Company and
the shareholders. The Board considered that the policy was properly
implemented and effective.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXERRSE

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company has only one class of shares. All shares have the same
voting rights and are entitled to the dividend declared. The rights of the
shareholders are set out in, among other things, the article of association
of the Company and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Procedures for Shareholders to convene an extraordinary general meeting
(‘GEGM”)

Article 67 of the articles of association of the Company provides that
an extraordinary general meeting shall be convened on requisition, as
provided by the Companies Ordinance. According to section 566 of the
Companies Ordinance, the directors of the Company are required to
call a general meeting if the Company has received requests to do so
from shareholders representing at least 5% of the total voting rights of all
shareholders having a right to vote at general meetings of the Company.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at EGM

Pursuant to section 566 of the Companies Ordinance, the request for
a general meeting must state the general nature of the business to be
dealt with at the meeting and may include the text of a resolution that
may properly be moved and is intended to be moved at the meeting. The
request may be sent to the Company in hard copy form at the registered
office of the Company or in electronic form at cs_info@ygm.com.hk
and must be authenticated by the requisitionist(s). The directors must
call a general meeting within 21 days after the date of the receipt of the
requests to do so. The meeting called must be held on a date not more
than 28 days after the date of the notice convening the meeting.

Procedures for directing Shareholders’ enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may put forward enquiries to the Board through the
Company Secretary who will direct the enquiries to the Board for
handling. The contact details of the Company Secretary are as follows:

The Company Secretary
Yangtzekiang Garment Limited
22 Tai Yau Street

San Po Kong

Kowloon

Hong Kong

E-Mail: cs_info@ygm.com.hk
Telephone: (852) 2327 5111
Facsimile: (852) 2352 2286

Changes in the Company’s constitutional documents

No amendments are made to the articles of association of the Company
during the year ended 31 March 2023.

Shareholders may also make enquires with the Board at the general
meetings of the Company.
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DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT
EEREEAE

DIRECTORS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Chan Wing Fui, Peter, MA

Aged 77, Mr. Chan received a Master’s degree in Administrative Science
from Yale University, USA in 1969 and joined the Group in the same
year. He was appointed as Director and Managing Director in 1971 and
1980 respectively and Vice Chairman of the board of directors in 1987.
Mr. Chan is at present the Chairman of the board of directors and has
held directorships in a number of subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Chan
was the Chairman of the board of directors of YGM Trading Limited from
2010 to 2015, and is at present the executive director of YGM Trading
Limited. Mr. Chan has extensive experience in garment manufacturing
and marketing in the Far East and the USA.

Chan Wing Kee, GBM, GBS, OBE, JP

Aged 76, Mr. Chan received a Bachelor’'s degree in Industrial Engineering
in 1970 from Purdue University. He has been the Managing Director of
the Company since 1987 and was re-designated from Managing Director
to Executive Director in January 2021. He is also an Executive Director
of YGM Trading Limited and an Independent Non-executive Director of
Kingboard Holdings Limited. Mr. Chan had participated in many textile
negotiations with the USA and Europe for Hong Kong and Macau. He
used to be a Standing Committee Member of The 10th, 11th and 12th
of The Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference; Deputy
of the 8th and 9th National People’s Congress of China, Ex-member
of Commission on Strategic Development of Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region; Ex-member of Economic Council of Macau
Special Administrative Region; Ex-member of the Textile Advisory Board
of Hong Kong; Ex-Committee Member of the Preparatory Committee for
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region and Ex-Advisor of Hong Kong
Affairs.

Chan Wing To, PhD

Aged 72, Mr. Chan joined YGM Singapore in 1978. He was appointed
as Executive Director of the Group in 1983. Mr. Chan was an Executive
Director of YGM Trading Ltd from November 1987 to April 2020.
Mr. Chan received a Doctor of Philosophy degree in economics from the
University of Rochester, USA in 1978. He has extensive experience in the
textile and garment business.

Chan Suk Man, MSc

Aged 75, Ms. Chan received Master of Science Degrees from the
University of Windsor, Canada in 1973 and Case Western Reserve
University USA in 1975. She joined the Group in 1976 and was appointed
as Executive Director in 1993. Madam Chan was re-designated as the
Managing Director of the Company in January 2021.
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Chan Wing Sun, Samuel

Aged 75, Mr. Chan received a Bachelor's degree from University of
Manchester, the United Kingdom in 1970 and qualified as a Chartered
Accountant in 1973. He was the Company Secretary of the Group from
1974 to 1988 and has been an Executive Director since 1977. Mr. Chan
was the Managing Director of YGM Trading Limited from 1987 to 2006
and the Chief Executive Officer of YGM Trading Limited from 2006 to
2010. He was the Vice Chairman of the board of directors of YGM
Trading Limited from 2010 and was re-designated as the Chairman of
board of directors of YGM Trading Limited in September 2015. Mr. Chan
has been the Chairman of the board of directors of Crater Gold Mining
Limited, whose shares are listed on Australian Securities Exchange, since
2013.

Chan Suk Ling, Shirley, BBS, JP

Madam Chan joined the Group in 1973 and appointed as the Director
in 1983. Madam Chan resigned as the executive Director in April 2020
and was re-appointed as an executive Director with effect from 31 March
2021. She is also the Vice Chairman of the board of directors of YGM
Trading Limited. Madam Chan, aged 72, has extensive experience of
management in the garment retail and wholesale business. She is a
Committee Member of the 3rd-6th Election Committee of Hong Kong
SAR, the Council Member of the Hong Kong Trade Development Council
(“HKTDC”), the Chairman of Staff & Finance Committee of HKTDC, the
Honorary President of the Chinese Manufacturers’ Association of Hong
Kong, the Chairman Emeritus of Hong Kong Brand Development Council,
the Vice President of the Guangdong Association of Enterprises with
Foreign Investment, a Council Member of The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University (“PolyU”), the Chairman of Advisory Committee on School
of Fashion and Textiles of PolyU and the Supervisor of Yau Yat Chuen
School. She received a Bachelor's degree from Nottingham Trent
University, the United Kingdom in 1973.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Choi Ting Ki

Aged 68, is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. In 1978, Mr. Choi graduated from the Department of
Accounting of the Hong Kong Polytechnic (currently known as the Hong
Kong Polytechnic University). He joined KPMG in the same year and has
held various positions, including Partner of the audit department of KPMG
Hong Kong Office, Managing Partner of KPMG Shanghai Office, Senior
Partner of KPMG Huazhen Shanghai Office as well as Senior Partner
of KPMG Huazhen in Eastern and Western China. Mr. Choi retired
from KPMG Huazhen in April 2010. Mr. Choi has been an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company since December 2012. Mr. Choi
is also an Independent Non-executive Director of YGM Trading Limited.
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DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT
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So Stephen Hon Cheung

Aged 67, has been a director of an accounting firm T.M Ho, So & Leung
CPA Limited since August 2003. Currently, he is the chief financial
officer and company secretary of Ying Kee Tea House Group Limited
(stock code: 8241). He has extensive experience in the commercial
sector of manufacturing, wholesale and trading and in public practice
working for various companies in Hong Kong, China and Canada.
He holds a bachelor’'s degree in commerce from the University of
British Columbia, Canada. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a member of the Chartered
Professional Accountants of Canada and a member of the Society of
Certified Management Accountants of Canada. Mr. So has been an
independent non-executive director of the Company and YGM Trading
Limited (stock code: 375) since September 2017, and PINE Technology
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1079) since September 2002. Mr. So
was an independent non-executive director of Milan Station Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1150) from May 2011 to February 2017, Teamway
International Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 1239) from August
2017 to June 2019 and Pinestone Capital Limited (stock code: 804) from
May 2015 to November 2022.

Li Guangming

Aged 71, Mr. Li was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company in January 2018. He was appointed as deputy
chief of No. 1 Cotton Textile Factory of Wuxi City in July 1984 and chief
of factory in February 1991. He has held various positions in Wuxi City
Guolian Development (Group) Company Limited and its subsidiaries.
Among other things, he was appointed as the general manager of
Wuxi Guolian Textile Group Company Limited (now known as Wuxi
No.1 Cotton Textile Group Company Limited) in October 2005, and
subsequently served as the chairman of its board until December 2014.
He had also held various management roles in Wuxi No. 1 Cotton
Investment Co., Ltd. (a joint venture held as to 49% by the Company) and
its subsidiaries up to June 2015. Mr. Li graduated from Wuxi Professional
University (now known as Jiangnan University) and was a member
of the Standing Committee of Wuxi Municipal People’s Congress of
the People’s Republic of China. He also has been an Independent
Non-executive Director of YGM TradingLimited (stock code: 375) since
January 2018.

DIRECTORS’ RELATIONSHIP WITH OTHER
DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT,
SUBSTANTIAL OR CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

Mr. Chan Wing Fui, Peter, Mr. Chan Wing Sun, Samuel and Madam Chan
Suk Ling, Shirley are siblings.

Mr. Chan Wing Kee, Mr. Chan Wing To and Madam Chan Suk Man are
siblings. They are also the cousins of Mr. Chan Wing Fui, Peter, Mr. Chan
Wing Sun, Samuel and Madam Chan Suk Ling, Shirley. Madam Chan
Suk Man is the wife of Mr. Lau Shing Choy.

Save as disclosed herein, the Directors do not have any relationship
with other Directors, senior management, substantial or controlling
Shareholders of the Company.
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DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT
EEREEAER

MANAGEMENT

Lau Shing Choy

Aged 75, Mr. Lau received a Bachelor’'s degree from the Chinese
University of Hong Kong in 1969, and a Doctor of Philosophy Degree
from Case Western Reserve University, USA in 1978. Mr. Lau joined the
Group in 1978 to develop the China business. He is the Director of Hong
Kong Knitters Limited.

Leung Ming Wai, Alan

Aged 65, Mr. Leung is the General Manager of Sales Department and
obtained the diploma in Management Studies at Hong Kong Polytechnic
University and Master Degree in Business Administration at University of
Macau. He joined the Company as Sales Manager in 1986.

Yung Chor Yin, Margaret

Aged 59, is the General Manager of Sales Department and received
a Bachelor’s degree from RMIT University and a Master’'s degree in
Business Administration from Hong Kong Polytechnic University. She
joined the Company in 1985.

Yip Chung On

Aged 60, Mr. Yip is the General Manager of Sales Department. Mr. Yip
joined the Company in 1982, and was promoted to Sales Manager in
1989. With wide range of both woven and knit experience in garment
sourcing and merchandizing, he was appointed as General Manager in
2005.

Hui Sau Ling

Aged 57, is the Financial Controller and Company Secretary of the
Group. She joined the Group in 2000 and has extensive experience in
auditing, accounting, treasury and company secretarial work. She is a
fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and
a member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
18 3 B BR8] S

KpME!

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Yangtzekiang
Garment Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) set
out on pages 43 to 126, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 March 2023, the consolidated statement
of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
20283 and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”) and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

18 M B BT R

ASSESSING IMPAIRMENT OF OTHER PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

WEAG T A 3 - W5 B i Al P oA

Refer to note 11(e) to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 1(l).

B A B IRE M FE11(e) R & 7t B F1() -

THE KEY AUDIT MATTER
LS e

HOW THE MATTER WAS ADDRESSED IN
OUR AUDIT
B A 0 2 il Ja o i B % 29

In view of the losses sustained by certain business units of
the Group during the current year, management considered
that indicators of impairment of other property, plant and
equipment existed as at 31 March 2023.

B BB TRBFRAAFEARGER ®2 %
CEEEHA=ER S BRSNS - WS s T

In assessing whether impairment existed at the reporting
date, management determined the recoverable amounts of
the smallest cash generating units (“CGUs”) to which these
assets were allocated. The recoverable amount of a CGU is
the greater of its value in use and the fair value less costs of
disposal of the related assets.
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In order to determine the recoverable amounts of the
CGUs for which indicators of impairment were identified,
management assessed the fair values of the properties
with reference to valuation performed by external valuers or
estimates made by management.
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The assessment of the properties’ fair values involved
significant judgement, particularly in respect of
property-specific adjustment factors and the choice of market
comparable transactions.
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Our audit procedures to assess the impairment of other
property, plant and equipment included the following:

SR £ AL 0 - S B0 (05 - BT T LA R
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e challenging the Group’s impairment assessment model,
which included assessing the impairment indicators
identified by management, the identification of CGUs
and the allocation of assets to the CGUs and assessing
the impairment assessment models with reference
to the requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards;
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e for the property valuation performed by external valuers
engaged by the Group, with the assistance of our
internal valuation specialists, inspecting the valuation
report and assessing the independent external valuers’
quallifications, experience and expertise in the assets
being valued and considering their objectivity and
independence; discussing with the external valuers
and challenging the valuation methodology and the key
estimates and assumptions adopted in the valuations,
which included property specific adjustment factors and
the choice of market comparable transactions, taking
into consideration of comparability and other market
factors; and
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

18 3 B BR8] S

ASSESSING IMPAIRMENT OF OTHER PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

WEAG T A S - W5 B s Al 0 AR ()

Refer to note 11(e) to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 1(l).

i 2 AR G R B HA M AT 11 (e) & Brat BUR1() -

THE KEY AUDIT MATTER
B o it e

HOW THE MATTER WAS ADDRESSED IN
OUR AUDIT
FRA 1 2 il J o o B % 29

We identified assessing impairment of other property,
plant and equipment as a key audit matter because of the
potential significance of any impairment charge to the results
of the Group for the year and because valuing the Group’s
properties can be inherently subjective and require significant
management judgement and estimation which increase the
risk of error or potential management bias.
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e  evaluating the outcome of prior period assessment of
impairment of property, plant and equipment to assess
the effectiveness of management’s estimation process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

18 M B BT R

ASSESSING IMPAIRMENT OF INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

WAl A R A SR 2 Y T A D

Refer to note 14 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 1(l).

W 2 AR o R B R A 14 8 B et ()

THE KEY AUDIT MATTER
LS e

HOW THE MATTER WAS ADDRESSED IN
OUR AUDIT
B A 0 2 il Ja o i B % 29

The carrying value of the Group’s interests in joint ventures
amounted to HK$515,923,000 as at 31 March 2023. The
principal activity of the joint ventures is the production of
yarns with major operations in Mainland China and Ethiopia.
Given the thin profit margin earned by the joint ventures and
the fluctuation of the price of the major raw material cotton in
recent years which have had a significant impact on the gross
profit, management considered that indicators of impairment
of interests in joint ventures existed as at 31 March 2023.
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In assessing whether there was any impairment of the
carrying value of the interests in joint ventures, management
determined the recoverable amounts of the smallest
cash-generating units (“CGUs”) to which the underlying
property, plant and equipment of the joint ventures were
allocated. The recoverable amount of a CGU is the greater of
its value in use and the fair value less cost of disposal of the
related assets.
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Our audit procedures to assess the potential impairment of
interests in joint ventures included the following:

TRAYLE AT Al &AMV WA Y BRI T LU R 3R

e assessing and challenging the joint ventures’
impairment assessment models, which included
evaluating the indicators of impairment and the
allocation of assets to CGUs by joint ventures’
management with reference to the requirements of the
prevailing accounting standards;
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e challenging the key assumptions adopted by joint
ventures’ management in their preparation of the
discounted cash flow forecasts and comparing the
significant inputs, such as future revenue, future
margins and future cost growth rates by referencing to
industry and other available third party information and
management’s budgets and plans for the operations in
2024 and beyond;
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

18 3 B BR8] S

ASSESSING IMPAIRMENT OF INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued)

WA A 4 A SRR 2 O TR A B ()

Refer to note 14 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 1(l).

W 2 AR R B R A 148 B et ()

THE KEY AUDIT MATTER
B o it e

HOW THE MATTER WAS ADDRESSED IN
OUR AUDIT
FRA 1 2 il J o o B % 29

In order to determine the recoverable amounts of the
CGUs for which indicators of impairment were identified,
management prepared value in use calculations using
discounted cash flow forecasts and assessed the fair values
of the properties by reference to an estimate made by
management.
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The preparation of discounted cash flow forecasts involves
significant management judgement, in particular in relation to
the forecasts of future revenue, future margins, future cost
growth rates and the discount rates applied.
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In addition, assessing the fair value of these assets involves
significant management judgement, particularly in determining
asset-specific adjustment factors and the choice of market
comparable transactions.
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We identified assessing impairment of interests in joint
ventures as a key audit matter because of its significance to
the consolidated financial statements and because assessing
the key impairment assumptions involves a significant degree
of management judgement which may affect both the
carrying value of the Group’s interests in joint ventures as well
as any impairment charge for the year.
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e involving our internal valuation specialists to assist us
in assessing the methodology applied by management
in its discounted cash flow forecasts with reference to
the requirements of the prevailing accounting standards
and whether the discount rates adopted in the
discounted cash flow forecasts were comparable with
those of companies in the same industry and external
market data;
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e comparing the key assumptions included in
the discounted cash flow forecast prepared by
management in the prior year with the current year’s
performance to assess the accuracy of the prior year’s
forecast, making enquiries of management as to the
reasons for any significant variations identified and
whether these had been considered in the current year
discounted cash flow forecasts and considering if there
was any indication of management bias;
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° performing a sensitivity analysis of the future revenue,
future margins, future cost growth rates and the
discount rates adopted in the discounted cash flow
forecasts prepared by joint ventures’ management
and assessing the impact of changes in the key
assumptions to the conclusion reached in the
impairment assessment and whether there were any
indicators of management bias;
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B Y &R RE

ASSESSING IMPAIRMENT OF INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued)

A A 4 A SRR 2 O TR A B ()

Refer to note 14 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 1(l).

W 2 AR o R B R A 14 8 B et ()

THE KEY AUDIT MATTER
LS e

HOW THE MATTER WAS ADDRESSED IN
OUR AUDIT
B A 0 2 il Ja o i B % 29

e assessing the appropriateness of using the fair
value less costs of disposal model as the basis for
determining the recoverable amounts and evaluating
the mathematical accuracy of the model used to
estimate the fair value less costs of disposal;
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° involving our internal valuation specialists to compare
the fair values of the joint ventures’ land use rights
and buildings, as assessed by management, with
our independently formed market expectations
with reference to the market transaction prices or
replacement cost for comparable assets adjusted for
certain asset-specific adjustment factors, including
the physical condition of the assets, the dates of the
reference transactions and the anticipated remaining
useful life; and
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e assessing the relevant taxation implications in Mainland
China where the joint ventures operate upon disposal of
land use rights, buildings and machinery and equipment
of the joint ventures with reference to the relevant
prevailing tax regulations in Mainland China.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B B RE

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual report,
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal control.

e  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’'s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.
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o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

e  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’'s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh
the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Cheng Pui Ngar.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

29 June 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

e EER

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HE_T_=F=A=+—HILEE (L Exz)

2023 2022
SR -
Note $°000 $’000
Bt 7t T For
Revenue WA 2 &10 365,761 390,446
Cost of sales FERl N (294,064) (329,819)
Gross profit LH 71,697 60,627
Other net income A o i 95 A 3 12,486 9,119
Selling and distribution expenses BB I o 6 2R (23,368) (28,201)
Administrative expenses TEC A (31,412) (40,473)
Other operating expenses HoAth 48 2% 2 4(c) (10,665) (14,136)
Profit/(loss) from operations BE®RA,O&H) 18,738 (13,064)
Finance costs Pl R AR 4(a) (1,600) (3,108)
Share of (losses)/profits of joint ventures — MEIL & &2 (&), F (39,198) 43,788
Net valuation gains on investment PG W) AN (8 I 4
properties 11(a) 1,562 4,048
(Loss)/profit before taxation B Be i O 8) %t A 4 (20,498) 31,664
Income tax expenses RES ] 5(a) (2,751) (1,390)
(Loss)/profit for the year AAEJE (K518) i A (23,249) 30,274
Attributable to: HEE 958 it
Equity shareholders of the Company AT RRER A A (23,249) 30,665
Non-controlling interests I 12 11 1 OB 2 - (391)
(Loss)/profit for the year AR O ), A (28,249) 30,274
(Loss)/earnings per share i O 8) /#A
Basic and diluted S A % 9 ($0.11) $0.15

JRE A A 2 ) B ME 5 A AR AE BE 1 B0 A R
W sE26(b)(i) « 549 HE 2126 E 1 M 51 B A B B
Rz —HBAY -

Details of dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company
attributable to the year are set out in note 26(b)(i). The notes on pages 49
to 126 form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
mREeEmEkEMEEH KSR

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HE_ZT_=F=A=+—HItFE L&)

2023 2022
R = = S
Note $°000 $’000
Kt 7t T Fr
(Loss)/profit for the year AFEOEH) wA (23,249) 80,274
Other comprehensive income for the 7 AR BE il 2 i W 2%
year (after tax and reclassification (huBRBE I B 2 B
adjustments) W% 8
Items that will not be reclassified AFAS T e B K E 1A 7 7Y
subsequently to profit or loss: HH -
Equity investments at fair value through 975 388 HC At 4 T Ui A% % 2 FAE
other comprehensive income: AR IR A -
net movement in the investment 18 ¥ A A it 1 5 ) A
revaluation reserve (non-recycling) (7R e [l ) (347) 753
Surplus on revaluation of land and buildings - 1 S 488 5% 5 ik 2% i i 3% =
transferred to investment property BEYE 1,459 =
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 1,112 783
ltems that are or may be reclassified T A A E R
subsequently to profit or loss: B ERmHH -
Exchange differences on translation of: [ifE 5, 7 FH
- financial statements of subsidiaries L
outside Hong Kong B JBg 2 ) o 5 R (2,908) 4,196
— share of joint ventures’ net assets - BB GE A
HEFE (34,565) 18,625
(37,473) 22,821
Release of exchange reserve upon S B — B 4 W IRE 4 ] A S
deregistration of a subsidiary FE 5013t 1l - 283
Release of exchange reserve upon BB R 2 D IR A ) R
disposal of subsidiaries R 5o, i 5 1,936 427
Other comprehensive income for the year AR Mb R wEce: (34,425) .. 24,284
Total comprehensive income AR AF 5 2 Thi MK 2 AR 8
for the year (57,674) 54,558
Attributable to: JE $¢ B
Equity shareholders of the Company AN F MR A A (57,674) 54,953
Non-controlling interests I ¥ A B AR 4 - (395)
Total comprehensive income A AE B 2 Thi MK 2 A B
for the year (57,674) 54,558

The notes on pages 49 to 126 form part of these financial statements.

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED RATHRKA BA 5]

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 £ #

SEAQE F 126 H 11t ¥ g A W HS e 2 — B o



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

5 BB AR O R

At 31 March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

MR-B-=F=A=1+—8 (U* T

2023 2022
TR TEAR N S
Note $°000 $°000
Mt it T T T
Non-current assets e B ' A
Investment properties wEYE 11 238,933 238,805
Other property, plant and equipment HA P2 - W7 Mg 11 41,907 45,063
Interest in leasehold land held for own use 4 B 1 2 18 - HiKE 25 11 1,045 1,185
281,885 285,053
Intangible assets T 12 2,605 2,700
Interests in joint ventures EEDERR 14 515,923 590,493
Other financial assets HCAth 4 A A 15 19,824 20,209
820,237 898,455
Current assets i W A
Inventories ety 16 16,318 33,745
Trade and other receivables JFRE AT R 3k R L At JE i R 17 50,693 113,643
Current tax recoverable n] g ] A 1A A T 24(a) = 1,031
Bank deposits SRATAF 3K 18(a) 128,099 =
Cash and cash equivalents Ba RB&SEY 18(a) 178,074 235,472
Assets held for sale FrfEh & 2 EiE 19 - 14,972
L ooT3184 398,863
Current liabilities i W) £ 1
Trade and other payables JREAST B 3 S L Al JE AT 3K 20 36,190 54,015
Contract liabilities GHIAE 21 4,588 7,290
Lease liabilities iEN==R 22 74 454
Current tax payable JREAH A A Fod TH 24(a) 14,730 14,247
Provision for employee benefits & B 1) 2 P 43 A 25 299 8,286
Liabilities directly associated with BRI B 2 i A
the assets held for sale 2 AfE 19 = 9,175
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 55,881 93,467
Netcurrentassets = @#E##sE®M 2200202020000 317,308 305,396
Total assets less current liabilities A AR DR R W £ 1,137,540 1,203,851

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED £{L® &4 B4
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BBk &

At 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
RET==F=EA=+—8 (L&)

2023 2022
:‘3:3 —E
Note $’000 $°000
Mt st P T
Non-current liabilities B L RER
Provision for employee benefits & B 15 A & 15 25 13,752 18,548
Lease liabilities iEN==E 22 = 81
Deferred tax liabilities % S B TE A E 24(b)(ii) 15,603 15,228
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 29,355 33,857
NET ASSETS 7 O 1,108,185 1,169,994
CAPITAL AND RESERVES B A B it Al
Share capital il 26(c) 208,418 208,418
Reserves G 899,767 961,576
TOTAL EQUITY HE % 38 % 1,108,185 1,169,994

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on

29 June 2023.

WREGO N - T ZENA LB M R

e ESIIRE -

S0 Bl S
FHEA AR

Chan Wing Fui, Peter
Chairman

Chan Suk Man Bl K %
Managing Director FiE

The notes on pages 49 to 126 form part of these financial #5491 & 126 [ M 51 )& A& M £ 2 — 3 -
statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEERBBR

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-_=F=A=1+—RLLFE (K E&Tit)

Investment Land and
Goodwil  revaluation buildings
Share Exchange arising on reserve  revaluation Other Retained Non-controlling Total
capital reserve  consolidation  (non-recycling) reserve reserve profits Total interests equity
by
EORAK  ERRE  LBRBT FRRBE
Rk BARE v R CRuER)  ERRE  KERE KRN it LIS, VY
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
I 7 7 i Fr 7 7 T 7 7
Note  (note 26(c) (note 26(a)f]) (note 26(d)fi)) ~ (note 26(a)fii)  (note 26(c){i)
W ) (s W20 (2600 ()
Balance at 1 April 2021 BB -2 AR 28,418 9,665 (@174 14,039 31,870 728 802,987 1,115,041 (1658  1,113.383
Changes in equity for e year: A Iy HER %0 :
Profit{oss) for the year KEEE/ (BB - - - - 30,665 30,665 (391) 30214
Other comprehensive income E2EE 8 - %,5% 75 - 24,288 ] 24,284
Total comprehensive income AiliGAH - 25% 753 - 30,665 54963 (3%8) 54,558
Derecogised upon disposal of HEREA AR IEER
subsidiaries - - - - 2,063 2,063
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, S L . SO SN B LI
Balance at 31 March 2022and ~~ RZFZZHZH=4-HE
1 April 2022 CROTENA- DR 28,418 116,200 (@174 14,792 31870 12% 833,652 1,169,994 1,169,994
Changes in equity for the year: 4y HER%EH
Loss for the year KEEER - - - (23.249) (23.249) (23.249)
Other comprehensive income Kbdmig 8 - (3,597) 37) 1459 34429) (34,425)
Total comprehensive income ARG - (3,537) (347) 1459 (23,249 57,674 (7674
Diidends approved and paid in RERIABR L -FERRE 260
respect of the previous year - - - (4,135) (4,135) (4135)
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, S N o1 N N L1 MO 1. IR . 8
Balance at 31 March 2023 RoB2ZE
SHEF-N2hR 28,418 80,663 (#2174 14,445 33,329 7,23 806,208 1,108,185 1,108,185

The notes on pages 49 to 126 form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
HEEHTRER

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-_=F=A=1+—RILFE (WK ETit)

48

2023 2022
SF SET I
Note $°000 $’000
Kt 7t T Fr
Operating activities R W)
Cash generated from/(used in) operations #8452 FT 45, (Ar ) $l4& 18(b) 71,165 (18,554)
Tax refunded, net TR 989 242
Net cash generated from/(used in) HEBEWHHB ) B4
__operating activites ] weo 72,154 (18,312)
Investing activities B ¥ B
Payment for the purchase of W B HoAh 2~ RE I
other property, plant and equipment A AT K (6,679) (6,419)
Proceeds from disposals of ﬁ B HALY) 2 E X
other property, plant and equipment S BT 15 ZRE 462 466
Interest received = ﬂﬁcﬂ B 4,254 325
Dividends received from equity securities  E U Bt HE 75 2% 2 A% S, 515 494
Net cash proceed from disposal of B B 2 ) B 4 i A
subsidiaries ik} 18(e) 8,235 (3,092)
Increase in bank deposits SRAT E WIAF 2K (128,099) =
Net cash used in investing activities ~ H¥Ww#pmMEd® | (121,312)  (8,226)
Financing activities il ¥ 5 )
Capital element of lease rentals paid B AR S FL 4 2 AR 18(c) (254) (1,871)
Interest element of lease rentals paid BT ER A 2 A B3 18(c) (16) (1,305)
Interest paid B AR (1,584) (1,803)
Dividends paid to equity shareholders BT A A RCRERR A N B
of the Company (4,135) -
Net cash used in financing activities ~ BRWBAMRESFH = (5989 (4979
Net decrease in cash and cash Bl KB &5 B WA T8
equivalents (55,147) (81,517)
Cash and cash equivalents at the AR Z BL 4 B BL &5
beginning of the year 18(a) 235,472 266,085
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes b ¥ 5 # 3% & ) > 3 & (2,251) 904
Cash and cash equivalents at AR Z B A R B &S MY
the end of the year 18(a) 178,074 235,472

The notes on pages 49 to 126 form part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-_=F=A=1+—RLLFE (K E&Tit)

(b)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”),
which collective term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These financial statements
also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (“the Listing Rules”). Significant accounting policies
adopted by the Group are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to HKFRSs that
are first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Group. Note 1(c) provides information on
any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial application
of these developments to the extent that they are relevant to the
Group for the current accounting period reflected in these financial
statements.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2023 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred
to as the “Group”) and the Group’s interests in joint ventures.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial
statements is the historical cost basis except that the following
assets and liabilities are stated at their fair values as explained in the
accounting policies set out below:

— investment properties, including interests in leasehold land and
buildings held as investment property where the Group is the
registered owner of the property interest (see note 1(h));

— investments in equity securities (see note 1(f)); and
—  derivative financial instruments (see note 1(g)).

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale are stated at
the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell (see
note 1(y)).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the
judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.

(a)

(b)

2 1 3 OR
3 51 2% W)

A B 3R T 1% B A s w8 A T
A 2 R s s i D (1 W S
Wk wE QI ]) o IR BT A R A R A s
B e Al CGREgHERND) ([ Filest
W) HE R Al ARz g st A
2 F R 2 B E T A e AR B S R TR
HEBHBEBHESLSTARAFAGESR LT
LR (T B BRI 2 %8 1 8k L E - A
EMBEMZ FEGFBORBMZEWT -

s & vl & OB 25 T 3BT 2 &b
o S HE R NI A B 2 AR ST H]
TR S T AR AR A o A AT
IR DR A0 Ok R P O T R T R R 2 A
] 51 I 5 Bl T S A B A I HS R
Bk B MR (C) ©

Yo 5 0 e W o R
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G (2 BB RE1(y)) °

2 0 T i T o Y A R0 A S R
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B AR > w4 5% P~ fhE BRSO B E st
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 3R R B A

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE

(c)

(@)

—E_=F=-A=+—B8IFE (ETFH)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of preparation of the financial statements (continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of HKFRSs
that have significant effect on the financial statements and major
sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 30.

Changes in accounting policies

The Group has applied the following amendment to HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA to these financial statements for the current
accounting period:

e  Amendments to HKAS 16, Property, plant and equipment:
Proceeds before intended use

e  Amendments to HKAS 37, Provisions, contingent liabilities
and contingent assets: Onerous contracts — cost of fulfiling a
contract

None of these developments have had a material effect on how the
Group’s results and financial position for the current or prior periods
have been prepared or presented. The Group has not applied any
new standard or interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period.

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls
an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity. When assessing whether
the Group has power, only substantive rights (held by the Group and
other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the consolidated
financial statements from the date that control commences until
the date that control ceases. Intra-group balances, transactions
and cash flows, and any unrealised profits arising from intra-group
transactions, are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains but
only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

(b)

(c)

(d)
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A7 B A B S IR P A o S o o ) B P
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B> DAl Rt A wlEE R 2 BRI Z A
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HE—

T_=F=A=+—HIFE (L& xs)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (continued)

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a subsidiary not
attributable directly or indirectly to the Company, and in respect
of which the Group has not agreed any additional terms with the
holders of those interests which would result in the Group as a
whole having a contractual obligation in respect of those interests
that meets the definition of a financial liability. For each business
combination, the Group can elect to measure any non-controlling
interests either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately from
equity attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company.
Non-controlling interests in the results of the Group are presented
on the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as an allocation of the total profit or loss and total
comprehensive income for the year between non-controlling
interests and the equity shareholders of the Company.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do not result
in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions,
whereby adjustments are made to the amounts of controlling and
non-controlling interests within consolidated equity to reflect the
change in relative interests, but no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interest in that subsidiary, with a
resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any interest
retained in that former subsidiary at the date when control is lost
is recognised at fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair
value on initial recognition of a financial asset (see note 1(f)) or, when
appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an
associate or joint venture (see note 1(g)).

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment in a
subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment losses (see note 1(l)).

=Bk (4)

(d) B o 2 v B e ¢ I JBe A 2% (4H)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 3R R B A

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-_=F=A=1+—RILFE (WK ETit)

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(e) Joint ventures

A joint venture is an arrangement whereby the Group and other
parties contractually agree to share control of the arrangement, and

have rights to the net assets of the arrangement.

An investment in a joint venture is accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements under the equity method and is initially
recorded at cost, adjusted for any excess of the Group’s share
of the acquisition-date fair values of the investee’s identifiable
net assets over the cost of the investment (if any). Thereafter,
the investment is adjusted for the post acquisition change in the
Group’s share of the investee’s net assets and any impairment loss
relating to the investment (see note 1(l)). At each reporting date,
the Group assesses whether there is any objective evidence that
the investment is impaired. Any acquisition-date excess over cost,
the Group’s share of the post-acquisition, post-tax results of the
investees and any impairment losses for the year are recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss, whereas the Group’s
share of the post-acquisition post-tax items of the investees’ other
comprehensive income is recognised in the consolidated statement

of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in the joint
venture, the Group’s interest is reduced to nil and recognition of
further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Group
has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of the investee. For this purpose, the Group’s interest is the
carrying amount of the investment under the equity method together
with the Group’s long-term interests that in substance form part of

the Group’s net investment in the joint venture.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions between
the Group and its joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s interest in the investee, except where unrealised losses
provide evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred, in which

case they are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

If an investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in an
associate or vice versa, retained interest is not remeasured. Instead,
the investment continues to be accounted for under the equity

method.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to have joint control over
a joint venture, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest
in that investee, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in
profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former investee at the date
when joint control is lost is recognised at fair value and this amount
is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a financial asset

(see note 1(f)).

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments in joint

ventures are stated at cost less impairment losses (see note 1(l)).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HE—

(€9)

T_=F=A=+—HIFE (L& xs)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Investments in equity securities

The Group’s policies for investments in equity securities, other than
investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures, are set out below:

Investments in equity securities are recognised/derecognised on
the date the Group commits to purchase/sell the investment. The
investments are initially stated at fair value plus directly attributable
transaction costs, except for those investments measured at fair
value through profit or loss (“FVPL”) for which transaction costs
are recognised directly in profit or loss. For an explanation of how
the Group determines fair value of financial instruments, see note
27(f). These investments are subsequently accounted for as follows,
depending on their classification.

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVPL unless the
equity investment is not held for trading purposes and on initial
recognition of the investment the Group makes an election to
designate the investment at fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVOCI”) (non-recycling) such that subsequent changes
in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income. Such
elections are made on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but
may only be made if the investment meets the definition of equity
from the issuer’s perspective. Where such an election is made, the
amount accumulated in other comprehensive income remains in the
investment revaluation reserve (non-recycling) until the investment
is disposed of. At the time of disposal, the amount accumulated in
the investment revaluation reserve (non-recycling) is transferred to
retained earnings. It is not recycled through profit or loss. Dividends
from an investment in equity securities, irrespective of whether
classified as at FVPL or FVOCI, are recognised in profit or loss as
other income in accordance with the policy set out in note 1(v)(iv).

Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value.
At the end of each reporting period the fair value is remeasured.
The gain or loss on remeasurement to fair value is recognised
immediately in profit or loss, except where the derivatives qualify
for cash flow hedge accounting, in which case recognition of any
resultant gain or loss depends on the nature of the item being
hedged.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 3R R B A

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-_=F=A=1+—RILFE (WK ETit)

()

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which are owned
or held under a leasehold interest (see note 1(k) to earn rental
income and/or for capital appreciation. These include land held
for a currently undetermined future use and property that is being
constructed or developed for future use as investment properties.

Investment properties are stated at fair values, unless they are still
in the course of construction or development at the end of the
reporting period and their fair value cannot be reliably measured at
that time. Any gain or loss arising from a change in fair value or from
the retirement or disposal of an investment property is recognised
in profit or loss. Rental income from investment properties is
accounted for as described in note 1(v)(iii).

Other property, plant and equipment

The following items of other property, plant and equipment are
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
(see note 1())):

—  interests in leasehold land and buildings where the Group is the
registered owner of the property interest (see note 1(k));

—  right-of-use assets arising from leases underlying properties
where the Group is not the registered owner of the property
interest; and

— items of plant and equipment.

When an owner-occupied property becomes an investment
property carried at fair value, the property is revalued at the date
of transfer. Any resulting decrease in the carrying amount of the
property is recognised in profit or loss and any resulting increase in
carrying amount is recognised in other comprehensive income and
increase in the land and buildings revaluation reserve.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item
of property, plant and equipment are determined as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
item and are recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement
or disposal. Any related revaluation surplus is transferred from the
land and buildings revaluation reserve to retained profits and is not
reclassified to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-_=F=A=1+—RLLFE (K E&Tit)

1)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Other property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property,
plant and equipment, less their estimated residual value, if any, using
the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives as follows:

— leasehold land is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
remaining term of the lease;

—  the Group’s interests in buildings situated on leasehold land are
depreciated over the shorter of the unexpired term of the lease
and the buildings’ estimated useful lives, being no more than
50 years after the date of completion;

—  plant and machinery between 4 to 10 years; and

—  other assets between 3 to 5 years.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated on a
reasonable basis between the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Both the useful life of an asset and its residual value, if
any, are reviewed annually.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated at
cost less accumulated amortisation (where the estimated useful
life is finite) and impairment losses (see note 1(l)). Amortisation of
intangible assets with finite useful lives is charged to profit or loss on
a straight-line basis over the assets’ estimated useful lives. Both the
period and method of amortisation are reviewed annually.

Intangible assets are not amortised while their useful lives are
assessed to be indefinite. Any conclusion that the useful life of
an intangible asset is indefinite is reviewed annually to determine
whether events and circumstances continue to support the indefinite
useful life assessment for that asset. If they do not, the change in
the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for
prospectively from the date of change and in accordance with the
policy for amortisation of intangible assets with finite lives as set out
above.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease
if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. Control is
conveyed where the customer has both the right to direct the use
of the identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the economic
benefits from that use.

As a lessee

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises a
right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for short-term leases
that have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value
assets. When the Group enters into a lease in respect of a low-value
asset, the Group decides whether to capitalise the lease on a
lease-by-lease basis. The lease payments associated with those
leases which are not capitalised are recognised as an expense on a
systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially recognised
at the present value of the lease payments payable over the lease
term, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if
that rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant incremental
borrowing rate. After initial recognition, the lease liability is measured
at amortised cost and interest expense is calculated using the
effective interest method.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is capitalised is
initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of
the lease liability plus any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, and any initial direct costs incurred. Where
applicable, the cost of the right-of-use assets also includes an
estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or
to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located,
discounted to their present value, less any lease incentives
received. The right-of-use asset is subsequently stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see notes 1(i)
and 1()(ii)), except for right-of-use assets that meet the definition of
investment property are carried at fair value in accordance with note
1(h).

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in future
lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, or there
is a change in the Group’s estimate of the amount expected to
be payable under a residual value guarantee, or there is a change
arising from the reassessment of whether the Group will be
reasonably certain to exercise a purchase, extension or termination
option. When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the
right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.
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(i)
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(@)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Leased assets (continued)
As a lessee (continued)

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a change in
the scope of a lease or the consideration for a lease that is not
originally provided for in the lease contract (“lease modification”)
that is not accounted for as a separate lease. In this case the lease
liability is remeasured based on the revised lease payments and
lease term using a revised discount rate at the effective date of
the modification. The only exceptions are rent concessions that
occurred as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic
and met the conditions set out in paragraph 46B of HKFRS 16
Leases. In such cases, the Group has taken advantage of the
practical expedient not to assess whether the rent concessions are
lease modifications, and recognised the change in consideration
as negative variable lease payments in profit or loss in the period
in which the event or condition that triggers the rent concessions
occurred.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the
definition of investment property in “interest in leasehold land
held for own use” and “other property, plant and equipment” and
presents lease liabilities separately in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

As a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception
whether each lease is a finance lease or an operating lease. A lease
is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks
and rewards incidental to the ownership of an underlying assets
to the lessee. If this is not the case, the lease is classified as an
operating lease.

The rental income from operating leases is recognised in
accordance with note 1(v)(iii).

Credit losses and impairment of assets
Credit losses from financial instruments and lease receivables

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLs”) on the following items:

— financial assets measured at amortised cost (including cash
and cash equivalents and trade and other receivables); and

—  lease receivables.

Financial assets measured at fair value, including equity securities
designated at FVOCI (non-recycling) and derivative financial assets,
are not subject to the ECL assessment.
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 1.

....... (continued) ‘' ' ... AN NEALER AR 1Y

() Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued) a

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and lease receivables i)
(continued)

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit
losses are measured as the present value of all expected cash
shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive).

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

— 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are expected to result
from possible default events within the 12 months after the
reporting date; and

— lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected to result from
all possible default events over the expected lives of the items
to which the ECL model applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs. ECLs on these financial assets are
estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors and an assessment of both the current and forecast general
economic conditions at the reporting date.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises a loss
allowance equal to 12-month ECLs unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk of the financial instrument since
initial recognition, in which case the loss allowance is measured at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date with any changes
recognised as an impairment gain or loss in the profit or loss. The
Group recognises an impairment gain or loss with a corresponding
adjustment to the carrying amount of the financial instruments
through a loss allowance account.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset or lease receivable
is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent that there is no
realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the
asset becomes 365 days past due or when the Group determines
that the debtor does not have assets or sources of income that
could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to
the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously written off
are recognised as a reversal of impairment in profit or loss in the
period in which the recovery occurs.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-_=F=A=1+—RLLFE (K E&Tit)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 1.
....... (continued) . ... SiSSi¢ESYRISRIRtEINT ECIE R,
Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued) (1))

(i)

Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period to identify indications that the following
assets may be impaired or an impairment loss previously recognised
no longer exists or may have decreased:

other property, plant and equipment, including right-of-use
assets (other than investment properties carried at revalued
amounts);

intangible assets; and

investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures in the Company’s
statement of financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. In addition, for intangible assets that have indefinite useful
lives, the recoverable amount is estimated annually whether or not
there is any indication of impairment.

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its fair
value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset. Where an asset does not
generate cash inflows largely independent of those from other
assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the smallest
group of assets that generates cash inflows independently (i.e.
a cash-generating unit). A portion of the carrying amount of a
corporate asset (for example, head office building) is allocated
to an individual cash-generating unit if the allocation can be
done on a reasonable and consistent basis, or to the smallest
group of cash-generating units if otherwise.

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if the carrying
amount of an asset, or the cash-generating unit to which it
belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses
recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated
to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit
(or group of units) on a pro rata basis, except that the carrying
value of an asset will not be reduced below its individual fair
value less costs of disposal (if measurable) or value in use (if
determinable).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 3R R B A

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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(i)

(m)

(n)

—E_=F=-A=+—B8IFE (ETFH)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)
Impairment of other assets (continued)
—  Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a favourable
change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’'s
carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals of
impairment losses are credited to profit or loss in the year in
which the reversals are recognised.

Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost formula and
comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other
costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories
is recognised as an expense in the period in which the related
revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-down of inventories
to net realisable value and all losses of inventories are recognised as
an expense in the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount
of any reversal of any write-down of inventories is recognised as a
reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense in
the period in which the reversal occurs.

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration. A right to receive consideration is
unconditional if only the passage of time is required before payment
of that consideration is due. If revenue has been recognised before
the Group has an unconditional right to receive the consideration,
the amount is presented as a contract asset.

Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component are initially measured at their transaction price. Trade
receivables that contain a significant financing component and other
receivables are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs.
All receivables are subsequently stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method and including allowance for credit losses
(see note 1()(i)).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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(p)

(@

(r)

(s
(@)

T_=F=A=+—HIFE (L& xs)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any
difference between the amount initially recognised and redemption
value being recognised in profit or loss over the period of the
borrowings, together with any interest and fees payable, using the
effective interest method.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value.
Subsequent to initial recognition, trade and other payables are
stated at amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at invoice amounts.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
non-refundable consideration before the Group recognises the
related revenue (see note 1(v)). A contract liability would also be
recognised if the Group has an unconditional right to receive
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue. In
such cases, a corresponding receivable would also be recognised
(see note 1(n)).

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and
short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value, having been within three months of maturity
at acquisition. For the purposes of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash equivalents exclude bank deposits with a maturity
of more than three months when placed. Cash and cash equivalents
are assessed for ECL in accordance with the policy set out in note

1000
Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits and contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of non-monetary
benefits are accrued in the year in which the associated services are
rendered by employees. Where payment or settlement is deferred
and the effect would be material, these amounts are stated at their
present values.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 3R R B A

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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—E_=F=-A=+—B8IFE (ETFH)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Employee benefits (continued)
Long service payments

The Group’s net obligations in respect of long service payments
are the amounts of future benefits that employees have earned in
return for their services in the current and prior periods, calculated in
accordance with the relevant laws.

Share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to employees is recognised
as an employee cost with a corresponding increase in a capital
reserve within equity. The fair value is measured at grant date
using the binomial lattice model, taking into account the terms
and conditions upon which the options were granted. Where the
employees have to meet vesting conditions before becoming
unconditionally entitled to the options, the total estimated fair value
of the options is spread over the vesting period, taking into account
the probability that the options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share options that is
expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting adjustment to the
cumulative fair value recognised in prior years is charged/credited to
profit or loss for the year of the review, unless the original employee
expenses qualify for recognition as an asset, with a corresponding
adjustment to the capital reserve. On vesting date, the amount
recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number
of options that vest (with a corresponding adjustment to the capital
reserve) except where forfeiture is only due to not achieving vesting
conditions that relate to the market price of the Company’s shares.
The equity amount is recognised in the capital reserve until either the
option is exercised (when it is included in the amount recognised in
share capital for the shares issued) or the option expires (when it is
released directly to retained profits).

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when the Group
can no longer withdraw the offer of these benefits and when it
recognises restructuring costs involving the payment of termination
benefits.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss
except to the extent that they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the
relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for
the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end
of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect
of previous years.

E =t Bk (A7)

B E B A (&)
R IR 5 2

A 4R A = 00 IR BS B AT 5 R AR A B
5 A BT A 0 T B o A B e 4R AR AR 5 P
i B 2 R AR AR P R

(iii) BB 3K

B 718 B 2 0 i 4k o o 18 (E R A R
HOA > T HE 45 2 B ol 4 I A R 4
e 2 BRI T B O IE R
BEA TR - S SO R R T R
T o SR AR B ZHAT 4 B R 1R A A A R
A WO R KE T R i R R
AT REMEAR o M BORE 2 A RO o8 (E AR R
B 15 H A B 0 A 43 o

R B g 0 [ TRV O
Frhgat o WM 1E 4F B 7l AR 2 AR AT R 5h A
EREEEE R K S WS E A
B IR A R BB S A Tl D A O AN TS
i o T S A ik M 1R A T R o R B
B MR8 A B S 2 B g fE iR >
J 1 i i B e W 2 B PR O T e A il
TRE VAR E TR ) > e i 2 WS TR A B A
SRLAS % W) B A i B AT B < B A A B
iy o MeA BB BA A R HE
G P M R AT (O R AT MM B A B
RE Tl 2y S A ) I T T (A B
S EEBARE M) Bk -

(iv) #1320 #i 7

9]

1L 2 U AR M) Y e R AR S ) Rk B
7 S A ) B Bl R R AR AL AR LA
AT R R AE (LR B YE) o

P 13 Bt

7R A BE T A5 DAL A A ) B TE KO S B JH
FE AN B AR S B o A BLIE MR I BUH K
A 45 G A B A 48 i N AR T o LA L
At 4 T Wi i B L 36 S HE 4 A0 e RE 2 JH H A
B & BR AL AEBUE DL T > AR B B 23
L A 2 T Wi A B L S B AR A AR

A B0 JE R 2 A A JEE I B i 4 % R & 5 H
CHTREE EERTBREFHE R ENE
FHBLIE > b DA 45 B2 HE A5 B JE 9 AE e 38
o

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED RATHRKA BA 5]

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 £ #



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and taxable
temporary differences respectively, being the differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from
unused tax losses and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities, and
all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profits will be available against which the asset can be
utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that may support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences include those that will arise from the reversal of existing
taxable temporary differences, provided those differences relate
to the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and
are expected to reverse either in the same period as the expected
reversal of the deductible temporary difference or in periods into
which a tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried
forward. The same criteria are adopted when determining whether
existing taxable temporary differences support the recognition of
deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and credits, that
is, those differences are taken into account if they relate to the same
taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected to
reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be
utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and
liabilities are those temporary differences arising from the initial
recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor
taxable profit (provided they are not part of a business combination),
and temporary differences relating to investments in subsidiaries
to the extent that, in the case of taxable differences, the Group
controls the timing of the reversal and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case of
deductible differences, unless it is probable that they will reverse in
the future.

Where investment properties are carried at their fair value in
accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 1(h), the
amount of deferred tax recognised is measured using the tax rates
that would apply on sale of those assets at their carrying value at
the reporting date unless the property is depreciable and is held
within a business model whose objective is to consume substantially
all of the economic benefits embodied in the property over time,
rather than through sale. In all other cases, the amount of deferred
tax recognised is measured based on the expected manner of
realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and
liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
discounted.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Income tax (continued)

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and is reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available
to allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction
is reversed to the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of dividends
are recognised when the liability to pay the related dividends is
recognised.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements
therein, are presented separately from each other and are not
offset. Current tax assets are offset against current tax liabilities,
and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the Group
has the legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and the following additional conditions are met:

— in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the Group
intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either:

—  the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each future period
in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities
or assets are expected to be settled or recovered,
intend to realise the current tax assets and settle the
current tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and settle
simultaneously.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the
time value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability
of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Provisions and contingent liabilities (continued)

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision
is expected to be reimbursed by another party, a separate asset is
recognised for any expected reimbursement that would be virtually
certain. The amount recognised for the reimbursement is limited to
the carrying amount of the provision.

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises from the
sale of goods, the provision of services or the use by others of the
Group’s assets under leases in the ordinary course of the Group’s
business.

The Group is the principal for its revenue transactions and
recognises revenue on a gross basis. In determining whether the
Group acts as a principal or as an agent, it considers whether it
obtains control of the products before they are transferred to the
customers. Control refers to the Group’s ability to direct the use
of and obtain substantially all of the remaining benefits from the
products.

The Group takes advantage of the practical expedient in paragraph
63 of HKFRS 15 and does not adjust the consideration for any
effects of a significant financing component if the period of financing
is 12 months or less.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income recognition
policies are as follows:

Revenue from contracts with customers
()  Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service
is transferred to the customer at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected to be entitled,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties
such as value added tax or other sales taxes.

Revenue from other sources and other income

(i)  Processing service income, management fee income and
commission income

Processing service income, management fee income and
commission income are recognised when the relevant services
are rendered.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 3R R B A

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-_=F=A=1+—RILFE (WK ETit)

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(v) Revenue and other income (continued)

Revenue from other sources and other income (continued)

(i)

(i)

(v)

(vi)

Property rental income

Rental income receivable under operating leases is recognised
in profit or loss in equal instalments over the periods covered
by the lease term, except where an alternative basis is more
representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from
the use of the leased asset. Lease incentives granted are
recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of the aggregate
net lease payments receivable. Variable lease payments that do
not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as income in
the accounting period in which they are earned.

Dividends

Dividend income from unlisted investments is recognised when
the shareholder’s right to receive payment is established.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues under the effective
interest method using the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial
asset to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset.
For financial assets measured at amortised cost that are
not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is applied to
the gross carrying amount of the asset. For credit-impaired
financial assets, the effective interest rate is applied to
the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of loss
allowance) of the asset (see note 1(l)(i).

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement of financial
position initially when there is reasonable assurance that
they will be received and that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them. Grants that compensate the
Group for expenses incurred are recognised as income in profit
or loss on a systematic basis in the same periods in which the
expenses are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HE—

(x)

(\2]

T_=F=A=+—HIFE (L& xs)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Translation of foreign currencies

[tems included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s
subsidiaries are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (“the functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional and
presentation currency.

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting
period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Non-monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair
value are translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
dates the fair value was measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the exchange rates approximating the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Statement
of financial position items are translated into Hong Kong dollars
at the closing foreign exchange rates at the end of the reporting
period. The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately in equity in the
exchange reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of the
exchange differences relating to that foreign operation is reclassified
from equity to profit or loss when the profit or loss on disposal is
recognised.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred.

Non-current assets held for sale

A non-current asset (or disposal group) is classified as held for sale
if it is highly probable that its carrying amount will be recovered
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use and
the asset (or disposal group) is available for sale in its present
condition. A disposal group is a group of assets to be disposed
of together as a group in a single transaction, and liabilities
directly associated with those assets that will be transferred in the
transaction.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss of control
of a subsidiary, all the assets and liabilities of that subsidiary are
classified as held for sale when the above criteria for classification as
held for sale are met, regardless of whether the Group will retain a
non-controlling interest in the subsidiary after the sale.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 3R R B A

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-_=F=A=1+—RILFE (WK ETit)

(z)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Non-current assets held for sale (continued)

Immediately before classification as held for sale, the measurement
of the non-current assets (and all individual assets and liabilities
in a disposal group) is brought up-to-date in accordance with
the accounting policies before the classification. Then, on initial
classification as held for sale and until disposal, the non-current
assets (except for certain assets as explained below), or disposal
groups, are recognised at the lower of their carrying amount
and fair value less costs to sell. The principal exceptions to this
measurement policy so far as the financial statements of the
Group and the Company are concerned are deferred tax assets,
assets arising from employee benefits, financial assets (other than
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures) and
investment properties. These assets, even if held for sale, would
continue to be measured in accordance with the policies set out
elsewhere in note 1.

Impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale, and on
subsequent remeasurement while held for sale, are recognised in
profit or loss. As long as a non-current asset is classified as held for
sale, or is included in a disposal group that is classified as held for
sale, the non-current asset is not depreciated or amortised.

Related parties

(1) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related
to the Group if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or the Group’s parent.

(2) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)  The entity and the Group are members of the same group
(which means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a
group of which the other entity is a member).

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

(y)

(z)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-_=F=A=1+—RLLFE (K E&Tit)

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
....... (continued) . ... SSSIRESVISSRIRRERIAYS OIS
(z) Related parties (continued)

(2) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies: (continued)
(v The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (1).
(vi) A person identified in (1)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(vii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to the

Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced
by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

(aa) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purposes of allocating resources to, and
assessing the performance of, the Group’s various lines of business
and geographical locations.

REVENUE

The principal activities of the Group are the manufacture and sale of
garments and textiles, provision of processing services and rental of
properties.

Revenue represents the invoiced value of goods supplied to
customers, processing service income and rental income.
Disaggregation of revenue by category is analysed as follows:

1. EEEH R (A7)
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(2 —MEEBWMAFSALMTF SR 8
RARAEEZBENL - ()
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o AL ] HE 1 o
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AR BN ZEE (36
HEGAF) TEEMABRAZ
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(vii)

(viii) 1] 74 4 [ s A 4 1 B 2w 4R A E
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LB ZALMEE AR -

8 AN = B B2 OBL B BB TS 45 W88
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(aa) 2 ¥ W H

KR8 73 I B o 5 i R BT B B 4% 20 R IH
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HTUE

2023 2022
$°000 $'000
T For
Under the scope of HKFRS 15, TRDE 77 2 I 5 3R 7 i S 1598 -
Revenue from contracts with customers: FKHEFELH WA TR -
- Manufacture and sale of garments — BRI B K 353,327 362,881
— Manufacture and sale of textiles — W N 8 B AR 4,987 11,368
- Processing service income — I TR i A 1,449 10,139
. %9763 384,388
Under the scope of HKFRS 16, Leases: HLYE 7 5 1 5 3 S0 v W) 481 658 o
BIEWGHE N -
Gross rentals from investment properties &y fiesms 0000000 598 6,058
365,761 390,446
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 3R R B A

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HE_ZT_=F=A=+—HItFE L&)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by
geographic markets is disclosed in note 10(c).

The Group’s customer base is diversified. For the year ended
31 March 2023, revenues of approximately $53,668,000 (2022:
$70,483,000 and $60,205,000) is derived from one (2022: two)
external customer with whom transactions have exceeded 10% of
the Group’s revenue. These revenues are attributable to the sales of
garments. Details of the concentrations of credit risk arising from the
customers are set out in note 27(a).

The Group applies the practical expedient in paragraph 121(a) of
HKFRS 15 and does not disclose information about revenue that the
Group will be entitled to when it satisfies the remaining performance
obligations arising from contracts with customers in existence at the
reporting date that had an original expected duration of one year or

WA (%)

S TR e B N NG T 8 S
B EE10(c) °

AEEZEFEREZ TN - B E
FOEFE=ZHA=Z+—HIEFE L
53,668,0007C (— % — — 4 : 70,483,000
J6 5%60,205,00000) MU A IR H — 4 (—
FF WA NREF  MEZEEFN
SEEFY B AEBIA Z10% - AL
ABE R RARESE - HZEF I mal &2 F
A7 B B 1) S TP UL A 8 B AE B sE27 () -

A S L O 1 7 B 5 9 5 1 UL 551 595
121(a) B 2 7T 47 B J7 3% » 3 o 3 85 A0
P45 B 17 SRR A B A7 A 0 % 4 40 28 2 )
S804 L 4 35 5 I A S AT 79 0O A 2
BB 5 % 4 09 J5 AR T 0 R S — 4 s

less. 5 o
....... OTHERNETINCOME 3 JwesEs .
2023 2022
TR A -
$°000 $'000
T T
Interest income DSy E 4,254 325
Scrap income JE Bk 5 1,301 619
Net (loss)/gain on forward foreign AN & 4 (B3 48) /i 25 7 4
exchange contracts (341) 534
Net exchange loss T 5, 5 48 1% 41 (976) (478)
Release of lease liabilities upon early P £ 1 E A R A B AL B A A
termination of leases 203 1,508
Government grants BT 4 B - 245
Management fee income RN E 780 780
Dividend income from equity securities % A o 2 S 2 515 494
Net gain on disposals of other property, ALY 2 - M R
plant and equipment G RE 462 466
Net claim income I AE i A 5 927 933
Net gain on disposal of subsidiaries L B O Je 2 ) i g V3 A
(note 18(e)) (1 7E18(e)) 1,683 640
Sundry income HAth I £ 3,678 3,053
12,486 9,119
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 7% 3R 2 MY =E

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-_=F=A=1+—RLLFE (K E&Tit)

4. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 4. BB OE#l) &M
(Loss)/profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting): FRBLHT (B518) A 2Bk, (GE4R) ¢
2023 2022
$°000 $'000
T FT
(@) Finance costs (a) WhERA
Interest on bank advances SRAT BAFOREL
(including bank charges) (BLHEERATE M) 1,584 1,803
Interest on lease liabilities (note 18(c)) HE a2 AR (H718(c) 16 1,305
1,600 3,108
(b) Staff costs** (b) B LA
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TE K H A AR A 59,347 95,808
Contributions to defined S A FOR IR E] 3] 4R Re
contribution retirement schemes” 4,613 5,762
(Reversal of)/provision for employee 1 B 4% A 2 R (43 l) 7
benefits, net (note 25) BB (Wt 7E25) (3,321) 5,030
60,639 106,600
(c) Other operating expenses (c) Hibmafm
Reversal of impairment losses on 185 [n] 1 WA R I (EL M 1R
trade receivables (note 27(a)) (Htit27(a) (1,873) (567)
Bad debt written off SR 33 -
Auditors’ remuneration %% S i P
- audit services - R R B 1,431 1,444
— other services — HoAth R B 448 485
Security fee 1R 2 1,458 2,038
Insurance R B 1,492 1,595
Consultancy fee RS 1] 835 880
Repair and maintenance fee A& I R 1,036 920
Other taxes and surcharges At A T R B o 1,768 1,703
Legal and professional fee TR EHEST 135 2,222
Motor vehicle expenses TRHLBH S 555 609
Membership fee o 5 494 451
Business and other registration fees PR 3860 S A s T 2 386 398
Amortisation of intangible assets (note 12) Y G (Mt 12) 95 95
Donation =R 10 11
Written off of other receivables T B L A 1 iRk - 186
Sundry expenses A TH S 2,362 1,666
10,665 14,136
(d) Other items (d) HpbwEH
Cost of inventories’ B A 294,064 329,819
Depreciation charges’ (note 11) Pregt (faE11)
— owned property, plant and equipment - BEWE - W R 667 993
— right-of-use assets — R 2,768 3,843
Rentals receivable from investment 1 5 2 R L 4
properties less direct outgoings of I E % 37 H11,221,0000C
$1,221,000 (2022: $1,114,000) (== —4: 1,114,0005E) (4,777) (4,944)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 3R R B A

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HE_ZT_=F=A=+—HItFE L&)

4. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (continued) 4.

#

Cost of inventories includes $18,042,000 (2022: $52,174,000) relating
to staff costs and depreciation, which amount is also included in the
respective total amounts disclosed separately above or in note 4(b) for each
of these types of expenses.

In 2023, the Group successfully applied for funding support from the
Employment Support Scheme under the Anti-epidemic Fund, set up by
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region Government. The purpose of the
funding is to provide financial support to employers to retain their current
employees or hire more employees when the business revives. Under the
terms of the grant, the Group is required to employ a sufficient number of
employees with reference to its proposed employee headcounts in each
subsidy month. The Group has recognised the subsidies of $2,600,000
as a deduction of the staff costs included in cost of sales, selling and
distribution expenses and administrative expenses during the year ended
31 March 2023.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had no forfeited contributions available to
reduce its contributions to the pension schemes in future years (2022: $Nil).

5. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
....... STATEMENT OF PROFIT ORLOSS . . ..
(a) Income tax in the consolidated statement of profit or loss represents:

S.

B BE i (s 1)k A (AT)

R AR B TR KA 5 o A B E
4£18,042,0007C (— % = —4F : 52,174,000
J6) o A7 B HIR O R ATE B 30O BT 4 R 2
# JE AT B 2T I AR SKE REA (D) o

. A TE AR AR A R T R A AR R AT
L1 IR 5 ST 9 57 958 0 4k 26 S AR
M B - s B B R B R R A s 1R )
PR AR B - SO R R R 5 T -
AR A5 5% A A M R o A AR T 0 2 2 g 8 Al G
A akE B NBURE R R WA IR E - &
BEOECZHEZA=ZF—HIEEE AEHE
582,600,000 70 i {ili & F 15 411 Bk €2 35 76 &5
B~ B R e R ATEE AR B T
AR

MREEZ =A== 0 AR ED
T3t KT LA 10 A 2R 4T B AR AR R
R (CFE__FFx) -

B A 48 2 3 P s W B 14 Bt

(a) B4 2 5 PR W i 14 BE 2y

2023 2022
$°000 $'000
T For
Current tax - Hong Kong Profits Tax AAE BT — 5 W F A B
Provision for the year A A TE B 2,496 -
Over-provision in respect of prior years DA 4F B R AR A A - (16)
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 249 (16)
Current tax - Overseas AAE B — B8 Ab
(Credit/provision for the year  AMEBUAGER) CEM (946) 1,251
Deferred tax YE % B
Origination and reversal of temporary BT R 22 S AR B A )
_ differences 1,200 155
Income tax expenses Fr A5 L 2 H 2,751 1,390

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2023 was calculated
at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profits for the year ended
31 March 2023, except for one subsidiary of the Group which is a
qualifying corporation under the two-tiered Profits Tax rate regime.
For this subsidiary, the first $2 million of assessable profits are taxed
at 8.25% and the remaining assessable profits are taxed at 16.5%.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made for the
year ended 31 March 2022 as the Company and its Hong Kong
subsidiaries sustained losses for taxation purpose during the year.

Taxation for subsidiaries outside Hong Kong is charged at the
appropriate current rates of taxation ruling in the relevant countries.

CECCFERBAGRBMEEREE
CEC=EFEEZA=+—HIEEZ S
JE BE B i R LA16.5% M Bl Rt B M &
I A5 B WY A A A AR S — R A
(S A /NN = 4 R =]
2,000,000 C#%8.25% = Bl F 5t B K F 1E
SR A 1516.5% 2 Bl K EHE o

F A A 2 ) R H A o A o R AR K Bk A
BEE S EEE —F - " F=A
=+ — Bk A AR B B

A 5T 41 B 2 W) 2 B IE A DA B B K0
M2z BAaBRRGH -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 3R R B A

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE_Z-_=F=H=1+—RBI5FE (L¥Ers)

S. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 51

(b) Reconciliation between tax expenses and accounting (loss)/profit at

B £ 4L 26 % o s Y i 45 8L (A4F)

(b) BEECZ A AT O 1) 8 4238 1 Bt %

applicable tax rates: wHSEME IR -
2023 2022
$°000 $'000
T Fr
(Loss)/profit before taxation BRBL AT (k5 15) i A1 (20,498) 31,664
Notional tax on (loss)/profit before taxation, 4 M B 1B 2 90 A (s 48 ik
calculated at the rates applicable to ZBLRGIE B AT 18)
(losses)/profits in the countries concerned Y A 1 44 F Bl IH (8,353) 13,471
Tax effect of share of (losses)/profits of joint  MEAL & B2 (ER) & A 1)
ventures Tl I 52 22 9,799 (10,947)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses ASET 19k 7 H 1 B TH R 2 720 550
Tax effect of non-taxable income YEZEFIBLCA I B I 52 28 (3,855) (1,793)
Tax effect of previously unrecognised AF N P AR I A e SRR
tax losses utilised during the year T 5 19 o I S 2 (887) =
Tax effect of unused tax losses I e w8 A Bl )BT M 4R Y
not recognised Bl T 5 - 252
Over-provision in respect of prior years D A 32 88 A A - (16)
Others oAty 327 (127)
Actual tax expenses B IF S 2,751 1,390

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED £{L® &4 B4
ANNUAL REPORT 2023 £ 1
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 7% R 2 MY =E

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-_=F=A=1+—RILFE (WK ETit)

6. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS = 6 H¥FEME
Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the R 5 A5 W 2\ 6 11 35 383 (1) ke S /A w1 (i
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies 7 A i R KD 2828 2 B T 4
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are BZERMEeWT
as follows:

Salaries, allowances and Retirement scheme
Directors fees benefits in kind Discretionary bonuses contributions Total
i Fa& R AHA L L SE L it

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
D%CEE CFCooF ZBDSE CFCCF ZZB0SE CFCCF ZF0EE CZ-CE ZR0=E CF0CE
$000 $:000 $000 $:000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
i Tz i I i Tr i Tz i Tz

Executive directors Y

Mr. Chan Wing Fui, Peter Bk EEE 40 40 1,338 1338 - - - - 1,378 1378
Mr. Chan Wing Kes RS 40 40 676 676 - - - - 716 716
Mr. Chan Wing To BB 40 40 - - - - - - 40 40
Ms. Chan Suk Man Bt 40 40 815 815 - - - - 855 855
Mr. Chan Wing Sun, Samuel Bk &6k 40 40 - - - - - - 40 40
Ms. Chan Suk Ling, Shidey /AR #% %t 40 40 - = - S - 5 40 4

Independent non-executive B3 FEB AT # S

directors
Mr. Choi Ting Ki BRALE 130 130 - - - - - - 130 130
Mr. So Stephen Hon Cheung ki % bk 130 130 - - - - - - 130 130
Mr. Li Guangming iyt 130 130 - - - - - - 130 130

630 630 2,829 2,829 - - - - 3,459 3,459

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED £{LR &4 B4
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 7% 3R 2 MY =E

For the year ended 31 March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE—T_=F=A=t+—R.LFE (L&)

7. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST 7.
EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, one (2022:
one) is director whose emoluments is disclosed in note 6. The
emoluments of the four individuals (2022: four individuals) for the
year ended 31 March 2023 are as follows:

S N

RN EREZ AN LR —f (ZFE
oo — ) B - H B R M sk
WiE e T =F=A=+—HIL¥E
BEDUr N (T AR A A ) 2 B
ST

2023 2022
SRR - S

$’000 $’000

T For

Salaries and other emoluments 4 K H At i 4 4,805 4,705
Discretionary bonuses [LERIR (AN 660 550
Retirement scheme contributions FERA N RE e 210 210
5,675 5,465

The emoluments of the four individuals (2022: four individuals) with
the highest emoluments are within the following bands:

PO 7 5 o B 4 N o (0 AR PO A
£) BB A S R

2023 2022
—g-= ot St
$1,000,001 to $1,500,000 1,000,001 G % 1,500,000 7C 2 2
$1,500,001 to $2,000,000 1,500,001 G %2,000,000 /¢ 2 2
4 4

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED RiT8&45 B4 [
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 7% R 2 MY =E

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-_=F=A=1+—RILFE (WK ETit)

8. .OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME = 8 Jfbzwmi¥es
(a) Tax effects relating to each component of other comprehensive (a)  FUfib 2 v G 2% 1 45 A0 106308 0y 1) BE 5 5 4
income
2023 2022
CRIEA e S
Before Net Before Net
tax of tax tax of tax
amount  Tax effect amount amount  Tax effect amount
BRI BEE® BERSE REAeE  RERE REESE
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

7 TR TE TR TR TE

Exchange differences JE
on translation of:
- financial statements of subsidiaries - HLE & k5 M B A 7

outside Hong Kong M IRE (2,908) - (2,908) 4,196 = 419
- share of joint ventures’ net assets - MEBIEAEAEAEIFH (34,565 - (34,565) 18,625 = 18,625
(37,473) - (@141 22,821 - 22,821
Release of exchange reserve upon FE B — I8 A 7 3t
deregistration of a subsidiary SISt - - - 283 - 283
Release of exchange reserve upon oF 5 O R
disposal of subsidiaries ZGHE ji s 1,936 - 1,936 427 = 497
Equity investments at FVOCI: BRI 2 s A TR
net movement In the investment Nl Tt
revaluation reserve (non-recycling) BE R HHEDTH
(RTEE) (347) - (347) 753 - 753
Surplus on revaluation of land and TR TR R GEET
buldings transfer to investment REME
property 1,459 - 1,459 - - -
Other comprehensive income Kb 21 s (34,425) - (34,425) 24,284 = 24,284
(b) Components of other comprehensive income, including (b) il 2 vii W 23 0 2 By (4 65 587 2 S8
reclassification adjustments #)
2023 2022
2= = S
$°000 $'000
T T T

Equity investments measured at FVOCI: DL 3 3 Ll 4 i VG 2% 3 A 1L

ARk 2 B R 0 B
Changes in fair value recognised during A TR FfE R R (5 )
the year (347) 753

Net movement in the investment revaluation — 4F A H: Al 4 i i 25 52 1Y
reserve (non-recycling) during the year 5 & AL G O m] g e
recognised in other comprehensive income kRS (847) 753

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED £{LR &4 B4
ANNUAL REPORT 2023 £ 1



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-_=F=A=1+—RLLFE (K E&Tit)

(b)

(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic (loss)/earnings per share

The calculation of basic (loss)/earnings per share is based on the
loss attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of the Company
of $23,249,000 (2022: profit of $30,665,000) and the weighted
average number of 206,748,000 (2022: 206,748,000) ordinary
shares in issue during the year.

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share

The diluted (loss)/earnings per share is the same as the basic (loss)/
earnings per share as there were no dilutive potential ordinary
shares in existence during the years ended 31 March 2023 and
2022.

. SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group manages its business by divisions. In a manner
consistent with the way in which information is reported internally to
the Group’s most senior executive management for the purposes
of resource allocation and performance assessment, the Group has
presented the following three reportable segments. No operating
segments have been aggregated to form the following reportable
segments:

—  Manufacture and sale of garments and textiles: this segment
covers the manufacture and sale of garment and textile
products, and provision of garment processing services.

— Interests in joint ventures: the Group’s joint ventures engage in
the manufacture and sale of textile yarn products.

—  Property leasing: this segment leases commercial and industrial
premises to generate rental income.

(b)

B () B

B RE A O ) %A

B REA (BIE) & A TR EE R
NN N & S BN R T <
#23,249,0007C ( = F — T 4E ¢ i A
30,665,00070) & 4F N © 347 % 4 i 2
HEF 34 $7206,748,000/8 (& — 4 :
206,748,000%) w5 -

BB O 8 A

BE_F_ =LK _F__F=A=1—
H k45 > A0 7] 300 48 B A 78 1 38 1 AE
2B WO A (R R A
IR k5 1R) B AR -

A S5 1 DAy B A 8 B H ZE S o A AR I L 1)
AEMRETBEENE NI EBER (5
Oy BB IR R wP A R B — B X 2L
T = ARE T B I o A 4 S S AT AT
KB A wE LU BT 51 H T 2k

- B R UK BB AR Y e T
5 B B A5 AR L B A o e 4R
PR A I TR %5 o

- AEhEMELG AEEeELERSE
MR BB BT B A R B o

- WEAHEE: WA R T
F LA O 4 Wi g -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 3R R B A

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HE_ZT_=F=A=+—HItFE L&)

(a) Segment results, assets and liabilities

(a)

10.

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and allocating
resources between segments, the Group’s senior executive
management monitors the results, assets and liabilities attributable
to each reportable segment on the following bases:

Manufacture and sale of garments and textiles and property leasing
segments

Segment assets include all assets with the exception of intangible
assets, other financial assets, deferred tax assets, current tax
recoverable and other corporate assets. Segment liabilities include
all liabilities managed directly by the segments with the exception
of current tax payable, deferred tax liabilities and other corporate
liabilities.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable segments
with reference to revenue generated by those segments and the
expenses incurred by those segments or which otherwise arise
from the depreciation or amortisation of assets attributable to those
segments.

The measure used for reporting segment profit/loss is “adjusted
EBITDA” i.e. “adjusted earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation
and amortisation”, where “interest” is regarded as including
investment income and finance cost and “depreciation and
amortisation” is regarded as including impairment losses on
non-current assets, depreciation and amortisation. To arrive at
adjusted EBITDA, the Group’s earnings are further adjusted for
items not specifically attributed to individual segments, such as net
valuation gains on investment properties, auditors’ remuneration
and other head office or corporate administration costs.

In addition to receiving segment information concerning adjusted
EBITDA, management is provided with segment information
concerning revenue (including inter-segment sales), interest income
and finance costs from cash balances and borrowings managed
directly by the segments, depreciation, amortisation and additions
to non-current segment assets used by the segments in their
operations. Inter-segment sales are priced with reference to prices
charged to external parties for similar orders.

Interests in joint ventures

The Group’s interests in joint ventures are accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements under the equity method, and
presented as a separate reportable segment. The Group’s senior
executive management reviews the post-tax result of the interests
in joint ventures, which is defined as the reportable segment
profit/loss for this particular segment. Reportable segment assets
represent the Group’s share of net assets of the joint ventures.
Revenue of joint ventures is not presented as reportable segment
revenue because it is not reviewed by the Group’s senior executive
management for resource allocation purposes.

7 W (A)

Vg B3 B0V SN

WP AG 0 TR R B B 4y L R E IR > A SR
FRATECE BN B DT R R KT
S WO B AR - HE R AR

T 3es B 5 65 e 4 T By 4k iy 2 ¥y % Bl 4T 4 7

NHEECMFEHAEE > BEAGLEREE
- HA M EE  REBIHEE - ATk
(o] A B JH B Fo A A SEE E o o B A
FmoMEREHN A Al BEAERE
JE AR A 0 B0 I ~ A0 S B I A R At A 3
AR -

3 BiL 2 AT 2 A3 R A WA B S R DL S
3 # BT 7 AR A WSO 0 S B R TE L o
W I A M B T R Y ST E e

FARS B o W A 1R 2w T
[ R BR A S ~ BLIH - 4785 R G 09 &
AL TR B 5 045 150 & Wi sk M Rl
A T T A R B ) LA JF R B B
9 Bk (B s 18 ~ I 8 B M o AE O TR
BRAFIE - BLIE - 47 8 K B T A 2 A
7 45 [ g At 7 e B e et R 9 2 2 JH E
(3] 4 45 5 Wy ¥ A B A i 4 R~ A SR <
Be Aty 58 e 2 0 B A 26 AT BURAS) i — 2
R Z A

PR AR TR FIE - BLE - TER
HESH T B R | 2 o> AR RS o B TR
BABRUA (BIFFFERHHEE) - B
AR R B Bl A R R R B R B
g KRR AR~ T G K o R E T
T E 2 IR R Y 2 B I ERL o 23 AR ]
5B E H T 2 % HAAME N L 2 B
AT B A% o

g

AW GBS B R 2
R B Rk AR WL — BT Bl
Gy BN o A SR M R AR AT BUE BN B 2 B
HEEEEENRBIR 2 ES  FERN
Oy R SE B 2T 2R W A R
AT 28 E AR E B
HEFHE N AEHRRITBERAR
WA FENGE AR EFEUAMNEEE D
Be > HL 8 8 B R A ZH T 2 3 B A B
N o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 7% 3R 2 MY =E

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-_=F=A=1+—RLLFE (K E&Tit)

10. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) . . . = | 10, Jr ¥l ()
(a) Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued) (a) iBEH - -EHERAMEHE)
Interests in joint ventures (continued) B A FEHEL ()
Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments as WE _FE=2FRFFE=ZA =4
provided to the Group’s most senior executive management for H k4R > 7 42 [ 2 1 5 A% 48 3 s 4T I
the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment RN = DR (R <8 o 1 S T B 1)
performance for the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022 is set AT EWMaIBERWMT ¢
out below:
Manufacture and sale of Interests in joint
garments and textiles ventures (Note) Property leasing Total
MRS ERK ABRLERR
REi% i) ¥R wit
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

- St S S S =t S S S =t S S S St S S
$000 8000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
i T Fi i i i i i

Revenue from external customers 4 F AN & F B A 359,763 384,388 - - 5,998 6,058 365,761 390,446
Inter-segment revenug L ES L TION - - - - 1,053 1,088 1,053 1,088
Reportable segment revenue T BHMAHHA 350,763 384,388 - = 7,051 7146 366814 391,534

Reportable segment profit/(loss) 77 % it A A/

(adjusted EBITDA) (BH) (HEAMRALA
CERER Y ]
&) 13,087 (11,831) (39,198) 43,788 6,611 6,812 (19,500) 38,769
Interest income fl B 4,254 325 - - - - 4,254 325
Finance costs BERE (1,600) (3,108 - - - - (1,600 (3,108
Depreciation and amortisation 47 R (3,530) (4931) - = - = (3,530) (4,931)
Reversal of impaiment losses i W JR 34 i L 8
on trade receivables 1,873 567 - - - - 1,873 567
Bad debt written off SRR 8 (33) = - = - = (33) =
Release of lease liabilities upon 4237 & I f & B
early termination of leases HEaE 203 1508 - - - - 203 1508
Reportable segment assets ¢ LM AWK E M5796 443561 515028 500493 293325 312436 1225044 1346490
Additions to non-current ERREE
segment assets during the year B A EE 6,692 17,176 - - - - 6,692 17,176
Reportable segment liabilities 7% 2 it /b ¥ £4 % 52,066 97,394 - S - = 52,066 97,394
Note: Mt -
Other financial information regarding the interests in joint ventures is disclosed in B A FERE AR 00 I M B RS R R B S4B ER -
note 14.

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED £{L® &4 B4
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 3R R B A

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HE_ZT_=F=A=+—HItFE L&)

(b)

Reconciliations of reportable segment revenues, profit or loss, assets

10. 73 W8 % & (A7)

(b) ZUT R WBOA ~ B R S - B

and liabilities B fa i 2 H Ik
2023 2022
$°000 $'000
F FT
Revenue WA
Reportable segment revenue JHT W ol A 366,814 391,534
Elimination of inter-segment revenue 3 SE s R e A A B3 B (1,053) (1,088)
Consolidated revenue AU 365,761 390,446
(Loss)/profit O ), A
Reportable segment (loss)/profit derived from 3 B £ [ 48 7 % 5 1978 T 2
the Group’s external customers 4330 U5 HR) /s A (3 11 Bk
(adjusted EBITDA) FILE ~ BLIE - $7 88 J 3 85 AT Y
A (19,500) 38,769
Finance costs Rl A (1,600) (3,108)
Interest income Bk 25 4,254 325
Depreciation and amortisation P8 I 4 6 (8,530) (4,931)
Net valuation gains on investment properties 4% &4 3 it {8 i %5 ¥ %8 1,562 4,048
Release of lease liabilities upon early P AT A% 1 B IR i B AL B A6
termination of leases 203 1,508
Net gain on disposal of subsidiaries 0 O A ) A VR AR 1,683 640
Unallocated head office and corporate Ko BHHET S A T
expenses (3,570) (5,587)
Consolidated (loss)/profit before taxation A BRBLRT (R518) s A (20,498) 31,664
Assets ¥
Reportable segment assets JET W o 1,225,044 1,346,490
Elimination of inter-segment assets a3 FE S R A BB (54,392) (73,632)
1,170,652 1,272,858
Intangible assets WY 2,605 2,700
Other financial assets HAth 4 i 19,824 20,209
Current tax recoverable AT (] A A i T - 1,031
Unallocated head office and corporate assets 4433 4438 e A 2 & & 340 520
Consolidated total assets ARG A 1,193,421 1,297,318
Liabilities fifi
Reportable segment liabilities AT 2 538 A 52,066 97,394
Current tax payable JE A A Al 1 14,730 14,247
Deferred tax liabilities A S B TH AL 15,603 15,228
Unallocated head office and corporate AR AT T A AR
liabilities 2,837 455
Consolidated total liabilities SEABAE 85,236 127,324
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-_=F=A=1+—RLLFE (K E&Tit)

10. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) . . . . . . 10. MW A

(¢) Geographic information (c) bk 23 %8 % B
The following table sets out information about the geographical TR A ()AL R F AR KT L
location of () the Group’s revenue from external customers and A Ry A EME W - A% - =
(i) the Group’s investment properties, other property, plant and R B FRAE B 2 B T il 55 - IE%
equipment and interest in leasehold land held for own use, intangible HERGECEM R (R REEE)
assets and interests in joint ventures (“specified non-current 14 |l [@ 53 35 ¥ RE o % 5 T A H e B2 it IR S
assets”). The geographical location of customers is based on ol Rk B M B I E o R R R B A P 4R
the location at which the services were provided or the goods - HAah - BB R & RRE
delivered. The geographical location of the specified non-current M2 &+ HHE2S - 7 76 R AR PR A
assets is based on the physical location of the asset, in the case BB A B A2 MR A e o Y
of investment properties, other property, plant and equipment bR A I A A ZERE RS T A b HI)
and interest in leasehold land held for own use, the location of LA S T B T A e

the operation to which they are allocated, in the case of intangible
assets, and the location of operations, in the case of interests in joint

ventures.
Revenue from Specified
external customers non-current assets
K H AR % P RBCA 5 Ik G ) B
2023 2022 2023 2022
TR TR FE
$°000 $'000 $°000 $'000
T T T Fi T T
Hong Kong (place of domicile) T v (A< 5 [ T 7E Hh) 10,095 17,974 247,844 245,962
Europe [l
- United Kingdom — i 82,561 72,383 - -
— Italy -l 35,091 71,882 - -
— Spain — PR 35,080 35,265 - -
— Germany — [ 79,282 80,116 - -
— Other European countries — HoAth R B K 11,241 12,588 = =
Mainland China R A 5,323 6,437 552,569 630,629
North America JuZE W
- United States —£H 54,992 41,387 - -
- Canada —mEK 2,882 1,385 - =
Others HAty 49,214 51,029 - 1,655

355,666 372,472 552,569 632,284

365,761 390,446 800,413 878,246
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 7% R 2 MY =E

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-_=F=A=1+—RILFE (WK ETit)

11. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND OTHER
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

11. %ﬁ%%&ﬁﬂb%% > BB Bk

82

(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount (a) i 4 3 MR
Ownership
interests in
land and Other Interest in
buildings ~ properties leasehold
held for  leased for ~ Plant and Other Investment land held ~ Construction
own use ownuse  machinery assets Sub-total | properties forownuse in progress Total
AN JRMRA AN
LRERTH  HEKAN ilRR ]
WHEES MR NRRRE  Ne%E At | BERE Bk fRIp it
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Tr i 7z r i Tr r i Tr
Cost or valuation: WA HA A :
A 1 April 2021 e S
MA—H 101,308 12,461 59,116 79,756 252,641 233,718 2,825 - 489,184
Exchange adjustments [ f. 4% 1,343 (381) 1,409 937 3,308 1,039 13 - 4,460
Additions e S 10,757 533 1,940 13,230 - - 3,946 17,176
Disposals & = (10,31) (11,582) (,77) (27,639 - - - (27,639)
Fair value adjustment A TB 5% - - - - - 4,048 - = 4,048
Reclassification to EHAERE
assets held for sale hEEE - (11,913 - (1,836) (18,749) - - (3,946) (17,69)
At 31 March 2022 L S
ZHZT-H 102,651 608 49,506 75,026 227,791 238,805 2,938 - 469,534
Representing: f#%:
Cost ik 78,885 608 49,506 75,026 204,025 - 2,938 - 206,963
Vialuation - 1988 {5l - = UANE 23,766 - - - 23,766 - - - 23,766
Vialuation - 2022 fhli-—%=2F = - - - - 238,806 - - 238,805
102,651 608 49,506 75,026 221,191 238,805 2,938 - 469,534
Costor valuation: ~ BABkffE :
At 1 Aprl 2022 RZEZZE
MA-A 102,651 608 49,506 75,026 221,191 238,805 2,938 - 469,534
Exchange adjustments [ 3% (2,508) 1,131 (4,781) (3,647) 9,809) (1,946) (213) = (11,964)
Transfer fromland and 20 R BT EAE
buildings to RN
investment properties (2,025) - - - (2,025) 1,765 - - (260)
Transfer from investment M KL d#% 5
propertes to land THREF
and buildings 1,253 - - - 1,253 (1,253 - - -
Additions e - 13 - 1475 1,488 - - 5,204 6,692
Disposals & - (1,454) (20,029) (8,936) (30,419 - - (5,204) 35,629)
Fair value adjustment ~ AT-([ER% 1459 = = = 1459 1562 = = 3,021
At 31 March 2023 e et 2
ZHE4-H 100,830 298 24,696 63918 189,742 238,933 2,725 - 431,400
Representing: f#%:
Cost i 77,064 298 24,696 63918 165,976 - 272 - 168,701
Valuation - 1988 il - — AR 23,766 - - - 23,766 - - - 23,766
Valuation - 2023 fhif-—F==k - - - - - | 2393 - - 238,933
100,830 298 24,696 63,918 189,742 238,933 2,125 - 431,400
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 7% 3R 2 MY =E

For the year ended 31 March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE_Z-_=F=H=1+—RBI5FE (L¥Ers)

11. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND OTHER
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Reconciliation of carrying amount (continued)

11. 8% 3% K e fb Py 2% ~ W B3 Bt
i (4)

(a) MR i {0 38 MR (4)

Ownership
interests in
and and Other Interest in
buildings  properties leasehold
heldfor leased for Plant and QOther Investment land held  Construction
own use ownuse  machinery assets Sub-total | properties  forownuse in progress Total
wEANz bk AN
LHRMTH  ENAN ER
BHEER AT RBARE  enE At | RERE R ERIR wit
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
i 7 7z r 7 7z 7 7 r
Accumulated amortisation, Hi-B4 ik}
depreciation and LK
impairment:
At 1 April 2021 RZFZ-ENf-R 57,821 12,162 58,953 76,878 205,820 - 1,629 - 207,449
Exchange adjustments B s 959 (356) 992 897 249 - 6 - 2558
Charge for the year KEERHRIE 2539 1,246 R 961 4778 E 58 E 483
Written back on disposals R - (10,316) (11,552) (,771) 27,639 - - - (27,639)
Reclassifcation to assets &AM A {E
held for sale hEEE - (2,386) = (337) [272) = = = (2729)
At 31 March 2022 '
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, SAZTCB B8 W0 4% Tee8 | 18 | - AT - | 18481
At 1 April 2022 REEZZENA-H 61,325 350 48,425 72,628 182,728 - 1783 - 184,481
Exchange adiustments [ 3% (1814) 1,183 (4,746) (3527) (8,934) - (127) - (9,061)
Tansferfomland and T REFERES
buldings to investment £ &#1%
properties (260) - - - (260) - - - (260)
Charge for the year KEERELIE 2,540 174 7 660 3381 = 54 = 343
Written back on disposals it & R - (1.454) (19,153) (8.473) 20,080) - - - (29,080)
At 31 March 2023 2
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, SREICR . ewe ws usm ee | mgs | - 1 - | 198t
Net book value: TR :
At31 March 2023 e S
ZRZ1-H 39,039 75 163 2,630 41,907 238,933 1,045 - 281,885
At 31 March 2022 RoFZZE
ZH=1-H 41,306 258 1,081 2,398 45,063 238,805 1185 - 285,063
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 7% R 2 MY =E

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-_=F=A=1+—RILFE (WK ETit)

11. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND OTHER 11. B &Y K I - B Kk
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT i (47)
....... (Continted) . AU SEIRIRET) |
(b) Fair value measurement of properties (b) P AT-RE
(i)  Fair value hierarchy (i) AT T %
The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s properties T 3 A kA A AR M b A5 H R AT
measured at the end of the reporting period on a recurring basis, EEFTENYE > WRTE GRS IR s e
categorised into the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined in B 251358 [ 2 P (H 7 & | i 5 2 1 A °F
HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement. The level into which a fair B o B A = RFA - AT EEF =
value measurement is classified is determined with reference to the SN 2 53 8 T A% A AE 5 v b B g 2 T
observability and significance of the inputs used in the valuation B EEEEE
technique as follows:
- Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1 - W AN E R OH A — ORI B
inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for 5 > RDAHE &2 o B R & R TS
identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date TS E AR ORPEF ) AREHE A
1 (H
- Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs - W THUNARE - B S A0 g
i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet Level 1, and not using B K BB AT & 58 — #% I 1) mT B R i
significant unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs AR & ROl 88 O o st A
for which market data are not available B o AN]SR BRI AR T
By & R Bk
- Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant - BB =N AE ¢ PR RN AT BAR
unobservable inputs ARG E AT EE
Fair value at
31 March Fair value measurements as at
2023 31 March 2023 categorised into
RO =4
ZA=Z4+—H MR- =F=ZJ=1—H
ZATRE AR R BUA YL F SN
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
BN e | WM
$°000 $°000 $°000 $°000
FIi FIi FIi FIi
Recurring fair value bR R AR =R
measurements
Investment properties: B"EWE
- Mainland China i PN 24,861 - - 24,861
- Hong Kong - s 214,072 - - 214,072

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED £{LR &4 B4
ANNUAL REPORT 2023 £ 1



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 3R R B A

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-_=F=A=1+—RLLFE (K E&Tit)

11. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND OTHER

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

11.

et/ Y BN R/E DY VU T
i (4)

....... (continued) L RIS, e
(b) Fair value measurement of properties (continued) (b) VWA TR R (4)
(i)  Fair value hierarchy (continued) (i) 2V 5% (4)
Fair value at
31 March Fair value measurements as at
2022 31 March 2022 categorised into
A
“H=+—H WN_EZZHF=H=+—H
2N A INCPAEE FT R BR LU U
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
%#:%&E’IJ ,ég:n& E’IJ %En& EIJ
$'000 $000 $000 $000
Fc T T
Recurring fair value BN HE A P R L
measurements
Investment properties: B"EWE
— Mainland China — H K 26,979 - - 26,979
- Hong Kong - s 211,826 - - 211,826

During the year ended 31 March 2023, there were no transfers
between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3
(2022: nil). The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers between
levels of fair value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period in
which they occur.

All of the Group’s investment properties were revalued as at 31
March 2023. The valuations of investment properties located in
Hong Kong and Mainland China were carried out by independent
firms of surveyors, Knight Frank Petty Limited and RHL Appraisal
Limited respectively, who have among their staff Fellows of the
Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors with recent experience in the
location and category of property being valued. The Group’s
management have discussion with the surveyors on the valuation
assumptions and valuation results when the valuation is performed
at the end of the reporting period.

BEEZ - "HF="H=1+—HIHE %
— B 5 AR A 2 [ SN A 0 2 = A%
O A B (T AR ) o ARAE
] ) B 5 S A T BT R N
5 5 B 2 1% o

AEBEMFABLEYER - F _=HF=H
=t — HEATEAY o 07 A Uk L b K B
Z BB 3E 0 A b B S B B A AT 1 A
B FE AT A BR 2 7] Bk M AT S (6 A FR
NEAEH A ZENEBMATZRE BT
HUEMEGEREG R WEMTEEYD
32 Mo B RS B Al M AR o AN H
HEAT Al (B o 4 P E OB R R AT R
sy il (L AR 8 S A A AR
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 3R R B A

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-_=F=A=1+—RILFE (WK ETit)

11. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND OTHER
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(b) Fair value measurement of properties (continued)

(ii) Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

11. %
i (4

(b) 30 2 F Ut B (4F)

R ICAb Y3 - BB Bt

)

(ii) 7 B 55 = B A T A it 5 1) 5

Valuation Unobservable Weighted
techniques inputs Range average
Wi D5 8 A B Bg i JmRE T 3 B
Investment properties # &%
— Mainland China il PN Market Adjusted RMB28,000 RMB29,600
comparison price per to RMB32,640 (2022:
approach sg. m. (2022: RMB29,800)
i 35 LR i3k Ik RMB29,100
PEEMEA% to RMB31,040)
- Hong Kong - His Income Average $9.1 $9.1
capitalisation market rent (2022: $9.0) (2022: $9.0)
approach per sq. ft.
Wi 75 & AR AL per month
A7 ) H
77 Wi B 4
Capitalisation 4% 4%
rate (2022: 4%) (2022: 4%)
AL

The fair value of investment properties located in Mainland China
is determined using market comparison approach by reference to
recent actual sales and/or asking price of comparable properties
on a price per square meter, adjusted for quality and location of the
buildings and income potential. Higher the value of adjusted price
will result in a higher fair value measurement.

The fair value of investment properties located in Hong Kong is
determined using income capitalisation approach by capitalising the
rent derived from the existing tenancies with reference to market
rent and the provision for any reversionary income potential. The
capitalisation rate used in income capitalisation approach has been
adjusted for the expected market rental growth, occupancy rate and
quality and location of the buildings. The fair value measurement is
positively correlated to the market rent and negatively correlated to
the risk-adjusted capitalisation rate.

Fair value adjustment of investment properties is recognised in
the line item “net valuation gains on investment properties” in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Exchange adjustment of investment properties is recognised in other
comprehensive income in “exchange reserve”.

All the gains recognised in profit or loss for the year arise from the
properties held at the end of the reporting period.

07 T K o ) 5 ) S 0 P (B (L TS 3R
AT 55 ek 2 3l 22 5 AT 3t b ) 36
UL BT T ok 2 R R e
PR SR WSS Y N €
S A T R o i R (R SRR A A B
B A EER R -

MR E BN BCEY RN P EETT &R
W g AL FERR R E o 3% O IR AR B B
AHAMHE S WS EA - 2 MAEH
& o DA KRR A R W) S LA U 4R W AR O AR
4 2 5 B o 5 WA & AL w3 BT
(9 ¥ A AL PE R EAR 98 B2 M T 00 T 3 TH AR
BRGSO AR T 0 - R B A
RIEHWE - A FHEEFRETEMS R
1E Lb B 4R - HL B By o B AR 19 B AR A b R
2B R o

BUEY) SR A EERB RS IRER
(DNES<¢/E SRRV EREE R NERL R T3
BB W 2 10 RE 50 59 B il AR At 2 T i 4R
W S fek ) -

A AE E A HH a 7R e SR I BT A R 2 AR A R
A B RA Y -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 7% 3R 2 MY =E

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HE—

Bo=F=A=+-AILFE WETH)

11. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND OTHER 11. B8 P 3% B Jefb vy 3k - W B3 B it
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT i (47)
....... (continued) . . L ORI, ... i s sesrassenssdat s e e
Right-of-use assets (c) 1 JH B % s
The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets by class of iz AF BE 7 43 R AT R 0 IR T Y
underlying asset is as follows: AR -
2023 2022
TR TSR . S
Note $°000 $000
Mtz T T
Ownership interests in leasehold land AT #E1E H H 2 FE T
and buildings held for own use, T MR 1 A HEME 22 (4%
carried at depreciated cost in Pres A IR 1 7 R AR
Hong Kong, with remaining lease BEWMRA T2 T4
term between 10 and 50 years 30,927 31,954
Ownership interests in buildings held A& S AMEE A A 2 5
for own use, carried at depreciated O HEE RERE 25 (42 4T 88 A
cost outside Hong Kong, with AT B B R i A T RR
remaining lease term between BT EH T
10 and 50 years 8,112 9,372
(i) 39,039 41,326
Interest in leasehold land held for FRVE B A 2 M T i b 43
own use (if) 1,045 1,185
Other properties leased for own use, HoAth 5 A 2 FH & Py 2E 00 0 4
carried at depreciated cost (4% 97 85 1A 3 i) (iii) 75 258
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, EEE 42,769
Ownership interests in leasehold B & Y 2E 0 B A RERE 45
investment property, carried at fair (F N PAEME SR (% ik
value, with remaining lease term THEWR 214
between 10 and 50 years 238,933 238,805
279,092 281,574
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 3R R B A

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-_=F=A=1+—RILFE (WK ETit)

11.

(@)

(i)

(iii)

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND OTHER
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Right-of-use assets (continued)

The analysis of expense items in relation to leases recognised in
profit or loss is as follows:

11. %

R ICAb Y3 - BB Bt
i (A7)

(c) iR 2E 2 ()

T 18 i il B 2 AL AR B 2 B S OE B 2
e

2023 2022
$°000 $’000
T F L
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets by % 4 B8 & 2 3 7l #1 53 1) (i J1 HE
class of underlying asset: EESTEEM
Ownership interests in leasehold land and FEAHZHE L KT
buildings A REME 22 2,540 2,539
Interest in leasehold land held for own use FrfE B A 2 0 & T RE 25 54 58
Other properties leased for own use HAi g Az HEY#E 174 1,246
2,768 3,843
Interest on lease liabilities (note 4(a)) MEaE AL (K it4a) 16 1,305
Expense relating to short-term leases il 47 1A FH B AH B 2 T 349 306

During the year, additions to right-of-use assets were $13,000
(2022: $10,757,000). This amount primarily related to the capitalised
lease payments payable under new tenancy agreements.

Details of total cash outflow for leases, the maturity analysis of
lease liabilities and the future cash outflows arising from leases that
are not yet commenced are set out in notes 18(d), 27(b) and 28,
respectively.

Ownership interests in leasehold land and buildings held for own use

The Group holds several industrial and commercial buildings
as administrative offices, staff quarters and factories where its
manufacturing facilities are primarily located. The Group is the
registered owner of these property interests, including the whole or
part of undivided share in the underlying land. Lump sum payments
were made upfront to acquire these property interests from their
previous registered owners, and there are no ongoing payments to
be made under the terms of the land lease.

Interest in leasehold land held for own use

The Group was granted with land use rights for a period of 50 years
on leasehold lands located in the PRC. The Group is the registered
user of these lands. Lump sum payments were made upfront to
acquire the land use rights from the government authorities and
there are no ongoing payments to be made under the terms of the
lease.

Other properties leased for own use

The Group has obtained the right to use other properties as its
factories and staff quarters through tenancy agreements. The leases
typically run for an initial period of two to ten years. Lease payments
are usually increased every two to five years to reflect market
rentals.

(i)

AN R REE E B 13,0000 (L &E
T4 010,757,0007C0) o w4 RE £ B ELAR
P E R IE A E AL S AR -

A B A B B O b AR R R RURE D
A B 18 ok B e A LB AR Y R AR B O o
w1 20 9l O M RE18(d) ~ 27(b) 28 o

#F1F B LT A b 2 B 55 1 A 2

AL A Z W TN MM TAE AR
F R RO TR - BT EE R
T o A5 B w55 ) SE R AR 00 Sk I B AT
H o AR AR 0 2 R A 2 F B9 A BE
8 o 1) FL AT A W B A AR R S A
I KR A % 55 W e A o ARE A
A AN R A ) R TE S S o

(i) #F1F A A LT A 5 pE 2

A 45 B2 74 v I B L - O A 2 S5 04F
A o Mo i RE o A 4R I 2 a% 5F R RE AT
FrA N > B SORE— 258 A 3 > LA B
IR e B (R AR R AR R I
1 40 00 RE R SAT e

ii) F A H AR &Y ¥

A S5 M) £ 97 i AH A0 1 ok HUS HoAth 1 € 80 (i
AR ERETREE THEE  WEHE
BRI - BAMEETE - HEXHLE
MAERIAFEEH > URBTTHHE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 3R R B A

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-_=F=A=1+—RLLFE (K E&Tit)

11. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND OTHER

(e)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Investment properties leased out under operating leases

The Group leases out investment properties under operating leases.
The leases typically run for an initial period of one to three years,
with an option to renew the lease after that date at which time all
terms are renegotiated. None of the leases includes variable lease
payments.

The Group’s total future undiscounted lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases are receivable as follows:

11. 8% 3% K e fb Py 2% ~ W B3 Bt

i (47)

(@) FfERFARZHasEYE

7 5 B LS L5 40t LA 0 3 - AL
S A BRI R — R = I
A7 HESE R4 40 W L0 TS A L 24 B
e 5T o T 1 L 400 6 9
LI 3 -

A SR AR B R TR BR 9 RS AL B S 9 7E
2 IR WS B4 oA A€ R A7 SRR B A AR AR AN T

2023 2022
2= —E
$°000 $°000
T FC
Within 1 year —ERLIY 2,177 2,677
After 1 year but within 2 years — A5 H AR DA A 1,978 -
4,155 2,677
Impairment losses (e) MWAHIEH

During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, in view of
the losses sustained by certain business units of the Group,
management considered that indicators of impairment of other
property, plant and equipment existed. When the indication of
impairment is identified, management assessed the recoverable
amounts of the CGUs and concluded that no impairment losses or
reversal of previously recognised impairment losses is required.

WE X =FR T S
HOAk 4 - 80 A 42 B T 65 B 3% A
Vs 18> A BILRE AR LAY 36 - RS K B
AT RE B BE & o B (E IR 5 WA 2
RF L EORT AT A B A BE LAY AT
| 4 A > Sl a8 b B ZH A bR (s 1R 243 v
5 i Bt 3 9 W(E s 1R -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 7% R 2 MY =E

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-_=F=A=1+—RILFE (WK ETit)

12. INTANGIBLE ASSETS | o 12 MIBEE
Club debentures
o
2023 2022
TR TR - S
$°000 $000
T FT
Cost: WA :
At the beginning and end of the year WERREE 3809 8,309
Accumulated amortisation: Bl sy -
At the beginning of the year T AW 609 514
Charge for the year A A 8 6 95 95
Attheend of theyear AR 704 609
Net book value: W i 54 -
At the end of the year A 4 2,605 2,700
The amortisation charge for the year is included in “other operating AREEBEEFACHAEZSBRGENTH
expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. a8 &M A -

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED £{LR &4 B4
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 31 March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HE_T_=F=A=+—HILEE (L Exz)

13. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries which
principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the Group at 31
March 2023 and 2022. The class of shares held is ordinary unless

otherwise stated.

Place of

13. EE)E A

TREIIR " F_=FLK_F__F=H
=+ —B HALEES BENAMRA
EABBZEEMBAFAZHNE - BRAA
sEWIAh B R A 22 e 3 2 A A

incorporation/ Particulars of Group’s
Name of company establishment issued and effective
and business paid up capital interest  Principal activities
[ 7 DA DT R ALH
R ER 3SR ] SR B A B P A ER S
Hong Kong Knitters Limited Hong Kong 3,000,000 shares 100% Garment
TS A R H F 3,000,000/ manufacturing and

Exquisite Knitters (Guangzhou) Limited
A (BN A PR A

Lavender Garment Limited

Vestis Limited

L The English translation of the name is for reference only. The official name
of this entity is in Chinese. This is also a wholly-owned foreign investment

enterprise registered in the PRC.

The People’s Republic
of China (“the
PRC”)

o

Bangladesh
)| Kk

HK$75,600,000

Taka666,714,450
(2022:

Takai15,555,050)

United Kingdom
e Bl

GBP2

investment holding
BE R

100%  Knitting and dyeing
of fabrics and
manufacturing of

garments

i B ~ BN R

JAR A

100% Disposed on

13 December 2022
.

ToAT=HHE

100% Garment wholesaling

JRAHE B

“ % A 2 DA P S0 R RE I > 5 SO R ) A T

Hz% .

%08 ) A R A A SE 2 4

CRINE S - e
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 3R R B A

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HE_ZT_=F=A=+—HItFE L&)

14, INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES 4 GBEENE
2023 2022
= E T
$°000 $000
T T T
Share of net assets JRE A S T (B 515,923 590,493
Details of the Group’s interests in joint ventures, which is accounted AL UKt BN AE A B ERINIRZ &
for using the equity method in the consolidated financial statements, mAEMEREZFEHEDT
are as follows:
Place of Group’s
establishment effective
Name of joint venture and business interest  Principal activities
SRERAM D% B 58 4 AEHEHEESR TEEH
Wuxi No. 1 Cotton Investment Co., Ltd. (Note 1) The PRC 49%  Investment holding
W — MG HRAR (HET1) w2 RGNk
Taizhou Changxin Textile (Xinghua) Co., Ltd. The PRC 49%  Manufacturing of
MRS (BLAL) A BRA Al Hh textile products
B4 i ik
Allied Textiles Co., Ltd. The PRC 49% Inactive
e L9 A BR A ] W
Wuxi YGM Textile Co., Ltd. The PRC 49%  Manufacture and
I 55 VNG 5 47 Bk A PR R Hh g sale of textiles
AR IE
Dongtai NAA Textiles Co., Ltd. The PRC 49%  Inactive
WA B RS A R v il s
Wuxi Shenxin Import and Export Co., Ltd. The PRC 49%  Trading
57 R BT I 0 BR w24 By
GYT (HK) International Development Limited* Hong Kong 49%  Investment holding
7 v BETER
GYTA (Cayman) Investment Co., Ltd" Cayman Islands 49%  Investment holding
b & RGPk
GYTB (BVI) Investment Co., Ltd* British Virgin Island 49%  Investment holding
(HBV'”)
I IR LR R BB
GYTC (BVI) Development Co., Ltd* BVI 49% Inactive
5 IR LR R LR T £
Wuxi Number One Cotton Ethiopia Textile PLC* Ethiopia 49% Integrated manufacturing of
BRIEM AR yarn, fabric and garment
BDER -~ RN AR
* Wholly owned subsidiaries of Wuxi No. 1 Cotton Investment Co., Ltd. * B — MG A RN A2 2 EHEA HE A A

# These joint ventures are sino-foreign equity joint ventures established in
the PRC. The English translation of the names of the joint ventures is for
reference only. The official names of these entities are in Chinese.

Note 1:

Wuxi No. 1 Cotton Investment Co., Ltd. is established by the Group

and other joint venture partners in Wuxi. It holds the above mentioned
subsidiaries which are mainly engaged in the production of medium
range to high graded compact yarn, special textile products and

garment products.

A
# FESEMCEHRR PR A ER
AR o WL AR L b SO R R 3

T2 TEE2% .

HaET

é(

S8 — MR 45 AT R W) 22 AR SR T BLEC A 5

B PE IR R S 2 AR o HEA E SOt 2
PP ) - AR A E AR RS AT
B~ R A R N A i o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 31 March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HE_T_=F=A=+—HILEE (L Exz)

14. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued)  14. &7 8 & X R 42 (A7)

All the joint ventures in which the Group participates are unlisted
corporate entities whose quoted market prices are not available.

Summarised financial information of Wuxi No.1 Cotton Investment

AEEZHENFTHEGERFE HHETS
WA I BT o

I 85 — A BUE A IR 4> R K W ) 2 W B B

Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries, and a reconciliation to the carrying BRI > RS B MR P IRTEZ
amount in the consolidated financial statements, are disclosed BIRPZEWT
below:
2023 2022
$°000 $'000
T Fr
Gross amounts of joint ventures FEABAH
Non-current assets R B E E 1,382,630 1,530,724
Current assets B & 1,090,600 1,031,930
Non-current liabilities ) A E (396,773) (509,461)
Current liabilities i B A E (1,023,553) (848,105)
Equity HE £5 1,052,904 1,205,088
Included in the above assets and liabilities: L5 AE bk i) B B
Cash and cash equivalents B MBS EY 158,691 171,943
Current financial liabilities (excluding trade it B 4 B AR O B35 I AT JiR 3K
and other payables and provisions) o oA I AT S B 8 A (872,199) (611,705)
Non-current financial liabilities (excluding I B 4 AR OR B3 B AT
trade and other payables and provisions) R 3 B At 18 AT 3 B B ) (378,773) (488,669)
Revenue PN 1,188,206 1,430,880
(Loss)/profit from continuing operations FRA s T UBs1R) R A (79,995) 89,364
Other comprehensive income HoAh 2 T Wi 4 16,041 (6,427)
Included in the above (loss)/profit: G B (B1R) A
Depreciation and amortisation P8 K 6 (75,006) (114,089)
Interest income =R E 344 1,282
Interest expense FE S H (43,682) (27,461)
Income tax credit/(expenses) R B (L H) 12,202 (24,730)
Reconciled to the Group’s interests in the A4 8 & %5 &~ 2 B 25 > IR
joint ventures
Gross amounts of net assets of the HEAEEE T EAHE
joint ventures 1,052,904 1,205,088
Group’s effective interest 7 A 1 BT R E i 49% 49%
Carrying amount in the consolidated T Gi A B S i 3% MR T E
financial statements 515,923 590,493
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 3R R B A

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-_=F=A=1+—RILFE (WK ETit)

15. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

15, 30 fib 4 b ¥

2023 2022
R = -
$°000 $000
F F T
Equity securities designated at FVOCI 2 38 40 Ll 2 i WG 2 3 AP

(non-recycling) LA A O W B Bl 27 (A v ol ol )
— Unlisted equity securities — I TR HERE 17,832 18,009
— Equity securities listed outside Hong Kong - & #E 514 b i B #E 75 1,992 2,200
19,824 20,209

The Group designated the following investments in equity securities
at FVOCI (non-recycling) as the investments are held for strategic
purposes:

@

Companhia de Electricidade de Macau (C.E.M.) SARL, a
company incorporated in Macau and engaged in transmitting,
distributing and selling of electricity in Macau. The fair value of
the investment is $11,987,000 as at 31 March 2023 (2022:
$11,781,000). Dividends of $515,000 were received on this
investment during the year (2022: $494,000);

World Trade Centre Macau Co. Limited, a company
incorporated in Macau and engaged in development
and promotion of international trade. The fair value of the
investment is $5,845,000 as at 31 March 2023 (2022:
$6,228,000). No dividends were received on this investment
during the year (2022: $nil);

Toyota Tsusho Corporation, a company incorporated
and listed in Japan and engaged in general trading and
manufacturing. The fair value of the investment is $894,000
as at 31 March 2023 (2022: $875,000). No dividends were
received on this investment during the year (2022: $nil);

Travelite Holdings Limited, a company incorporated and listed
in Singapore and engaged in investment holding and provision
of management services. The fair value of the investment is
$1,098,000 as at 31 March 2023 (2022: $1,325,000). No
dividends were received on this investment during the year
(2022: $nil).

A S5 H A LAT 98 E 95 A At 4 T 0 4 4%
OV B BR B I HE RS 5 (O m] B m] ) A 5K

(a)

W H R
WRFT W Ty Bty A BR 2 ® R — TR R
M 5 AR S B9 2 Sl AR IR A
W RS EES o BIE T =

(d)

F=H= +~Elﬁ:»a23fﬁféﬁﬁ/\¥
18 {4 £11,987,0007C (%
11,781,0007T) ZIKEFW?MKIE&
% E I B515,000 L& (& =
4E 1 494,00070)

R = e N o sl /A [P o
— [ R Fﬂ‘;‘fﬂ%ﬁijﬂﬁf\ﬁ?jﬁ;’é$
BRMEEEEE S - @k % = =
E=ZA= +— Hik o Z#EmA-T

18 18 #5,845,0000C (& —
6,228,0007T) $$FWIMTMKI,E
WEWRAE (% = 4 )

[ NN R W o el 1 G E B N

LU YA A S 7N I A Al =4

S KBRS - Bk R S =

A=+—HI > ZHRENA TEME

£4894,00070 (% — —4F : 875,000
) o ASAT JE A SIf7 A iR L TR e
TR TR )

Travelite Holdings LimitedJ& — i %
I B YA ol TR O /A= I A 1 =2
BB B R AR A R - Bk %
TEHEZAZ 0k ERENA
V-1 {f 1,098,00070 ( & .
1,325,0007C) ﬁﬁﬁﬁqjﬁéﬂf?}nﬁtlﬁ
B BE S (U A ) o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 R 5% B =

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-_=F=A=1+—RLLFE (K E&Tit)

16. INVENTORIES

(a) FERETHERERQE

(a) Inventories in the consolidated statement of financial position

comprise:

2023 2022
SRR nte St

$°000 $°000
T FL
Raw materials J 4 K 2,241 1,817
Work in progress TE R 11,942 25,439
Finished goods R 2,135 6,489
16,318 33,745

(b) The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an expense

(b) A58 4 W05 £ 3t B A 65 7 4L 28 P 19 23 A

and included in profit or loss is as follows: WnF
2023 2022
$°000 $°000
T FL
Carrying amount of inventories sold 1755 61 B MR 1 A 296,590 329,400
Write-down of inventories Pe=g 8 - 1,004
Reversal of write-down of inventories A7 1 WO 43 2] (2,526) (585)
294,064 329,819

The reversal of write-down of inventories made in prior years arose
due to an increase in the net realisable value of garment products by
reference to the sales made during the year and subsequent to the

year end.

A AR 2 A7 ] MO (] ) AR AR AR E
TP A TR B A B A RAR B B T B

S JEE b T S YR 00 A O BT B
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 7% R 2 MY =E

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-_=F=A=1+—RILFE (WK ETit)

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES = = = = 17, ME Wk B I fl e ek
2023 2022
$°000 $°000
T FC
Trade debtors JREE Wi R 3K 41,489 70,052
Bills receivable JE Wi 2L 45 2,169 40,596
Less: loss allowance (note 27(a)) W BRI (M 27 (@) (1,750) (10,080)
41,908 100,568
Deposits, prepayments and other debtors BT A~ TEAST 3K R H At i R 8,624 12,416
Amounts due from related companies JRE WA B8 7 R 3KOE (M RE29(c))
(note 29(c)) 161 125
Derivative financial instruments i am TR - 534
50,693 113,643

Substantially all of the Group’s trade and other receivables are
expected to be recovered or recognised as an expense within one
year.

The amounts due from related companies are unsecured,
interest-free and recoverable on demand except for those trade
related items under normal trade terms.

Ageing analysis

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade
debtors and bills receivable (which are included in trade and other
receivables), based on the invoice date and net of loss allowance, is

A G B 2 48 O B A oA SR A At B i K
T A — 4 0 i ] A RS A S e

Br THEIE® B 5 ek T gt 2 2 5 -
W Bl 72 > m) AOE R A R - AR FLE
N7 5 4 28 0 B IRE i [m] o

W 886 2y B

TR H > ARREE S H O R AT BR R 1R
R 11 JE A IR T B E WA SR R (WA MR
AR A B WA Y R 2 A BT

as follows:

2023 2022
TR TR e St

$°000 $°000
T FC
Within 1 month — AR 11,490 40,720
Over 1 month but within 2 months — @ A 2L _EAE W A LA 4,043 24,864
Over 2 months but within 3 months [EER (R 2 o (N D E M NN 10,557 15,299
Over 3 months but within 4 months =M@ AL EEE A LR 7,651 12,787
Over 4 months EEPE N 8,167 6,898
41,908 100,568

Trade debtors and bills receivable are due between 0 to 180 days
(2022: 0 to 180 days) from the date of billing. Further details on the
Group’s credit policy are set out in note 27(a).

R WA B K B ME WA B AR A #E B H 1205180
H(ZZ - 4E:0F180H) WEH - A
A AR ] (0 {5 B BUK B 5F 1% #OR BE 527 (a) -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 7% 3R 2 MY =E

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-_=F=A=1+—RLLFE (K E&Tit)

18. CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND OTHER 18. Bl & K 3T &5 i B L fb Bl 4 G i
....... CASHFLOW INFORMATION &R,
(a) Cash and bank balances comprise: (a) RERBITHEBAR
2023 2022
$°000 $°000
T FC
Cash at bank and in hand SRAT AR X B & 110,975 235,472
Bank deposits SRAT 7 WIAF 3K
— within three months to maturity when — 77 ARy A3 H R 2 4
placed 67,099 -
— more than three months to maturity when — — 77 3k Ry B 3@ 318 H £ 1)
placed 128,099 -
306,173 235,472
Represented by: R
Cash and cash equivalents B B B S E ) 178,074 235,472
Bank deposits RATAE K 128,099 -
306,173 235,472

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED £{L® &4 B4
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 7% R 2 MY =E

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-_=F=A=1+—RILFE (WK ETit)

18. CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND OTHER 18. B4 B 847 45 ik e o fh B 4 3 &

98

....... CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued) . BFRL(E) . ...
(b) Reconciliation of (loss)/profit before taxation to cash generated from/ (b) BBt #i (5 #) SRR BREES
(used in) operations: i) Bl a2 8k :
2023 2022
R = R S
Note $°000 $'000
i3 Fi T 7L
(Loss)/profit before taxation FRBLAT (598 i A (20,498) 31,664
Adjustments for: R
Dividend income from equity securities i s i N 3 (515) (494)
Interest income S g 3 (4,254) (325)
Net gain on disposals of other property, — H&EHMYE - BiE &
plant and equipment B E e 3 (462) (466)
Release of lease liabilities upon early R F A 1k FH R R BR
termination of leases HEA K 3 (203) (1,508)
Finance costs il & R AR 4(a) 1,600 3,108
Amortisation of intangible assets Y G 7 B 4(c) 95 95
Depreciation e 4(d) 3,435 4,836
Bad debt written off SR A 85 4(c) 33 -
Share of losses/(profits) of joint ventures M {il A 4> 2
548, (i 1)) 39,198 (43,788)
Net valuation gains on investment g -L/E RN e R
properties 11(a) (1,562) (4,048)
Foreign exchange loss [ifE 50, 5 15 562 2,002
Net gain on disposal of subsidiaries H B B 2 A i VAR 3 (1,683) (640)
Changes in working capital: G
Decrease/(increase) in inventories &Y/ (8 m) 17,427 (12,572)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other R WAL R e L A JRE LA
receivables Wb, (K ) 61,239 (12,115)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other R A IR 7 T G A JE A5 0
payables () (13,366) 15,257
(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities £ &1 & £ (i) /1 (2,702) 528
Payment of long service payments R & (7,179) (88)
Cash generated from/(used in) operations #8427 BT15 (BT H) #l4& 71,165 (18,554)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 7% 3R 2 MY =E

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-_=F=A=1+—RLLFE (K E&Tit)

18. CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND OTHER 18. Bl B BAT i Bk B 3L 4l B <& Wil ik
....... CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued) .~ . BF(E) .
(¢) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities (c) T35 Bh A A A 0 2 BHIR
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities from R A 4R R TE B A AR A )
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. (B84 I B s dh) o @& TE & T i3
Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for which cash BT B A0 B R A B & i A A 4
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s M 45 A B4 0 B K R 4 B R T B A5
consolidated cash flow statement as cash flows from financing HEeRE -
activities.

Lease liabilities

AL
$’000
Fi
(Note 22)
(}fit22)
e e R-F_—%#WH—-H 7008
Changes from financing cash flows: MEH SRR -
Capital element of lease rentals paid B EME 2 BATS (1,871)
Interest element of lease rentals paid B L AL 4 2 R B R A (1,305)
Totel changes from financing cash flows = BERSER&HA® 8,176)
Exchange adjustments E 36 % (660)
Other changes: oAbt ®) -
Increase in lease liabilities from entering into new leases A TR RT S R A R 0 R B
during the year 10,757
Decrease in lease liabilities from early termination of leases  $2 Al %% 1F FH 6 I 19 fH & £ 5 B (1,508)
Decrease in lease liabilities from disposal of subsidiaries th 5 B Je A D IR Y AL B B AR D (4,100)
Reclassification of lease liabilities to liabilities directly HEEBMENE SRR E L EEE
associated with the assets held for sale (note 19) HIEMBEE (H7E19) (9,175)
Interest expenses (note 4(a)) FR S (M at4(a) 1,305
Total otherchanges  Ae#wmas @727)
At 31 March 2022 RE-FZAE=ZH=1—H 535
MiApizo2 RegocEmpen 535
Changes from financing cash flows: BEBSR RS -
Capital element of lease rentals paid BT EH 4 2 EAT (254)
Interest element of lease rentals paid E AT 4 2 FLE R4 (16)
Total changes from financing cash flows ~ WHSeRR&HA® (270)
Exchange adjustments E 5034 (17)
Other changes: Hofb st g :
Increase in lease liabilities from entering into new leases AR QAT S R A AR I L B AR
during the year 13
Decrease in lease liabilities from early termination of leases 42 Al 4% 1k £H & IF /) fil & & i B> (203)
__Interest expenses (note 4(8) . MBxHMidE) 16
Total otherchanges  Jemesw 00000000000 (174)
At 31 March 2023 RoB_Z4=ZA=4—H 74
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 3R R B A

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-_=F=A=1+—RILFE (WK ETit)

18. CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND OTHER

Total cash outflow for leases

Amounts included in the consolidated cash flow statement for
leases comprise the following:

18. e RMirfits R EBIA 4R
BH (4)

LS B4 0 o AL
HeERERthHENSEAREUTFHE

2023 2022
SRR SE

$°000 $°000

T Fr

Within operating cash flows i i 58 4 B4 349 306

Within financing cash flows i 7% Rl B 4 I 270 3,176

619 3,482

(e) Disposal of subsidiaries

On 13 December 2022, the Group disposed of its entire 100%
equity interest in a subsidiary of the Group, Landford Enterprise
Inc., and its subsidiary (collectively referred as “Landford Group”)
to third parties at a consideration of USD1,148,000 (equivalent to
$8,967,000). As such, a net gain on disposal of $1,683,000 was
recognised. The principal activity of Landford Group was garment

iy £ W ) 4

RoFEEF AT ZH s AREE L
1,148,0003 7 (FH % 748,967,0007C) #§ H
J* — W J& 2 7l Landford Enterprise Inc. M
Hf & 28 | (SRR T Landford 2 41 1) 9 &35
100% B 13 HE 2t 1165 T 28 =05 - #8uth » flERR
H B IR 25 ¥ 4H1,683,0007C © Landford % H

(e)

manufacturing. B B E B IR s o

$'000

For

Assets and liabilities disposed of: [BAIE S -- SR
Other property, plant and equipment HAbY 2 - s A 18,817
Deposits, prepayments and other debtors FT 4~ TRAS K B th i 3K 561
Cash and cash equivalents Bl e Bl S E Y 1,315
Accruals and other payables JRE 52 T R L At IR A+F 3k (7,824)
Lease liabilities 5 A (7,521)
Net assets R FE 5,348
Release of exchange reserve upon disposal HE B R 1,936

7,284
Total consideration receivables JRE S A% i A 8,967
Net gain on disposal of subsidiaries B B R > ) A g T AR (1,683)
Consideration received, satisfied in cash LA AE 3RE - DLER 4 2R iR 8,967
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of B K& EY (1,315)
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents B4 T B4 S B W) I AT R 7,652

100
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 7% 3R 2 MY =E

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-_=F=A=1+—RLLFE (K E&Tit)

18. CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND OTHER

Disposal of subsidiaries (continued) (e)

On 24 August 2021, the Group disposed of its entire 75% equity
interest in a subsidiary of the Group, Smart Fair Investment
Limited, and its subsidiary (collectively referred as “Smart Fair
Group”) to two other existing shareholders of Smart Fair Group
(“the Purchaser”) at a consideration of USD100,000 (equivalent
to $777,000). As such, a net gain on disposal of $640,000 was
recognised. The principal activity of Smart Fair Group was garment

18.

Bl B SAT G i B JL b BL 4 G B
¥R (4)

i £ W0 4 ) (A

W ET—4ENA T H s AL
100,000 J& (#H & jA777,0007G) #% Hjir
— o J N R B A PR A F) R H R A
Al (KRG TR B A [ 1) 1 & 7 5% 0 RE
5 TR 4 W B AN B B o 8
I o FERR B Uk 25 V5 #H640,0000T - MR 4E
B R EEE SRR .

manufacturing.
$’000
Fr
Assets and liabilities disposed of: CilEEE KA
Inventories '] 967
Trade and other receivables JARE AT R T o L A R ok R 2,162
Cash and cash equivalents e kB &% EY 3,092
Trade and other payables JREAST H% 3 B HL Athy JBE A5 B (6,820)
Lease liabilities iR~ =K (4,075)
Net liabilities AR FE (4,674)
Release of exchange reserve upon disposal R R B ] 25T B SO R A 427
Amount due from non-controlling interest JRE Wit 2 3 e Rk T 2,331
Add: non-controlling interest  fmc FEEmOBORREE 2,053
137
Total consideration receivables JRRE W %A A 777
Net gain on disposal of subsidiaries B 2 A g T AR (640)
2023 2022
- I - S
$°000 $°000
T Fr
Consideration received, satisfied in cash &3 > DAB 4 7 SOl 583 =
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of A B T B S E ) - (3,092)
Net inflow/(outflow) of cash and cash B4 I Bl 4 S 1E
equivalents WA G ) R 583 (3,092)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 7% R 2 MY =E

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-_=F=A=1+—RILFE (WK ETit)

19. DISPOSAL GROUP HELD FOR SALE = 19. FfEm B2 WE
In March 2022, management committed to a plan to sell part of a SR CESR S EME ARG E S H
manufacturing facility in Bangladesh within the manufacture and WA N 7 T IR S R 4 A Y R R B R
sales of garments and textiles segment. Accordingly, the assets JiE o BRI o BELRZ REME A — FR 4 AH B Y R
and liabilities related to part of that facility is presented as a disposal BER RS A RS EEARN o tIE
group held for sale. The sale was completed in December 2022, HELR _F 4+ HER -

20. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES = 20. MEAFMRAK RICMMER =K .

2023 2022
$°000 $'000
Fi F T
Trade creditors JRE AT R 3K 14,724 24,932
Bills payable A SRR 455 776
15,179 25,708
Accrued charges and other creditors JE S R b R A5 3K 20,590 28,108
Derivative financial instruments T A 4 i T HL 341 -
Amounts due to related companies (note 29(c)) MEA} B 2\ =) 3K I8 (M 7£29(c)) 67 186
Amounts due to joint ventures (note 29(c)) JE AT & 8 A 2E 3K IE (£ 29(c) 13 13
36,190 54,015
All of the trade and other payables are expected to be settled or JIT A B AT M 3 B At R ST R T A A% R — 4
recognised as income within one year or are repayable on demand. A 5 5 S HIE 5 5 WA A T 42 7 R R IRp A o
The amounts due to related companies and joint ventures are bR THEIERE 5 R T ITEIT 2585 » 1
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand except for those AT BH S W I G A 3R T R R A AT -
trade related items under normal trade terms. RAGRE 5 M 75 i 0 0 B IR A R -
As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade EESEH > AR PR H A0 A R K M
creditors and bills payable (which are included in trade and other 17T 245 (2 50 A AT HR 3 B L Ath A7 50 19
payables), based on the invoice date, is as follows: R T -
2023 2022
R4 TR T
$°000 $°000
T Fr
Within 1 month —f@ A LA 11,217 15,919
Over 1 month but within 2 months — {8 A L EHAEE A LR 1,291 6,912
Over 2 months but within 3 months IR DN (ERX D E NN 201 549
Over 3 months =X (EPERY 2,380 2,328
15,179 25,708
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102 ANNUAL REPORT 2023 £ #



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 7% 3R 2 MY =E

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-_=F=A=1+—RLLFE (K E&Tit)

21. CONTRACT LIABILITIES  2L@&&AM .
2023 2022
R = = S
$°000 $°000
T Fr
Receipts in advance from customers &P 4,588 7,290
The Group receives advances from customers before the delivery B AL A 52 AT B A B & F AT IR
of goods, this will give rise to contract liabilities upon receipt of Ao TE I BT AY IR AR s A AR G A AR -
payment. Revenue recognised when the related goods are sold to WA A BR B TR R o K
the customers. The payment arrangement is negotiated on a case PR T AR 4R B AE LB S 1 7 A o
by case basis with customers.
Movements in contract liabilities HHAES
2023 2022
—®=4E T
$°000 $000
T Fr
Balance at 1 April A —H Z &% 7,290 6,762
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of & #J & & K 4F A B 32 7% 4 70 7 A
recognising revenue during the year that G &) B 2 AT D
was included in the contract liabilities at the
beginning of the year (5,896) (5,369)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of B & B R R A HIT SRR T 3
receipts in advance of performance 3,194 5,897
Balance at 31 March W=ZH=+—HZ &% 4,588 7,290
None (2022: none) of receipts in advance of performance is BAHBAMK S (R F  #H)
expected to be recognised as income after more than one year. TR — ERMER AR -
22. Lease labilities ... 22ASREM
At 31 March 2023, the lease liabilities were repayable as follows: RoFEZEF=A=T—H HEAMEZ
EB W T
2023 2022
$°000 $'000
T F T
within 1year —&HN 74 Gt
After 1 year but within 2 years  —*#AwWFYN -8
74 535
During the year, a lease of a garment manufacturing plant in AR FEdER AL (R AR L mnELD)
Bangladesh (2022: Bangladesh) has been early terminated ) — ZAE 2 oA Bk 2 T B R E AR
with the landlord. Accordingly, a release of lease liabilities upon MrAIEFHA) - B> FEEE —F — =4 =
early termination of leases of $203,000 (2022: $1,508,000) was A =4 — H 14 B A 48 4 b A ER 4R A A% 1
recognised in profit or loss for the year ended 31 March 2023. oL 7 i B AHL & £ 5203,00000 (&

4 1 1,508,0007C )
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 3R R B A

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-_=F=A=1+—RILFE (WK ETit)

23.

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“the
MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the jurisdiction
of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a
defined contribution retirement plan administered by independent
trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer and its employees
are each required to make contributions to the scheme at 5% of the
employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant
income of $30,000. The employer’s contributions to the MPF
scheme vest immediately.

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Exempted
ORSO Scheme in Hong Kong for those employees who were
eligible to participate in the scheme. This scheme is operated in
a way similar to the MPF scheme, except that when an employee
leaves the scheme prior to his/her interest in the Group’s employee
contributions vesting fully, the ongoing contributions payable by the
Group are reduced by the relevant amount of forfeited employer’s
contributions or refunded to the employer.

The employees of subsidiaries of the Group established in the PRC
are members of a state-sponsored retirement scheme organised
by the local government in the PRC. The subsidiaries are required
to contribute, based on a certain percentage of payroll, to the
retirement scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to these retirement schemes is to make the
required contributions under the terms of the scheme.

. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Current taxation in the consolidated statement of financial position
represents:

23. f H B fk 4 M

A% B2 T L Fi RS o R A R A w T AR B AR
A W R 0 1) B2 22 R B sk A o Tl
HABE S (THEESFSH ) - BELE
B L B ORI E B TR AR
oo MRYE AR AR E - R A HAE B
BB R B A B Z ik A Z5%1E it
Koo MERE A A B A Z FBRA30,0000C ©
g = 1) o A T AR 2 A R Iy B R R

H o

AW - A E IR B 6 B M 2 B R
R R A I S AR KT B 2 R B RS
at# o W% ah ) DU R A w3 2 7 AR
BoOMEERERAERTEEREHEAAELN
e 5 A T I > 3 i A E A O
P WA 42 M AR 2 s OB 2 R & -

Z LD E ) v N P T S DA
1B b B AL A 2 W AL R o IR B R
ZHE - ZEMBAFHERE TEZ A
T 2 AR AR AR B o A 4 B R
PRE B BT AR 3 2 o — SRR SR R B
TE Z K -

24. 55 45 W B R B A B s W B 7 B

(a) 554 W B 5K B 35 BT 7 9 A 91 BE X 2y

2023 2022

= - S
$°000 $°000
T For
Current tax recoverable AT Y ] A HA B I - (1,031)
Current tax payable JE AT A 01 Bl TH 14,730 14,247
14,730 13,216
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 7% 3R 2 MY =E

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-_=F=A=1+—RLLFE (K E&Tit)

24. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(i)

(c)

Deferred tax (assets)/liabilities recognised:

The components of deferred tax (assets)/liabilities recognised in the

24. B4 W5 DL T s W i 4388 (AF)

(b) TLHEWEIEREBLI (K ) A :

consolidated statement of financial position and the movements during

() 755 8 R D04 o w8 1y 3 4 BE 3T (B
FE) A 1 L 5 1 A A g S )

the year are as follows: T
Depreciation
allowances in
Revaluation  excess of the Provision for  Undistributed
of investment related  Provisionfor  long service profits of
properties  depreciation inventories payments  joint ventures Tax losses Total
% HEHRNE KM wHEE
RN ZHEARE IR #h o RAERA BHEH it
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Tz T T I Tz Tz T
Deferred tax arising from: BHERIAF :
At 1 April 2021 REFEZ—EN—R 6,113 6,614 (666 (3,460) 8,417 (2,35 14,666
Bxchange adjustments [ Ji.38% 238 (36) (28) (148) 381 = 407
Charged(credited) to PR RN/ (GEA)
profit or loss 139 (321) (101) (595) 1,241 (208) 155
At 31 March 2022 I S
“HEt-0 6,490 6,257 (795) (4,209) 10,039 (2,560) 15,228
At 1 April 2022 REZZZENA-H 6,490 6,267 (79) (4,203 10,039 (2,560) 15,208
Exchange adjustments [ 53 (451) 66 59 307 (807) - (826)
(Credited)/charged to BRI GIA)/ Tk
profit or loss (64) &) 547 870 932 (1,01) 1,201
At 31 March 2023 I St
=AEt-1 5975 6,250 (189) (3,026) 10,164 (3,571) 15,603
Reconciliation to the consolidated statement of financial position (ii) 5 R U0 4 B
2023 2022
=EE== —Ez
$°000 $°000
T T T
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the TE 55 A BA TS IR DL 3R A58 1Y
consolidated statement of financial position 8 ST B T A AR F E 15,603 15,228

Deferred tax assets not recognised:

(c) oA Wi W Wy IE E B8 8 -

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 1(1),
the Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect
of cumulative tax losses of $11,780,000 (2022: $14,717,000)
and other deductible temporary differences of $126,000 (2022:
$126,000) as it is not probable that future taxable profits against
which the temporary differences can be utilised will be available in
the relevant tax jurisdiction of the entities. Tax losses amounting to
$11,780,000 (2022: $14,717,000) do not expire under the relevant

current tax legislation.

R R B R ()R S EE B R - AR M
R T W 2w A AT 0 18 e R A B
i 4 % B TE & A £ B011,780,0000C0 (&
TAFE 1 14,717,00000) K H At AT 4K S0l
3% B1126,0007C (=% — —4F : 126,000
JG) > B FE AT BHE B 2 B A
ME > A a8z 5 R 2 LK 8 R
2 R B R 2 T R e AR o AR A B
BLAT BB 0 R B R BB s 1R A 3t
11,780,0007C (& — —4F : 14,717,000
JG) o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 3R R B A

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HE_ZT_=F=A=+—HItFE L&)

25. PROVISION FOR EMPLOYEE BENEFITS ~ 25. B WAL EM .

2023 2022

$°000 $000

T FIT

At the beginning of the year R AEH) 26,834 21,329

Exchange adjustments i 5, 3 B (2,283) 563

(Reversal of)/provision made (note 4(b)) RN (B R (M AE4(B) (3,321) 5,030

Payments during the year AR AT 3K (7,179) (88)

At the end of the year A AR 2 14,051 26,834
Representing: 0% -

Current portion T B Ty 299 8,286

Non-current portion JE I B A 13,752 18,548

14,051 26,834

Under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance, the Group is obliged
to make lump sum payments on cessation of employment in certain
circumstances to employees who have completed at least five years
of service with the Group. The amount payable is dependent on
the employees’ final salary and years of service, and is reduced by
entittements accrued under the retirement schemes of the Group
that are attributable to contributions made by the Group.

Under the PRC Labour Contract Law, the Group is obliged to
make lump sum payments on cessation of employment in certain
circumstances to employees. The amount payable is dependent on
the employees’ final salary and years of service.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, in view of the operating
loss incurred by a garment manufacturing plant in Bangladesh
and adverse impact of Covid-19 pandemic on the operation,
management has decided to withdraw the investment in
Bangladesh. Under the Bangladesh Labour Act, the Group is
obliged to make lump sum payments on cessation of employment
in certain circumstances to employees. The amount payable is
dependent on the employees’ final salary and years of service. The
cessation of employment was expected to be completed within one
year as at 31 March 2022. Accordingly, a provision for termination
benefits of $8,286,000 was recognised as a current liability at 31
March 2022. As at 31 March 2023, the remaining provision for
termination benefits of $299,000 is expected to be settled within
one year.

The Group does not set aside any assets to fund the above
remaining obligations.

AR o AR A e ) - A SR A AT 1 i
B AE S DL B 7E S TH UL T 4 1k
AR 8 B AT — FE a0 e o B SO
SRR R B 0 S5 4 4 e s 4
i 2 o 3l AT BRI B 7E A 4R AR AR T BT I
at HHE A v A A I R 2 RO

RFCPBESH G %K)  AEEA TN
T T4 DU R 43 1k 52 4R A9 IR B AT i — 250
W &8 o BT SOOI A9 & BUIAR IR B B 0 iR 8¢
R < e e s 4 W E

MEE_Z - =A=+—HIL&EF:
A AT — K M e B RO £  Es 1R
Ph K Covid-19% JiE ¥ 58 4 1 A F 52 2 »
AP P E )R AR o AR
NP gy Tk fl - AREEATLESTHN
AR B S AT A% Lk AR AR B — O AT R o
T &3 TR IR 1R B 0 e 43 & MO IR 4 B
Mge ME_F__F=HA=1—H>
b E A E R AS TE — R R e WU
8,286,0007C 1) #¢ 1k 7 1@ 1@ A 4 i it — %
COFZAZtHHERAERSAME R
TR ZEZAZT—H > B AR
299,000 Ju T8 I % i — 4 N B AT -

A% 42 ) 37 4 955 A ) A DA ME A bt R
) BAT -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 3R R B A

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE_Z-_=F=H=1+—RBI5FE (L¥Ers)

26. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

(a) Movements in components of equity

The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of
each component of the Group’s consolidated equity is set out
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details of

26. JBeAS ~ fili i B B B

() H 2o AL Y 2 52 )

A AR ) A5 B A 5 AL S 003 B A BB R
MR EIREN AR AR BB R - AL A
{18 F AR S 4 A A ) % AR A 2 B B R AR

the changes in the Company’s individual components of equity L/(1 N
between the beginning and the end of the year are set out below:
Investment Land and
revaluation buildings
Share reserve revaluation Retained
capital  (non-recycling) reserve profits Total
ST TR
JiA (Aum) 4k i RN il
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Tz T Tz T T
Balance at 1 April 2021 REFZ-HWA 02k 208418 14,039 47571 647,983 918,011
Changes in equity for the year: AAE RS
Loss for the year REEEH - = = (15,241) (15,241)
Other comprehensive income HhA il = 753 - 5 753
Total comprehensive income for the year A2 TIE4H = 753 = (15,241) (14,488)
Balance at 31 March 2022 REBZZEENEF-H2ER 208,418 14,792 47,57 632,742 903,523
Balance at 1 April 2022 REFZZENA N 2EHR 208,418 14,792 4757 632,742 903,523
Changes in equity for the year: AR RS
Loss for the year REEEH - = = (18,942) (18,942)
Other comprehensive income R 2w - (347) 8,96 = 8,615
Total comprehensive income for the year A 2 s 44 - (347) 8,962 (18,942) (10,327)
Dividends approved and paid in respect B BB I £~ RS
of the previous year - - - (4,135 (4,139)
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, S e 8% (23077 (14462
Balance at 31 March 2023 REBZERZNET-H2ER 208,418 14,445 56,533 609,665 889,061
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 7% R 2 MY =E

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-_=F=A=1+—RILFE (WK ETit)

. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

Dividends

(i) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company attributable

26. JBe A ~ fifi ff B Jbe B (4F)

() MEATAK 2 7] BB 45 A A 4 JE SR

to the year

2023 2022
TR A TR T
$°000 $°000
T Tz

Final dividend proposed after the end of the A &5 H 1% # sk Uk 45 oK ) 1B B 45 11

reporting period of $0.02 (2022: $0.02) per 3 %0.027C (—F 4 0.02
ordinary share JG) 4,135 4,135

The final dividend proposed after the end of the reporting period has
not been recognised as a liability at the end of the reporting period.

(i) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company attributable

T 5 B AR Sl 20 IR B R U B S v R TE A
RS AL -

(ii) ME AT A 2 ] IR B FF A5 A L — A

to the previous financial year, approved and paid during the year JE o A6 AN A JE B e 3 AT 1 S B
2023 2022
R = =
$°000 $'000
T Tz
Final dividend in respect of the previous JE i b — BB RE s Sl R A AR B
financial year, approved and paid during the % #E S 324+ oK 1 1B 8 45 i 3% 208 %
year of $0.02 (2022: $nil) per 0.027C (—F 4 Ejp)
ordinary share 4,135 -
(¢) Issued share capital (c) CEATBEA
2023 2022
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
BBy ¥ H kot il gE] X il
’000 $°000 ‘000 $’000
T T TR TC
Ordinary shares, issued and T %47} U % & 3% & t:
fully paid:
At the beginning and the end i 4E41) I 4F #%
of the year 206,748 208,418 206,748 208,418

In accordance with section 135 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, the ordinary shares of the Company do not have a par
value.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as
declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share
at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with
regard to the Company’s residual assets.

MRAZ AW AR BI85 - A0 Rl I EE
Je Sl A SR AE -

Wl B A E AR AR IR
A B A REAE AR 2> 7 e ROK & b % A —
SEIN L 22 B B o T A8 B AE AR 4
R EE L EAFFEHER -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-_=F=A=1+—RLLFE (K E&Tit)

26.

(U]

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(e)

CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

Nature and purpose of reserves
Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences
arising from the translation of the financial statements of operations
outside Hong Kong. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in note 1(w).

Investment revaluation reserve (non-recycling)

The investment revaluation reserve (non-recycling) comprises
the cumulative net change in the fair value of equity investments
designated at FVOCI under HKFRS 9 that are held at the end of the
reporting period (see note 1(f)).

The investment revaluation reserve is not available for distribution to
equity shareholders of the Company.

Land and buildings revaluation reserve

The land and buildings revaluation reserve has been set up and is
dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy adopted for land
and buildings set out in note 1(i).

The land and buildings revaluation reserve is not available for
distribution to equity shareholders of the Company.

Other reserve

Other reserve represents a statutory reserve fund. According to the
articles of association of the subsidiaries of the Group in the PRC,
the subsidiaries are required to transfer at least 10% of their net
profit, as determined in accordance with the PRC accounting rules
and regulations applicable to enterprises with foreign investment,
to the statutory reserve fund until the reserve balance reaches 50%
of the registered capital. The transfer to this reserve must be made
before distribution of a dividend.

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing products and services
commensurately with the level of risk and by securing access to
finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to maintain a balance between the higher shareholders
returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and
the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position,
and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in
economic conditions.

26. JBe A ~ fifi i B Jbe B (4)

(d) i Al 09 PR B 3B
(i)  FE 5 fif

ME St foft #6045 TR 0 30 7 U 0 00 36 5 <
SR A A 2 B AR S 22 R o W% AR A TS R
A5 B R 1 (w) BT B 2 B R B -

(ii) & 5 A faff 7 (4 7 4 1)

AR 7 o T i SIS O 0% o B0 T A ek
i O AT [a]) 045 7 i B35 A R 15
375 8 L A 4 THT WA 2 4% 23 1 8 (E A B A9 BCRE
i 77 B Y R RS ) R (2B RRE() -

BB AL A A AT O IR T AR B £
NG

(iii) - b B #4525 G

AN B RS A R i T A AR 3R
AR - b 2 M T T R O B R () B R
Bl B -

A T A A RS AT BN IR T AR R
W HERF AN -

(iv) H A fif fif

(e)

A fo¥ 445 4% 125 (R A 2 < o AR DR AS SR R
o 2 B s W 2 AL AR AR A o B
B 2R AT 5 ] AR R T R AhE e P
Ak AR R B 2 MR 2 B AD10% R
HEEMERE S AR RER N E
A 250% 4 1k o 1] i fil i BT 7F w458 [m] 6 28
TE 73 e B2 i AR o

ARG

AR S BB AR R T H 5 TR 4R Ak
9 FR R RS R > 180 B E BELJEU R K - A A Y
B B e 5 A R B DA PR RS Al AR
17T HE $45 A 1) FSe SR 136 [0 % K% o) JFC At AR R A
TR A4 -

A SR TR MR % 52 AR R R B RG E AR BE
o B oK AE 3R A K P & AR B
iy o W iR 8 B K T R B A s RO ] i
11 A JEE P AR IR DL R R A A R o AR 4R AR
52 A8 17 DL 14 55 ) 7 3 A SRR A o S o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 3R R B A

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-_=F=A=1+—RILFE (WK ETit)

26.

(a)

CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

Capital management (continued)

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of a net
debt-to-adjusted-capital ratio. For this purpose the Group defines
net debt as total debt (which includes interest-bearing loans and
borrowings) plus unaccrued proposed dividends less cash and cash
equivalents (which excluded pledged deposits). Adjusted capital
comprises all components of equity, less unaccrued proposed
dividends.

During the current financial year, the Group’s strategy, which was
unchanged from the previous financial year, was to maintain the
net debt-to-adjusted-capital ratio at a reasonable level. In order to
maintain or adjust the ratio, the Group may adjust the amount of
dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares, return capital to
shareholders, raise new debt financing or sell assets to reduce debt.

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, neither the Company nor any of its
Subsidiaries had outstanding interest-bearing loans and borrowings.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to
externally imposed capital requirements.

. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Exposure to credit, liquidity and currency risks arises in the normal
course of the Group’s business. The Group is also exposed
to equity price risk arising from its equity investments in other
entities. The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group to manage
these risks are described below.

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its
contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to the Group.
The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade receivables.
The Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from cash and bank
palances and derivative financial assets is limited because the
counterparties are banks and financial institutions with sound credit
ratings and the Group does not expect any significant credit risk.
The Group does not provide any other guarantees which would
expose the Group to credit risk.

Trade receivables

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by
the individual characteristics of each customer rather than the
industry or country in which the customers operate and therefore
significant concentrations of credit risk primarily arise when the
Group has significant exposure to individual customers. At the end
of the reporting period, 22.3% (2022: 31.2%) and 64.5% (2022:
50.0%) of the total trade debtors and bills receivable was due
from the Group’s largest customer and the five largest customers
respectively within the manufacture and sale of garments and
textiles segment.

26.

(e)

(a)

AR ~ i i B B B (&)

A4 B ()

A S [ 2 IR 5 T A O R AR L R
RMEERKEALME MW > AKEE
RS 1 R 5 E M BT AR (B SRR
FeA3K) > n b Jk 2 IR A S B 4 R B
EHEEY FEFRMEH) > KHEEAR
B 45 HE 2 1 BT AT AL L 0 98 OF R R R UR IR
S

A BB JE A 5 B TR 4 i
2 SRR 4 (TS B A A
B o A S g L A
S 1 T A 7 350U IR 40 1 5. 8 £ o
P BT R - R R R A
R 2t LR -
BoF SR CE =S
L A28 B AT A W2 734 Y 7
LEVTEE

AR R B HAT AT B B 2% W] 4 R AT A A1
(¥ 5 A 15 52 T PR A

BRI R BT

AEHMEELEEFREHHEFE W
B B & A0S A B o A S B RO 2 B H
At B B O 45 0 A B o A 4R T
Z A TR L B e A S TR R R AT R L B 2
S s R e A L BB S LA ) O A T o

v 52 M B

i 80 L B 15 3 05 0 S 0 S T BOA
A6 T A S M 4R o A O R DR B
i PR R B AR o A 4R I T B ) B <
SRAT &5 R Je A7 AR 4 R E 1 BO £ BB
ARR > TY e 3 T 8 A T T AR R A R AR
7 B A HE > HL A 5 TR TR AT AE AL A
R AR BB o 7 4 10 4 £ (3 AT o] At
B UK 4R R Z A5 B 2 R

S K

ALE R Z B R B  E 2 A MK
J5 I B 4R T R TR IR PR B KT
AT S T E B R > R I AR 4
AR Z AR A & P R B R o i A AR
£E A5 BR R B o AR B U IR B
JRE g S5 4% AE A vh o 22.3% (ZF T AR
31.2%) K64.5% (—ZF — "4 : 50.0%) 43
A A B L S % B B A X #5 k  SETS
FHRRRKREFMARRRES -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-_=F=A=1+—RLLFE (K E&Tit)

27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Credit risk (continued)
Trade receivables (continued)

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all customers
requiring credit over a certain amount and for all new customers.
These evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of making
payments when due and current ability to pay, and take into
account information specific to the customer as well as pertaining
to the economic environment in which the customer operates.
Trade receivables are due between 0 to 180 days (2022: 0 to 180
days) from the date of billing. Normally, the Group does not obtain
collateral from customers.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using a provision
matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss experience indicates
different loss patterns for different customer segments, the loss
allowance is further distinguished between the Group’s different
customer bases.

The following table provides information about the Group’s
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade debtors and bills
receivable as at 31 March 2023:

27. Y5 e B A P e 4k T L2 AP

et fei (4H)

1 £ o B (&)
MR % (A)

REBEETAERBR - CHEESENE
5 R AT T AT A BILE R RE Al o %S
Bl 58 HR A T A A R TE B M IR Y 2 K
FOBk K HORTRY R KRR T > M R T R
TEE R K KT T R RS S BR B o MR
IRFOR 2 H W F0E180H (F
F:0%E180H) NEIMAIZAT - — MM F > A
£E [ R 3Rk & 5 R AT A o

05 0 s 4R 1 B R R B T WACR AR s 1R 3
o Fh R A 4R T A JEE S0 S 6 M 4R A8 B SR 1)
ARZEFREOEREFEER > FHi
A G2 [ HE — 47 803 A (] % 5 B 48 1K L
1) e 15 A

TREFIAERR -F Z=F=A=+—H
7 4 T T B A R R SR R 2 R B L B % T
LERERSY TPl o

2023
- =Y o

Gross carrying Provision on Net carrying
amount individual basis amount
e i A8 0 3 R ) 2 e 458 A I i ¥
$°000 $°000 $°000
T T T
Current (not past due) R (o 76 59 33,347 - 33,347
Less than 61 days past due %61 H 6,441 - 6,441
61 to 90 days past due A6 H #90H 464 - 464
More than 90 days past due MO0 H DL |k 3,406 (1,750) 1,656
43,658 (1,750) 41,908

2022

- S
Gross carrying Provision on Net carrying

amount individual basis amount

R T ARAE 8] ] 5 YAE 38 4 W T 4 (E

$°000 $°000 $°000

T T N S

Current (not past due) HPHA (R He) 89,120 - 89,120
Less than 61 days past due w61 H 10,785 - 10,785
61 to 90 days past due A6 H £90H 455 (305) 150
More than 90 days past due A HA90H LA | 10,288 (9,775) 518
110,648 (10,080) 100,568
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 3R R B A

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-_=F=A=1+—RILFE (WK ETit)

27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

(b)

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Credit risk (continued)
Trade receivables (continued)

Provision on individual basis of $1,750,000 (2022: $10,080,000)
is recognised as at 31 March 2023 for customers with financial
difficulties. The credit risk for trade receivables of the remaining
customer is limited after considering actual loss experience over the
past, economic conditions during the period over which the historic
data has been collected, current conditions and the Group’s view
of economic conditions over the expected lives of the receivables.

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of trade debtors
and bills receivable during the year is as follows:

27, VO L B A T L2 A P

Tt fei (4)

1 £ o B ()
MR % (H)

WoFEEZEZA=1—H o AR A M
B IR #E % P OREER 4 1,750,00000 (&
~4E 1 10,080,0007T) © 7 F K 0
B s 48 A B~ i 4 SChE R B A D AR R
WL~ B WA L S A (] S R i R T A
WA TOIR DLAR o BN & YR IR 3K
5 FH LB 2 A BRI -

A T AT B B SR R i S 0 2 M AR R
ZEEERESWT

2023 2022

$°000 $000

T Fr

As at 1 April AMEHA—H 10,080 11,216

Amounts written off during the year A A LB <5 B (6,457) (336)

Reversal of impairment losses RN EicE AR (1,873) (567)

Exchange difference [ifE 58, 75 R - (233)

As at 31 March W=H=1—H 1,750 10,080
Liquidity risk (b) ¥ Hh ¥ 4 M &

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible for their
own cash management including the short-term investment of cash
surpluses. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its current and
expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash and readily realisable marketable securities and
adequate committed lines of funding from major financial institutions
to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

AEBMAZMEANSEEBAATARES
2HEEHR UFERSARNEHTE -
A 45 ) 2 BUR 7y 2 W) B AT RO 2 0
B ST E > DUAEOR AR 2 40 B S
K w] GRS E 2 bRE R MR A FE
WeME 2 FEMR R AR S PR - DU A H g
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-_=F=A=1+—RLLFE (K E&Tit)

27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Liquidity risk (continued)

The table below analyses the Group’s non-derivative financial
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining
period at the end of each reporting period to the contractual
maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the
contractual undiscounted cash flows. The cash flow requirements
for derivative financial instrument arising from forward foreign
exchange contracts are separately provided as the contractual
maturities are essential for the understanding of the timing of the

et fei (4H)

i ) ¢ 4 B (4)

27. Y5 e B A P e 4k T L2 AP

TRAAEHRELGHE N Z A EEREA
B2 1 B 5 A0 TR AR 3 e i JF 7 2R & il
£ B AN AR B B AL A AR A e R
Pl gz & MR AR B 2 Bl
B -HASMNEGR TR A S m TR
SWRC MRS > FEE AT A TR
T B A R IR M N R O .

cash flows.
2023 Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
TR &9 R W B BL AR 1
Within More than More than
1 year 1 year but 2 years but Carrying
oron lessthan2 |less than 5 amount at
demand years years Total 31 March
)=V
—AE N — AR WisE% =+—H
B $ R R AE N M AE W gy 2 Y i L
$°000 $’000 $°000 $°000 $°000
T T T Tz T
Lease liabilities 7l 5 & fi 75 - - 75 74
Trade and other  JE A I 3 J Ho A
payables JREAF 3K 36,190 - - 36,190 36,190
36,265 - - 36,265 36,264
2022 Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
—F= B &) b AR G B B 4 I
More than More than
1 year but 2 years but Carrying
Within 1 year less than less than amount at
or on demand 2 years 5 years Total 31 March
W=H
—4ENR — 1R T 4 4% =+—H
EEIEIPIN [ERTTEE RN [EEDEESN &t Z MR TH H
$°000 $°000 $’000 $’000 $’000
T 7T T 7T TT T T T T
Lease liabilities il & & f& 477 81 - 558 535
Trade and other M R 3 & HoAth
payables JRE A Bk 54,015 = = 54,015 54,015
54,492 81 — 54,513 54,550
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 3R R B A

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-_=F=A=1+—RILFE (WK ETit)

27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

(c)

(@)

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Liquidity risk (continued)

All the Group’s forward foreign exchange contracts outstanding at
31 March 2022 and 2023 are gross settlement contracts. Contracts
due to settle within 12 months require undiscounted contractual
cash inflows of $8,914,000 and outflows of $9,255,000 (2022:
inflows of $17,318,000 and outflows of $16,784,000).

Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from lease liabilities.
Lease liabilities at fixed rates expose the Group to the fair value
interest rate risk. The effective interest rates of the Group’s lease
liabilities as at 31 March 2023 is 4.8% (2022: 9.8%).

Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through sales
and purchases which give rise to receivables, payables and
cash balances that are denominated in a currency other than the
functional currency of the operations to which the transactions
relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily Euros,
United States dollars (“USD”), Pounds Sterling, Hong Kong dollars
(*HKD”) and Renminbi.

As the HKD is pegged to the USD, the Group does not expect
any significant movements in the USD/HKD exchange rate.
However, management acknowledges that the Group is exposed to
fluctuations in the exchange rates for other currencies.

The Group uses forward exchange contracts to hedge its currency
risk arising from committed future sales denominated in Euro
and Pounds Sterling. At 31 March 2023, the Group had forward
exchange contracts with a net fair value of $341,000 (liabilities)
(2022: $534,000 (assets)), recognised as derivative financial
instruments (see note 20).

27. VU5 L, W B e T 2 P

(c)

(d)

U0 (47

i ) ¥ 4 BB (4

ALK _FE R F S FEH
= —H RPN m W ANE S 238 5 LA
FHREEZ A - R T ZMARNGHEZ
BRI 2 RS BLA A BL 4 A 8,914,000
o6 K Bl & 9,255,000 (&
A I 4 A17,318,00000 K B & G
16,784,0007C) °

RSN

AEMAKER EERAMEAEME - ©8
i == e N S T T = /AN (= R I 1 e
Mo " E ZFEZA=Z+—HAEEN
HEAEZ HBARLE4.8% (—F 4
9.8%) -

2 e B

A5 W R i B L R B A B RS
it ¥ K T e 65 W LA AN I 6 AN MR E
B A5 BT A R R SO K R AT R R K
B 45 Bk o 5] St TE R B i B B Bk
B RoT > BB BT R AR .

P T S SR T e ARSI K T,
WU HE R A& A HAPE o AR B
g 8 F > 7 A I T S LAt £ B R A B 19
Ja\ B o

A A (8] ) A 300 A BEE A 4 S i IR DA R G &
e B A R G R 2 B B T A 1 R L
o “E=4ME=ZA=Z+—H K£H
2w B ANE A #) 2 A TEE F 4 /5 341,000
JC (B ) (& = 74 : 534,0007T (&
FE)) A AR A AT AR A T (2B MR
20) o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 7% 3R 2 MY =E

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-_=F=A=1+—RLLFE (K E&Tit)

27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Currency risk (continued)
Exposure to currency risk

The following table details the Group’s exposure at the end of the
reporting period to currency risk arising from recognised assets
or liabilities denominated in a currency other than the functional
currency of the entity to which they relate. For presentation
purposes, the amounts of the exposure are shown in Hong Kong
dollars, translated using the spot rate at the year end date.

27. Y5 e B A P e 4k T L2 AP
et fei (4H)

W B ()

(i)

RZZ WM

TRGEIIA LB AR B PTRZ 2 B R
B o a4 B WL BR T IR BT O B 2 T RR

HEgAKUZERIEE

Exposure to foreign currencies (expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

LS 2 B
R 2 o A Bl L B R 3 22 4 R D R
AEAE B RV RE AR R AR RS -

TRE MBI (Dhik it
2023 2022
ot e CRICE

United Hong United Hong

Pounds  States Kong  Pounds States Kong

Sterling  Dollars Euros  Renminbi  Dollars  Sterling Dollars Euros  Renminbi Dollars

Sl *i K& ARM #x (3 E KR  ARE 1

$1000 $1000 $1000 $1000 $1000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

7 7 7z 7z 7z 7 7 7 7 7

Trade and other receivatles TR R A 13191 180 9348 - 197109 2,084 8 -

Cash and cash equivalents ReRAE%ERY 691 85,528 1,631 800 560 79 109,708 1,984 1,287 560

Bank deposits B3 - 47,009 - - - - - - - -

Trade and other payables TRt AL 3¢ (330) (11,94 (B4 (9) - (33 (14885 (B0 (@7 -

Amounts due fromi{to) group companies 1N/ (& ) & 4 A 50R 2 (13) - (1806) - 2 (13 - By =
Net exposure arising from recognised A HE IR & R & M0

assets and liabties REREEE 390 152,643 1721 2,047 560 492 191914 3718 (7,366) 560
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 7% R 2 MY =E

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-_=F=A=1+—RILFE (WK ETit)

27. B IR AT PR W T2 AT
Pifi (47)

(d) B W R (&)
(ii) SEIE A

TRIRAEE B Z BE) i F
(S P B i M) DR A 45 A L BE R 2 5 BT BB
5 B (% 55 [ ZEUE 0 388 Bl R 52 2R LB ) T
7 AR 2 BV IR S ) o 7 R s L Al L B B
A o WULT E o A G B R E W T B e T
2 W BB ME RO g [ 56 T S At B T 2 BE R
AT AT 5 Bl 32 B EOR Y B o

27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(d) Currency risk (continued)
(ii) Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the instantaneous change in the
Group’s (loss)/profit after tax (and retained profits) that would arise if
foreign exchange rates to which the Group has significant exposure
at the end of the reporting period had changed at that date,
assuming all other risk variables remained constant. In this respect,
it is assumed that the pegged rate between the HKD and the USD
would be materially unaffected by any changes in movement in
value of the USD against other currencies.

2023 2022
ZR-= —ET
(Decrease)/

increase Increase/

Increase/ in loss after tax Increase/ (decrease)

(decrease) and (increase)/ (decrease)  in profit after tax

in foreign decrease in in foreign and in

exchange rates  retained profits exchange rates retained profits

B BE A% M 41 W B 1% s 4R

(W), B /(R )

WX L7t/ AR B B A 2 7/ Je AR B Vi )

(F¥) (), RS (FEK) /G )

% $°000 % $000

AW T H I T

Pounds Sterling 73 10% (33) 10% 41
(10)% 38 (10)% (41)

Euros i & 10% (144) 10% 310
(10)% 144 (10)% (310)
Renminbi NG 8% (137) 8% (492)
(8)% 137 (8)% 492

Hong Kong Dollars  #Jt 8% (34) 8% 34
(8)% 34 (8)% (34)

Results of the analysis as presented in the above table represent
an aggregation of the instantaneous effects on each of the Group
entities’ profit/(loss) after tax and equity measured in the respective
functional currencies, translated into HKD at the exchange rate

ruling at the end of the reporting period for presentation purposes.

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED £{LR &4 B4
ANNUAL REPORT 2023 £ 1
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-_=F=A=1+—RLLFE (K E&Tit)

27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

(e)

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Currency risk (continued)
Sensitivity analysis (continued)

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in foreign exchange
rates had been applied to re-measure those financial instruments
held by the Group which expose the Group to currency risk at the
end of the reporting period, including inter-company payables and
receivables within the Group which are denominated in a currency
other than the functional currencies of the lender or the borrower.
The analysis excludes differences that would result from the
translation of the financial statements of foreign operations into the
Group’s presentation currency. The analysis is performed on the
same basis for 2022.

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price changes arising from certain
equity investments held for long-term strategic purposes measured
at FVOCI (see note 15).

The Group’s listed equity investments have been chosen based
on their longer-term growth potential and are monitored regularly
for performance against expectations. They are listed on overseas
stock exchanges and are valued at the quoted market prices at the
end of each reporting period.

One of the Group’s unlisted equity investments is measured
at market comparison approach with reference to the market
capitalisation of comparable listed companies. It is assessed at
least bi-annually against performance of similar listed entities, based
on the limited information available to the Group, together with an
assessment of its relevance to the Group’s long-term strategic
plans.

27.

S B ML gt 4 B B 4k L H 2 A F
T fH (A7)

W B ()

(ii) BIRJE S ()

(e)

TR 2 A ) Ml 3 4% 58 Bl B Y S A A
B B 45 5 B A S T 3 A1 T L B O < Rl
TH - G5 A 5 1 ) AR 2 7 A o 0H
JEWSCRK IE > % S A TE DA O 0B U 9 I e
B oh e B W RHE - %0 M A B d i Sk
SE B I B R B A B T B i B N
HHWER - ZNIU ZF 2 H
] B HE AT o

B £ M, B

A £ R 32 35 T 95 3 H A 2 T i A %
BAE A R RE B 2 35 1 = 00K 0 1 F A
e HE W 2 5 2 M A B R B (2 B B R
15) ©

AR 2 b T BOHE RS R B T AR R KR
B R T w8 E o Sl E ) B AR LR B
BRI o BN EINE SR 5 B b
1 SRR A5 R R T S W A .

ARG — {0 b R R B 2 TG 4%
W L EH R > 32 5 ] R b A A
Wi o R BLAT A 2= D — ST R
TR ML L KRB AL A
oAt R % T A 3 AR 4R G R 0 R s
ERiDRE S
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 3R R B A

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-_=F=A=1+—RILFE (WK ETit)

27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Equity price risk (continued)

At 31 March 2023, it is estimated that an increase/decrease of
10% (2022: 10%) in the relevant stock market index (for listed
investments), the market capitalisation of comparable listed
companies (for the unlisted equity security measured at market
comparison approach), with all other variables held constant, would

27. B IR AT PR W T2 AT
Pifi (47)

B A5 e Bt ()

P EFECEEEH =+ —H s R H A
WA A AR EWS (kLW
B o 5 B ) FE O W 10% (2%
T 10%) o W] H I BT A R A THA(E
FA RS 2 T 35 bR ST IR b T R R R

have increased/decreased the Group’s other components of I5) > A EHE RN, W AR 4 T AE A R AR
consolidated equity as follows: HoAl AR SR R
2023 2022
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) (decrease)
in other in other
components components
of equity of equity
i 2 LAl HE 45 L Ah
LN A s S 4y
B,/ (8A) B/ ()
% $°000 % $'000
Al T A T
Change in relevant 1 B 7 544 b
equity price risk B2
variable:
Increase Hm 10% 1,456 10% 1,250
Decrease W (10)% (1,456) (10)% (1,250)

The sensitivity analysis indicates the instantaneous change in other
components of consolidated equity that would arise assuming
that the changes in the stock market index or other relevant risk
variables had occurred at the end of the reporting period and had
been applied to re-measure those financial instruments held by the
Group which expose the Group to equity price risk at the end of the
reporting period. It is assumed that the fair values of the Group’s
equity investments would change in accordance with the historical
correlation with the relevant stock market index or other relevant risk
variables, and that all other variables remain constant.

TR 7y B R > RS T A B S )
FoAtAR B L B S B B O RAHHE
B A EHERE R EAE B RRA 2
ST H MiZ% THASAREBNGHEA
R 3 W A8 Ja e > S A 4R B 2 AR A HE R Y
,HJTMHBPM}#{%@LEEZEHH#% LRI

B A B BORE R O 0 2 O PR (E R AR BE
,\HiFﬁi‘a%Uiﬁm*H%%JﬁFﬁZ@@JZﬁﬂi
AR L BRI AR T A ) > L A S AR R R A
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 R 5% B =

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BT =F=H=F-HIEEE It z:1)
27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 27. MM B P ke T H2Z A
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS B4 (A
....... (continued) L,
(f) Fair value measurement ) A T-EE R
(i) Financial instruments measured at fair value (i) RV 7 0y £ m TR
Fair value hierarchy 2 TAF (E 8 %

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s financial
instruments measured at the end of the reporting period on a
recurring basis, categorised into the three-level fair value hierarchy
as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement.

R BN A G AL R AR H RS
fEEFH A S M AR G BB
HYERI) H135% [ AT (5 & | B A2 i
O V-5 FE SR B = R AR -

Fair value at Fair value measurements as at Fair value at Fair value measurements as at
31 March 2023 31 March 2023 categorised into 31 March 2022 31 March 2022 categorised into
3 e S
ZRE-H REBTEEZNET-H ZAE+-A RZEZZEZH=4-H
AT WF U AR D P A ZATEE ATFEREH R FAUTAA
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
H-mW BoHN BEEN =5 FZHH B=RA
$000 $°000 §000 $°000 $000 $000 $000 $000
i i i i T T Tr T
Recurring fair value measurements 4 1A\ F (74
Assets/(liabilties): ¥/ (86 :
- Non-trading listed securiies - 75 L& % 1,992 1,992 = = 2,200 2,200 - -
- Unlisted equity securities - F LTRSS 17,832 - = 17,832 18,009 - - 18,009
- Derivative financial instruments - i 2B TR (341) - (341) - 534 - 534 -

During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, there were no
transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 or transfers into or out of
Level 3. The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers between levels
of fair value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period in which
they occur.

Valuation technique and inputs used in Level 2 fair value
measurements

The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts in Level 2 is
marked to market by discounting the contractual forward price and
deducting the forward rate at the end of the reporting period. The
discount rate used is derived from the prevailing market interest rate
at the end of the reporting period.

WE E SERCF St
LR AE BE ) 3 7 T R 5 — S
BUA 4 2 MRS - S 5 = A
AW o A 2 B - A
A9 8 2 MR R 65 T AR <

RT3 = ) 221 (6 1 it 22 A9 10 16 77 72
VYR €3

i B AR AT E A (58 80 Ja BB
G K W E A - R &5 H R BLAT I B
WIER - BhER T2 RN EE B BT
) M A E e
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 7% R 2 MY =E

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-_=F=A=1+—RILFE (WK ETit)

27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 27"
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

....... (continued)

() Fair value measurement (continued) (f)

(i) Financial instruments measured at fair value (continued) i)

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

AR ()

% 4T A i 2 2 TR ()
=R L E AR B

Valuation Significant
techniques unobservable inputs Range
i i 75 X KA W B Bk i 1
Unlisted equity securities ~ FF I i1 B HE 75 % Adjusted net Discount for lack of 30%

assets value

G R B E T

Market comparison
approach

3% Hed ik

The fair value of unlisted equity investments is determined using:
(i) the net assets value adjusted for lack of marketability discount
and minority discount; (i) the price/earmings and enterprise value/
EBITDA ratios of comparable listed companies adjusted for lack of
marketability discount. The fair value is negatively correlated to the
discount for lack of marketability and minority discount.

It is estimated that an increase/decrease of 5% in each of the
unobservable inputs, with all other variables held constant, would
have decreased/increased the Group’s other comprehensive
income as follows:

marketability
Bl Z T 3 i I R

Minority discount

b BHE 35 9 41 2

Discount for lack
of marketability

(2022: 30%)
30%
(2022: 30%)

30%
(2022: 30%)

B2 5 TE M 4 R

IE LTI RE R R A T L3R B =
T 35 Ik H M T 0 oK KD BORE 25 B 0 oK A
EEEE  ()RA AT R AT A B E A
W 25 A A 3648 (B EBITDALL 237 7 # ik =
MG EEYT IR E o AT EAEEH R
T35 I 4 T P 0 2R OR D BORE 25 B 0 R
] A BB B -

T DL T & TR n] 8188 B B e b

5% > HoAh SR MO A B > i B AR At
EE DT

2023 2022
SR =4 TR TR
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in  Effect on other (decrease) in Effect on other
Unobservable = comprehensive unobservable Comprehensive
inputs Income inputs income
A v L5 R oAb 2 i A AT B R FoAt 4 1
¥m,/ (WA) W gs 5 B #m,/ (k) i 4 7 B
% $°000 % $°000
AR T E¥giA T
Discount for lack of i Z 77 %5 i 4 ¥

marketability Pran =g 5 (1,274) 5 (1,286)
(5) 1,274 (5) 1,286
Minority discount D BORE 45 4T 41 2 5 (417) 5 (445)
(5) M7 (5) 445

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED £{LR &4 B4
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 7% 3R 2 MY =E

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-_=F=A=1+—RLLFE (K E&Tit)

27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Fair value measurement (continued)
(i) Financial instruments measured at fair value (continued)
Information about Level 3 fair value measurements (continued)

The movements during the year in the balance of these Level 3 fair
value measurements are as follows:

=
R

(F) 2P FUfE & (4)
(i) AT it %0 2 i 1T (4
BERA L E AR B ()

B SRR 23 1R (B R R A R R AR A 5 8 dn
T

2023 2022
$°000 $°000
T FL
Unlisted equity securities: I T IRRERS 5 -

At 1 April AMEHA—H 18,009 17,365

Net unrealised (losses)/gains recognised in RN R B (B8 I %5 15 B8 R
other comprehensive income during the year — HAth 2 1 Ui 25 + e 52 (177) 644
At 31 March W=HA=1+—H 17,832 18,009

Any gain or loss arising from the remeasurement of the Group’s
unlisted equity securities held for strategic purposes are recognised
in the investment revaluation reserve (non-recycling) in other
comprehensive income. Upon disposal of the equity securities, the
amount accumulated in other comprehensive income is transferred
directly to retained earnings.

(i) Fair value of financial instruments carried at other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments carried

at cost or amortised cost are not materially different from their fair

values as at 31 March 2023 and 2022.

. COMMITMENTS

Capital commitments outstanding at 31 March 2023 not provided
for in the consolidated financial statements are as follows:

A S5 [ 45 R SRS AR 10 JF b T I M R 2
HEHT AR A AT AT i A e 4R At
TE WA i 5 A AR (S AT ) TR R o
T o 1 M O AR - S L b A T AR 2 B
w4 R A e R A A

(i) BH A VMRS & TR AT
FEEAR_F =R _F__HF=H
= — B DU SRS 5 A ) R R g
TR Z B B H AP E I A R -

R EC=ZF=ZH=1—H REES
PARS R AE B < EARIEI T ¢

2023 2022
TR A B S
$°000 $°000
T FC
Contracted for ORI 4 - 700
2023 2022
$°000 $°000
T Fr
The Group’s share of the capital commitments 7k £ [ JE (i & 55 15> 36 1) B AR AR -
of joint ventures:
Contracted for SAHE] 132 7,479
YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED L& 4 R A #
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 7% R 2 MY =E

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-_=F=A=1+—RILFE (WK ETit)

29. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 29 BN LZHEKRKRY
....... TRANSACTIONS | I | e
In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere I 7 A B S ik 3¢ At M T B R 2 38 B I
in these financial statements, the Group entered into the following FEERAN s AREEFT L N E KB E AL
material related party transactions: G
(a) Transactions with YGM Trading Limited and its subsidiaries (a) MYGME S AMRAFA KXW EAA
(“YGMT Group”) (TYGMTH M 1) 2% 5
2023 2022
TR A e S
$°000 $°000
i Fr
Sales of garment products $H 4 BUAK 7E 5 435 4,491
Rental income received and receivable S/ E L A& 4,800 4,800
Management fee received and receivable O i e i % 3 2 780 780
Building management fee received and e B R i A A S
receivable 144 144
As certain directors and their associates are collectively the HTHEHERWEZBE N LRI AYGMTE
controlling shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules) of YGMT B KA R B PRI (F A BT ELAD
Group and the Group, the related party transactions in respect Mg L BRI 2E14A% » DL L mYGMTAE E
of sales of garment products to YGMT Group and rental income PR A EE & - Bl X Y GMT4E B AR
received and receivable from YGMT Group above constitute the EREPA 3 PN L 370 Fi S I
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing YGMTEE [ 2 HAh 38 5 7 58 e R 2 15 R
Rules. Other transactions with YGMT Group are exempt from FH R E4AZE 2 E T UM - BT
the disclosure requirements in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. FRI S AATE BT B e 1 4 o < TH R T R
The disclosures required by Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules are ot T g | — e
provided in the section “Connected transactions” in the Directors’
Report.
(b) Transactions with other related parties (b) HALBWHEALZRG
2023 2022
R = . =S
$°000 $'000
S T
Wuxi YGM Textile Co., Ltd. 906 533 B YIRS 4 & AT B 4 W)
Purchases of raw materials W B LA R - 1,097
Wuxi YGM Textile Co., Ltd. is a wholly owned subsidiary of Wuxi WHRIIEESGBRARAAAEAERZ S
No. 1 Cotton Investment Co., Ltd., a joint venture of the Group. The BhEEY M EARAFAZEEHEAE
purchases of raw materials from a joint venture are not connected WHE A A - — B EBEFEM R A
transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. & B R RIS 4AR TG 2 BE AR G o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-_=F=A=1+—RLLFE (K E&Tit)

29. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY

29. BB AN L2 WA (4)

(c) Balances due from/(to) related companies and joint ventures: (c) MEWC, (HEAT) WA RABAERNE :
2023 2022
e S —Ez

Note $°000 $°000

M it T T 7T

Amount due from YGMT Group JEE W YGMT 45 4 5 T8 161 125

Amount due to YGMT Group JEATYGMT 4 4 5k T8 - 8)
Amount due to WTCO07 Holdings  MEfFWTCO07 Holdings Pte Ltd.

Pte Ltd. I () (67) (178)
Amount due to Allied Textiles JREAST i e L 577 4 A R ) BT

Co., Ltd. (ii) (13) (13)

Notes: ks

i) WTCO7 Holdings Pte Ltd. is related to the Group as it is held by a director
of the Group.

(i)  Allied Textiles Co., Ltd. is a wholly owned subsidiary of Wuxi No.1 Cotton
Investment Co., Ltd., a joint venture of the Group.

(d) Transactions with key management personnel (d)

All members of key management personnel are the directors of the
Company, and their emoluments are disclosed in note 6.

30. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND 30.

ESTIMATES

The Group believes the following critical accounting policies
involve the most significant judgements and estimates used in the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements.

(a) Impairment of other properties, plant and equipment (a)

The Group reviews the carrying amounts of the other properties,
plant and equipment at the end of each reporting period to
determine whether there is objective evidence of impairment. When
indication of impairment is identified, management assesses the
differences between the carrying amounts and recoverable amounts
and makes provision for impairment loss. Any change in the
assumptions adopted in calculating the recoverable amount would
increase or decrease the provision for impairment loss and affect the
Group’s profit or loss in future years.

(b) Impairment of interests in joint ventures (b)

The management of joint ventures reviews the carrying amounts
of the other properties, plant and equipment of joint ventures at
the end of each reporting period to determine whether there is
objective evidence of impairment. When indication of impairment is
identified, management of joint ventures assesses the differences
between the carrying amounts and recoverable amounts and makes
provision for impairment loss. The Group reviews the impairment
assessment. Any change in the assumptions adopted in calculating
the recoverable amount would increase or decrease the provision
for impairment loss and affect the Group’s share of profit or loss of
joint ventures and interest in joint ventures in future years.

()  WTCO07 Holdings Pte Ltd. H 7 # & — fi7 # &
HEA o R > WTCO7 Holdings Pte Ltd. & 74
M BEAL

(i) B B A7 A B W) A AR T A 2R I
B MBEARAFRZ R EHEANE AR -

EHEMARMZES

A EESEA BN EAAT L ER  #
I O R M RE6 D -

£t A B A it

A G5 AR A5 7 A AR B MBS RIS DLT
Jir 2 B T B g wH BOR W % h B Y K B
Akt o

FeAb Wy 3 ~ W5 B i il AR

AR A B — A5G H B B Al ) 2
i b5 B S 2 R THE > LR E RS A KB
i 45 RS B B o R R R
E BRF > TR S i R T (B B AT i ] R
] 10 22 B > 0 w42 ol (e s 1R BB o wH O AT
W T < R BT PR 2 ARG AN A AR T S ) - &
B B D W e R A - G AR SR
RAAEL Z H 2

T A R R Y

BB W A RS R E R A 0
SE AW 3 ~ RS Bt o BR T (E - DA
E TR A7 AE B B (E RS 4R o B (R BF BBt
Tl A2 IR > 5 7 A 36 LR Al R U T (L
G QI O I A e 0 R
Mo 7 45 B B (B R A o w5 AT Il
R 5RO B M8 B B AR AR T AR AL > 39 & g
B 36k 2 (L J9E A o R A AR B AE R AR 4F
£ B A & 8 A S v A Bk 1R I AE B A 3
Y HE A
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 3R R B A

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE

—E_=F=-A=+—B8IFE (ETFH)

30. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND

Valuation of investment properties

The valuation of investment properties requires various assumptions
and factors relevant to the valuation. The Group engages
independent professional qualified valuers to conduct an annual
revaluation of the Group’s investment properties based on
assumptions agreed between the Group and the valuers prior to
adoption. The details of valuation of investment properties are
disclosed in note 11(b).

. IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE CONTROLLING

At 31 March 2023, the directors consider the immediate and
ultimate controlling party of the Group to be Chan Family Investment
Corporation Ltd, which is incorporated in the Cayman Islands.

30. €15l A Wi B Al it (4F)

(c)

3L B

BEE W 36 A6 (E R T ELAG (B A BRI 45 JH R
B S R R o AR SR TS T L HE R AR
Al R - R PR A I AR % A S T BEL A R A 965
TE )% R B BRSO AT AR AT
fili o 35 Wy 36 Ak R0 5 R B 511 (b) 48 8%

CHER A ERA L

MoB - =ZFE=ZA=Z+—H EFFERAEE
SE 2 B KR AR N £ 5 Chan Family
Investment Corporation Ltd (it B 2 B &
EER L YA
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-_=F=A=1+—RLLFE (K E&Tit)

32. COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF 32. A ) e i 2 B8R UL %

....... FINANCIAL POSITION "SUIRIIINEEEN, s o e
2023 2022
R = e S
Note $°000 $°000
Kt it i Fr
Non-current assets I B
Investment properties BEY % 268,464 285,457
Other property, plant and equipment — HABY 2 ~ M= K &M 96,280 73,819
364,744 359,276
Intangible assets Y G 2,605 2,700
Investments in subsidiaries Wit JG 2 7 4% 78,221 78,121
Interests in joint ventures oA N AR 230,818 230,818
Other financial assets HAth 4 Tl & 19,824 20,209
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 696,212 =~ 691,124
Current assets Ui B
Inventories ecy 2,359 15,370
Trade and other receivables JRE Mg R 3 B A B A 2k 15,486 77,551
Amounts due from subsidiaries JARE iz B e 2 ) K IE 3,383 18,472
Amounts due from related companies & i B % 23 & K OIE 161 125
Bank deposits AT 128,099 =
Cash and cash equivalents 4 KB &% EY 107,984 155,191
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 257,472 266,709
Current liabilities it B £ 4%
Trade and other payables A R R B L At I A 3K 8,837 19,565
Amounts due to subsidiaries JREASH B} Jig 2 ] R 40,094 20,597
Amounts due to a related company JRE AT — B 28N R 3K A 67 178
Amounts due to a joint venture AT — & & A K 13 13
Contract liabilities R AME 1,639 2,423
Lease liabilities & A& - 70
Current tax payable JE A A HA ol TE 95 95
. 50,745 42,941
Netcurrentassets ~  @iB®@ESHE 0000000000 206,727 223,768
Total assets less current liabilities  YEM#HWMEH AL 902,939 914,892
Non-current liabilities e B £ %
Provision for long service payments 1= 1R T <2 48 A 1,236 1,377
Deferred tax liabilities % 2B ol T A A 12,642 9,985
Lease liabilities iENE =R - 7
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 13,878 11,369
NET ASSETS ¥ 889,061 903,523
CAPITAL AND RESERVES WA R gtk 26(a)
Share capital i@ 208,418 208,418
Reserves fiti i 680,643 695,105
TOTAL EQUITY HE £ 58 A 889,061 903,523

FEHEREON F =AU H B

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 29

June 2023. LARAESE A ESIARE o
Chan Wing Fui, Peter Chan Suk Man Pl K 2= ) Bl RS
Chairman Managing Director FE HH AR
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 7% R 2 MY =E

For the year ended 3| March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-_=F=A=1+—RILFE (WK ETit)

33. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, 3B.BRE_F _Z4H=EA=Z1T—-HIE
NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS A B OB ﬁ? AEL 0 A 2 3 g 4
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE 0 Y T R R R TR R I B

....... YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 e
Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA HEAMBHEHEEZH > FBgsHA
has issued a number of new or amended standards, which are not & O 2 T R s BB R MR R > B AR
yet effective for the year ended 31 March 2023 and which have not FIREE _F - =ZF=ZA=1T—HILFE
been adopted in these financial statements. These developments JEE A AR AR o T AR B T SR AE R A R AN AE
include the following which may be relevant to the Group. oo Hol IR AL EERINT -

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on B S %t 00 IR
or after CRIR LY
HKFRS 17, Insurance contracts s B AR AT > W A4 1 January 2023 _“FE_=F—H—H
Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of Bk g ENE 12 BT 1 January 2023 ~ “EF " =4—H—H
liabilities as current or non-current BEA AT B
Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice s B T S S 0% B it B R A 1 January 2023 _“FE_=F—H—H
Statement 2, Disclosure of accounting policies R FH R 28 2 B3]
B HFEHF
Amendments to HKAS 8, Definition of accounting 7 s & 511 Al 5898 2 53T » 1 January 2023  —“ZFZ=F—J—H
estimates gl At e
Amendments to HKAS 12, Deferred tax related Bk g aHERE129 2 BT 1 January 2023 ~ “EF " =4—H—H
to assets and liabilities arising from a single L — BN B R B G
transaction 1P f I
The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the 4L B IEAE EME V)5 I S0 1 % 4 R AR g
impact of these developments is expected to be in the period of R TEM R R - BIRAS A A @ P
initial application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of them 1% B EEA BRI E K
is unlikely to have a significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements.

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED RATHRKA BA 5]
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GROUP PROPERTIES

E JEIRYES

Details of the major properties of the Group are as follows: AR EEYEERFEFIM T

Location % Existing use & Term of lease  ALE4EM
Major properties held for investment

B ERHEZ L EY X

A portion of the Building, T Commercial [HES Medium-term A £
22 - 24 Tai Yau Street JUHE ¥ i

San Po Kong, Kowloon K& H22 - 24%5

Hong Kong A1

Unit 1505 - 1508 on level 15 LIk N T Commercial [EES Medium-term A 4
Fudan Science Park Tower (Block 11) g T AR

No. 11 Guotai Road B 7% 1198

Yangpu District, Shanghai City B ER K

The People’s Republic of China

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED RATHR KA BA )

(111%) ¥ 51505 - 1508
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FIVE-YEAR SUMMARY
FFEHE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(LB TTE)

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
—“E-NE R CRE R —FE-F RO
$'000 $'000 $°000 $°000 $7000
T T T T Tr
Results X4
Revenue A 717,614 656,212 420,475 390,446 365,761
Profit/(loss) from operations waEA L U 16,259 3,366 (22,457)  (13,064) 18,738
Finance costs Tl Bl A (3,506) (4,248) (3,594) (3,108) (1,600)
Share of profits/(losses) of joint ventures  FEAE & & i Fl/ (E518) 12,007 (24,295) 6,433 43,788 (39,198)
Impairment losses on other property, HAbWE -~ Bem Rkt
plant and equipment B {E s (5,170) (14,627 (11,063) = -
Net valuation gains/(losses) on investment % & ¥ £ 4 Gk 45/ (5 18)
properties FH 3,361 (10,616) 1,727 4,048 1,562
Profit/(loss) before taxation BT A ) 22,951 (50,420) (28,954) 31,664 (20,498)
Income tax (expenses)/credit frfg Bl (i) /s (2,650) (366) 303 (1,390) (2,751)
Profit/(loss) for the year AR R A, O ) 20,301 (50,786) (28,651) 30,274 (23,249)
Attributable to: HEE 358 S s
Equity shareholders of the Company ANV R A A 22,062 (51,009) (27,822) 30,665 (23,249)
Non-controlling interests I 1 IR g s A (1,761) 223 (829) (391) -
Profit/(loss) for the year AR R A, O ) 20,301 (50,786)  (28,651) 30,274 (23,249)
Assets and liabilities % Rk
Investment properties, other property, BEWE - L -
plant and equipment and leasehold land it 5 M s i Jo fiL B £ 3 208,292 289,630 281,735 285,053 281,885
Intangible assets T & 2,985 2,890 2,795 2,700 2,605
Interests in joint ventures ARt EER 546,154 488,657 527,699 590,493 515,923
Other financial assets ot 4 ol 20,011 19,878 19,541 20,209 19,824
Prepayments for the other property, HibWk -~ Bm ikt
plant and equipment AT HE - - 3,993 = =
Net current assets Ui ) A 387,317 353,921 316,083 305,396 317,303
Total assets less current liabilities B AE R ) A 1,254,759 1,154,976 1,151,846 1,203,851 1,137,540
Non-current liabilities JE i 0 (40,014) (54,238) (38,463) (33,857) (29,355)
Net assets 7 i 1,214,745 1,100,738 1,113,383 1,169,994 1,108,185
Share capital A 208,418 208,418 208,418 208,418 208,418
Reserves ittt 1,008,228 893,148 906,623 961,576 899,767
Total equity attributable to equity B F58 Bt 1 A A ) IR HE
shareholders of the Company RPN ECE R 1,216,646 1,101,566 1,115,041 1,169,994 1,108,185
Non-controlling interests T IR L 5 (1,901) (828) (1,658) = -
Total equity BE 23 A4 1,214,745 1,100,738 1,113,383 1,169,994 1,108,185
Per share basis )R & A
Basic and diluted earnings/(loss) Y& YN
per share BA/ (1) HK$0.11  (HK$0.25)  (HK$0.13)  HK$0.15  (HK$0.11)
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